
National Park Authority  - 26 May 2020 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held via Lifesize ON 
TUESDAY, 26TH MAY, 2020 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 26 May 2020 2

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 12)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:  National Park Authority - 11 February 2020
 

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 VIRTUAL MEETINGS AND URGENT DECISIONS (Pages 13 - 26)

8 INTERIM MEMBER APPOINTMENTS (Pages 27 - 36)

9 CORPORATE PLAN 2020/21 (Pages 37 - 70)

10 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019-20 (Pages 71 - 100)

11 RECRUITMENT POLICY (Pages 101 - 136)

12 TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE POLICY (Pages 137 - 142)

13 BBNPA POSITION STATEMENT ON PEATLAND RIVER AND 
WETLAND RESTORATION (Pages 143 - 154)



National Park Authority  - 26 May 2020 3

14 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.

15 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

To note any gifts or hospitality received since the last meeting.

16 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 11 February 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 11TH FEBRUARY, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr K Laurie-Parry and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb and Cllr M Feakins

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Edward Evans (Deputy Chair), Mr Ian Rowat, Ms Deborah Perkin, Mr Julian Stedman, Mr 
Christopher Coppock and Mrs Sue Holden

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesSean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 11 February 2020

Apologies
Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr Madge, Cllr J Hill and J Marsden

7/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed members, officers and the public to the meeting.  Apologies and 
absences were noted.

8/20 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations were made.

9/20 Minutes 

RESOLVED:
 
a)  To approve the minutes of the NPA held on 10 December 

2019 and authorise  the Chair to sign them as a true 
record;

 
b)  To approve the minutes of the NPA held on 24 January 

2020 and authorise the Chair to sign them as a true 
record;

 
c)To receive the minutes of  the Audit and Scrutiny 

 Committee held on 25 October  2019

10/20 Public Speaking 

No requests had been made to speak.

11/20 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair reported on meetings and events attended since the last meeting, which 
included the recruitment of new members for the Authority.  He advised that he and the 
Chief Executive would be meeting the new MP for Brecon and Radnor next week and 
confirmed that this was the start of a rolling programme to meet other MPs.
 
He congratulated IT and Fleet Officer Kevin Booker on his recent fleet award and then 
introduced Sarah Titcombe from the Welsh Local Government Association who gave 
positive feedback on the Authority’s submission, the quality of its support for members 
and the willingness of the Authority to review its governance to meet new challenges.  
Members thanked the Democratic Services team and all the officers who contributed to 
the Member Development Programme.

12/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 11 February 2020

The Chief Executive had circulated his announcements and advised of an invitation which 
had just been received to attend a woodland summit of a wide range of organisations with 
the aim of creating and expanding woodland in Wales.
 
In response to a question he reported on the key learning points from his attendance at 
the recent Academi Wales Winter School.  He would circulate a summary of these to 
members.
 

13/20 Approval of Estimates 2020-2021 and issue of Levy on Constituent Authorities 

The Finance Manager presented the budget for 2020/21 with the caveat that while this 
had taken account of some elements of the change programme the Authority would need 
to review and update the budget once the programme had been finalised. The Chief 
Executive advised of potential additional funding through the Sustainable Landscapes and 
Sustainable Places Programme which would require further adjustments to the budget.  
The three Welsh Park Chief Executives would also be raising the issue of whole term 
budget cycles with the Minister, which would enable a more strategic approach long term.
 
In response to questions the Finance Manager clarified the process of issuing the levy 
letters to constituent authorities and confirmed that this would not change from last year 
as it was a standstill budget, nor was it affected by the imminent reduction in the number 
of members on the Authority as it was calculated on the percentage of land within the 
Park rather than representation.  The Chair confirmed that the Minister had consulted 
with all constituent authorities on the reduction.
 
A member requested the opportunity to discuss the change programme in relation to the 
budget before final proposals came before the Authority on 31 March.  The Chief 
Executive confirmed that he would schedule additional briefings.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)    To approve the draft Estimate for 2020/21;
 
b)  To approve the draft Estimate for 2020/21, and 

authorise the Chief Executive to issue Levy Notices to 
constituent Authorities for the year in accordance with 
the calculation of the Levy Requirement attached to 
the report.

 

14/20 Corporate Plan 2020-21 Overview 

The Systems and Performance Manager presented the structure, key themes and 
organising principles of the change programme which would form the Corporate Plan for 
2020/21.  The Senior Leadership would be discussing this and in light of members’ 
comments, the draft would be shared with members for their input before the Authority 
meeting on 31 March.
 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 11 February 2020

A member suggested adding ‘cultures and behaviours’ into the box labelled change 
programme and also that the developing statutory documents box should be expanded to 
include  all documents.  The officer would make these changes and in response to a 
question gave examples of continuity programmes.  The Chair agreed that it was 
important to complete projects to maintain the good will of partners.
 
A member suggested that a key to the acronyms was essential for the public.
 

RESOLVED:  To endorse the approach outlined for the 
Corporate Plan 2020-21 subject to the amendments 
suggested by members.

15/20 Review of Member Exit Interview Policy 

Members considered changes to the member exit interview policy and pro-forma and the 
Democratic Services Manager advised that all members finishing their terms of office are 
asked to have an exit interview in order to provide feedback on the role.  The Chair of 
the Governance and Member Development Working Group emphasised that this was not 
just a process but should be a positive experience for both the member and the 
Authority.
 
In relation to section 4 on the form a member commented that some members might feel 
they received too much information.
 
A suggestion was made that while the Chair and CEO should be involved in this process 
there was also room for input from the Welsh Government or the appointing authority, 
and it was surprising that these bodies appeared to take so little interest.  The Chair 
advised that Powys was currently considering the issue of feedback and he would raise it 
with the Minister at the forthcoming meeting.  A member said that she would welcome 
the opportunity to feed back to the Welsh Government.
 
In response to a question about disseminating the information the officer advised that this 
could be done subject to the agreement of the member about the content.  A tick box 
could be added to this effect.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) To approve changes to the Member Exit Interview 

Policy;
 
b) To approve changes to the Member Exit Interview Pro-

forma.

16/20 Procedure for Election of Chairs and Deputy Chairs 

Members considered recommendations from the Governance and Member Development 
Working Group to change the nomination procedures for elections at the Annual 
General Meeting, which would encourage the best candidates to come forward and 
streamline procedures.
 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 11 February 2020

Members welcomed these changes in principle but raised a few practicalities in relation to 
the order of business which might have a bearing on which posts members nominated 
themselves for.  Officers advised that members would be best served by applying for 
more than one post if they were interested and then withdrawing their nominations as 
appropriate. Members could be asked to specify their order of preference on the 
nomination form if they wished to stand for multiple roles.  It was confirmed that 
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee and Audit and Scrutiny Committee would 
continue to meet within the AGM to elect their Chair and Deputy Chair but this would 
be reviewed again after this year’s meeting in light of a suggestion that the full Authority 
could vote for these roles.
 
There was some debate about the number of words on the case for appointment and it 
was felt that ‘up to 600 words’ was the preferred option.
 
A suggestion was agreed to clarify standing order 8.7 so that no ballot would be necessary 
if only one nomination was received.
 
The Systems and Performance Manager advised that there were options for electronic 
voting but he was awaiting more details on cost.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) To agree procedures for electing Chairs and Deputy 

Chairs of the Authority and its committees as set out in 
paragraph 1.2 of the report;

 
b) To agree the amendment to the Authority’s Standing 

Orders in order to implement this as shown in 
Enclosure 1 to the report.

17/20 Consultation Draft Brecon Town Plan 

The Chair of Brecon 2020 joined officers in presenting the consultation draft of the 
Brecon Town Plan.  He outlined the process by which they had created a valuable 
database of residents’ views which would serve as evidence for future funding bids.  He 
thanked the National Park officers for their support and guidance.
 
Members gave a very positive response to the process and the consultation draft.  In 
response to question officers advised on the process for selecting settlements for town 
plans and stressed that while officers could support, the onus was very much on the 
community to lead the work.  Officers were also mindful of capacity when discussing 
future town plans.  The Chair had been involved in the Hay Town Plan which was still 
used as a key reference document for the town; he would circulate this to members.
 
A member welcomed the example that the Authority was setting in Wales with place 
plans but urged caution in that as Supplementary Planning Guidance would become a 
material considerations the Authority must retain some flexibility in future for the town, 
and to take account of changes, for example in types of retail.
 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 11 February 2020

The Chair of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee commented that this fitted 
with the current LDP but asked if there were any pre-determining factors in termsof the 
emerging LDP, such as retail in the town centre.  He was concerned that the Authority 
wasn’t constraining itself.  He also referred to the excellent collaborative working and the 
amount of actions needed; leadership was needed in order to drive this through, and he 
wondered how much the Authority could commit to helping with this.  Officers 
confirmed that the town plan had to be written in line with the current LDP which would 
require all Supplementary Planning Guidance to be reviewed.  The database would 
provide valuable evidence for the emerging LDP.  The implementation plan could be 
supported by the Authority but capacity would need to be created to do this.
 
A member highlighted the need for restoration work on a number of buildings in the 
town and the need for seed funding.  There was also a role for the LDP to contain strong 
policies to encourage higher occupancy of buildings in the town centre.  The Chief 
Executive referred to the Welsh Government funding just announced for transforming 
town centres, including redundant buildings.  He hoped there would be potential to work 
across organisations and funding streams on this.
 
A member asked whether vehicle charging points had been raised in the residents survey 
and the Chair of Brecon 2020 advised that he was looking into this in his professional 
capacity; he couldn’t recall it being raised in the community feedback.  The important of 
signage in giving a town a special identity was suggested, and the member would forward 
the officer some photos to consider.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Brecon Town Plan: Draft 
Supplementary Planning Guidance be approved for an 
eight week period of public consultation.

 

18/20 WG Allotments Consultation Response 

Members were briefed on the proposed consultation response to the Welsh Government 
Permitted Development and Allotments consultation.  The officer took members through 
some of the changes.
 
A member asked about the location of allotments and officers advised that there was 
guidance in the Local Development Plan on this.
 
The Chair of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee wondered whether 
submitting a three Welsh Park response might carry more weight and the officer agreed 
to contact her equivalent colleagues to discuss the potential for this.
 

RESOLVED:  To endorse the submission of the document 
at Enclosure 1 to the Welsh Government as the 
Authority’s response to the Permitted Development and 
Allotments consultation.

19/20 Big Pit Presentation 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 11 February 2020

Members received a presentation from Huw Jones, Mine Manager at Big Pit, and Lee 
Thomas, one of the nine apprentices funded through the Sustainable Development Fund in 
2017 to ensure continuity of expert guides in the mine.  They expressed their 
appreciation to the Authority to the advice and guidance received from the SDF Officers.
 
Members expressed their appreciation of the scheme and its success and highlighted Big 
Pit as an important heritage tourism site.
 
The Chair thanked them both for the presentation and wished the scheme every success.

20/20 Member Reports 

No reports were given.

21/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

There were no declarations.

22/20 Any Other Business 

The Chair referred to a paper that had been presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
on 31 January which members had asked to be revised and put before the Authority.  The 
Finance Manager explained the changes to the project scorecard which would clarify the 
financial situation on each project.  Asked how this was scrutinised by senior officers the 
Chief Executive advised that it was monitored by the Corporate Governance Team on a 
monthly basis and by quarterly reports to Audit and Scrutiny Committee.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Remote Meetings & Urgent Decisions 

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority 

Date 26 May 2020

Report Author Sean O’Connor

Job title Monitoring Officer

Contact Details Sean.OConnor@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

Purpose of Report (i) To provide Standing Orders to facilitate decision 
making using remote meetings of the Authority, 
subcommittees, forums and other working groups 

(ii) To modify the Scheme of Delegation to provide 
appropriate delegations for urgent decisions to the 
Chief Executive

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Appendix A – Proposed Standing Order 30 – Remote 
Meetings

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendations a) To adopt the additional Standing Order to 
facilitate decisions using remote meetings of the 
Authority, subcommittees, forums and working 
groups.

b) To amend the Urgency Delegation in the Scheme 
of Delegation 

1.1 Introduction or Background
a) Remote Meetings

The Local Government Act 1972, (paras. 6 and 39 of Schedule 12) provides a statutory 
requirement for decision making Members to be physically present at a meeting in order 
to be part of the quorum for that meeting, and to vote.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Sean.OConnor@beacons-npa.gov.uk


In response to the Covid-19, the UK government introduced section 78 of the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 in respect to local authority meetings. This enabled the Welsh 
Government to introduce regulations to overcome the limitations on physical meetings 
in light of the social distancing and health guidance for the protection of vulnerable 
people.

The Welsh Government issued the Local Authorities (Coronavirus)(Meetings)(Wales) 
Regulations 2020 on the 22 April 20 (the Regulations). The main operative changes 
(applicable to the National Park) are:

i. Publishing: Any existing reference to the need to publish documents, notices, 
summons etc. on requires this to be by electronic means (website) only.

ii. Remote attendance: Members are considered to be ‘in attendance’ provided that 
at a minimum they can hear and be heard by other Members. 

iii. Annual General Meeting: These can be held on any date in before 01 May 2021 
as determined by the Chair.

iv. Meetings. Any with specific date/occurrence requirements may be held any time 
before 01 May 21.  

v. Chairs: Elections for all such positions (e.g. vice-chairs, representatives to bodies 
and joint committees etc.), is delayed (if the incumbent is content to remain) and 
can be held at any time before 1 May 2021.  

vi. Planning: Substitutions for Members on Planning Committee are now permitted.

vii. Public access: the public right of access to meetings has been removed. The 
public right to access documents, agendas etc, can be discharged by making these 
available by electronic means.

The Regulations are directly applicable, meaning the changes overrides any existing 
Standing Order in the Constitution. The changes therefore gave minimum requirements 
for meetings but state that individual authorities could introduce procedures in its 
Standing Orders to allow business to be transacted in remote meetings both mindful of 
the public health guidance but also the expectation of open and transparent 
government. 

b) Scheme of Delegation and Urgent Decisions
The Scheme of Delegation to the Authority contains an urgency delegation to the Chief 
Executive but this appears to only apply to matters reserved to the full Authority itself. 
It is not clear if this applies to matters within the terms of references of subcommittees, 
when the urgency applies and how the delegation is used. 

Page 14



1.2 Proposals

a) Remote Meetings 
Public Health guidance in response to the Covid-19 runs contrary to the decision 
making procedures used by the Authority as a whole and its subcommittees. In the 
interest of safety of Members, Officers and the public during this time, the 
recommendation is that the Authority adopts an additional Standing Order that has 
effect until the 01 May 2021.

  The Standing Order is attached as Appendix A. The main features of the Standing Order 
for matters that relate to meetings are:

• Precedence: to avoid amending existing Standing Orders, the Standing Order 30 takes 
precedence over any conflicting Standing Order but only for a short period. Standing 
Order 30 automatically expires and ceases to have effect on 01 May 2021

• Attendance: attendance at a meeting means remote attendance by electronic means. At 
a minimum attendance means that a Member can be heard and hear other members. 
The Authority intends to use the Lifesize video conferencing system but the Standing 
Order provides other methods if more appropriate or made necessary due to 
technology failure.

• Public Attendance: the Standing Order reflects the Regulation in that public attendance 
will not initially be provided to the remote meeting. At the appropriate time, when the 
Chair considers that the proper conduct of the meeting is established and that the 
technological means is ready, then live streaming of the meeting to the public will be 
made. Until that time, the minutes of the meeting (and, as technology allows,  an 
electronic recording of the meeting) will be published after the meeting.

• Positions of Responsibility: Members holding special responsibilities will continue to do 
so until the AGM is called by the Chair or 5 or more members of the Authority.

• Public Speaking: initially, where the public have a current right to speak at a meeting, this 
will be made by the submission of written representations (of no more than 500 words 
equivalent to 3 minutes of speaking) which will be read out at the appropriate time by 
an officer during a meeting. When the technology is available, public speaking can be by 
way of either by the broadcasting of a prepared statement. At the appropriate time, 
when the Chair of the relevant meeting considers that the proper conduct of the 
meeting is established and that the technological means is ready, then Lifesize will be 
used to allow the public to address Members. Where the speaking time or word limit is 
not considered conducive for the better conduct of the meetings, the Chair may 
decrease the time or word limit.

• Failure of technology: ordinarily where a failure of technology occurs this is temporary 
and often a Member or officer will miss a few seconds of the meeting. It is possible that 
a Member may not able to attend or will be absent from the meeting due to technology 

Page 15



failure. Where the meeting remains quorate, the meeting will ordinarily continue with 
business but the Standing Order enables the Chair to suspend the meeting for a short 
period to enable remote access to be re-established where more than one Member has 
been affected.   

• Confidential/Exempt Items: the Standing Order is clear that members and officers need 
to ensure that such items are considered in a private sessions even when Members and 
officers are physically located at home.

• Voting: All votes will be conducted by named vote. At the Chairs discretion where 
either the technology enables and when appropriate, voting shall by general assent 
(where all members are visible on screen) or using an electronic method. Prior to any 
vote the Chair will ask all Members whether any information needs to be repeated. For 
example, where a Member’s technology failure meant they missed a part of a 
presentation.  

b) Scheme of Delegation & Urgent Decisions
Emergency delegations exist within the Scheme of Delegation (Part II page 7-8) to deal 
with urgent business or in the event of an emergency. The urgency provision however 
only relates to the business of the Authority and not its committees. Further, it isn’t clear 
the circumstances that the emergency delegations can be exercised or what needs to be 
considered. 

The proposal is to replace the existing delegation as follows:

1. Use of Urgency Delegations

1.1 The Urgency Delegation in paragraph 2 may be used by the Chief Executive  upon 
agreement of at least one Member or one Officer from the following:

1.1.1 the Chair or Deputy of the Authority

1.1.2 the S151 Officer; and

1.1.3 the Monitoring Officer.

1.2 The parties in 1.1 shall determine whether the Urgency Delegation shall be used and 
shall consider matters such as the degree of urgency needed for the decision and the 
circumstances facing the Authority in resolving or mitigating the urgency or emergency.

1.3 In the absence of the Chief Executive, the Urgency Delegation may be used by any 
officer that directly reports to the Chief Executive on the same basis as paragraph 1.1 

Page 16



1.4 The Urgency Delegation may only be used within such period or such preconditions as 
agreed by the parties in paragraph 1.1 

1.5 The Urgency Delegation will be formally documented in writing and circulated to the 
Chief Executive, Chair of the Authority, Chair of the relevant subcommittee, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer.  

2. Urgency Delegation

2.1 In the event of an emergency or urgency, the Chief Executive may exercise the 
delegations reserved to the Authority, PAROW, Audit & Scrutiny Committee, 
Appointment Committee, Grants Advisory Panel or the Sustainable Development Fund 
Committee as set out in this Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation. 

2.2 The Chief Executive may delegate authority under the Urgency Delegation to any other 
Officer of the Authority. 

2.3 An emergency means any situation or circumstance which causes (or likelihood of 
causing) loss or risk to the Authority, its officers and residents.  Urgency means any 
decision required in advance of the earliest possible meeting of the relevant 
subcommittee. 

3. Consultation

In all such cases the Chief Executive will consult with the following prior to using the Urgency 
Delegation:

3.1 the Chair of a relevant subcommittee (where the substance of the decision falls within 
the Terms of Reference of that subcommittee); or

3.2 the Section 151 Officer whenever urgent action has a financial consequence for the 
Authority, or 

3.3 the Monitoring Officer in relation to any legal consequences. 

4. Documentation

In all cases, use of the Urgency Delegation includes authority to sign any deed or document 
on behalf of the Authority. The use of the Urgency Delegation including all material factors 
considered will be documented in writing

5. Limitations

The use of the Urgency Delegation is subject to any limitation or restriction placed on the 
Authority or its Subcommittees by the law. 

Page 17



6. Reporting

Any decisions made under the Urgency Delegation above shall be reported to the relevant 
subcommittee or the National Park Authority at the earliest opportunity.

The above Delegation will replace the delegation from the Authority in paragraph 1 of 
Part II (page 7/8 of Scheme of Delegation).

1.3 Implications

Decisions made will ensure the smooth running of the decision making process including 
during the implementation of Public Health guidance against Covid-19. 

The proposals with regard to the Scheme of Delegation will ensure that that key 
decisions can be made to safeguard staff and operations during exceptional 
circumstances.

1.4 Risk

Should decisions not be made then committees may not be quorate, with decisions 
having to be deferred.  This could lead to a reputational risk as well as operational and 
potentially financial implications.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to consider the changes to the Scheme of Delegation and Standing 
Orders to effect the continuation of decision making.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To adopt the additional Standing Order to facilitate decisions using 
remote meetings of the Authority, subcommittees, forums and working 
groups.

b) To amend the Urgency Delegation in the Scheme of Delegation

Page 18



Appendix A – Proposed Standing Order 30 - Remote Meetings

Standing Order relating to Meetings of the Authority, its Sub-Committees and Forums 
during response to Covid-19 

30.1 Introduction

This Standing Order is adopted as by the Authority under Section 78 of the Coronavirus 
Act 2020 and The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 
No.442 (‘the Regulations’). 

This Standing Order provides the means for the conduct of any remote meeting of the 
Authority, and its various Committees and Sub-Committees, held under the provisions of 
the Regulations.  

This Standing Order should be read in conjunction with the existing Standing Orders and 
Procedure Rules within the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation. Wherever there 
is a conflict with the existing Standing Orders or any other constitutional document, then 
this Standing Order takes precedence. Guidance will be issued by Democratic Services to 
supplement this Standing Order.

This Standing Order remains valid until 1st May 2021

30.2 Definitions 

For all purposes of the Constitution: 

30.2.1 “meeting” means a meeting of the Authority, Subcommittee, Panel or a Forum and is not 
limited in meaning to a meeting of persons all of whom, or any of whom, are present in the 
same place. 

30.2.2 “place” is to be interpreted as where a meeting is held, or to be held, includes reference to 
more than one place including electronic, digital or virtual locations such as internet 
locations, web addresses or conference call telephone numbers;  and

30.2.3 “open to the public” means where a meeting is accessible to the public through remote 
means the meeting is open to the public whether or not members of the public are able to 
attend the meeting in person so that the public can hear (and preferable see) the members 
in attendance.

30.2.4 “remote means” includes (but not limited to) telephone, video conferencing, live webcast, 
and live interactive streaming.

30.2.5 “in attendance” means if the Member is physically present or attending by remote means 
and in both cases is able at that time can hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard 
and, where practicable, be seen by, the other Members in attendance. 

30.3 Annual Meeting

30.3.1 The requirement to hold an Annual Meeting is to be disregarded and, prior to 7th May 2021, 
an Annual Meeting of the Authority may only take place:

Page 19



30.3.1.1 when called by the Chair of the Authority; or
30.3.1.2 following a request to call a meeting by no fewer than 5 members of 

the Authority

30.3.2 Any person holding office as Chair or Deputy Chair of the Authority or any Subcommittee, 
Panel or Forum or any other appointment by the Authority, shall continue to hold office 
until the next Annual Meeting. 

30.4 Notice & Location of Meetings 
30.4.1 Democratic Services will give the requisite notice to the public of the time of the meeting, 

and the agenda, together with details of how to join the meeting on the Authority’s website 
and whether the meeting will be open to the public by remote means or a record of 
proceedings made available after the meeting on the Authority’s website. 

30.4.2 Members will be notified of the meeting and the place of the meeting by email and all agenda 
papers will be available on the Authority’s website and via Modern Gov.  

30.4.3 The ‘place’ at which the meeting is held may be at an Authority building or may be where 
the organiser of the meeting is located or may be an electronic or a digital or virtual 
location, a web address or a conference call telephone number; or could be a number of 
these combined. 

30.4.4 The Chair of the relevant meeting may determine that it be held in a physical meeting room 
with a proportion of the membership and any participating public additionally attending 
remotely.  

30.5 Public Access to Information

30.5.1 Any information available to members of the public, to be published, posted or made 
available at the offices of the Authority will be published on the website of the Authority 
under the relevant meeting date.

30.5.2 Members of the public may access minutes, decision and other relevant documents through 
the Authority’s website.

30.6 Meetings which are open to the Public

30.6.1 Meetings shall not be open to the public.

30.6.2 Meetings shall be open to the public once the Chair of the relevant meeting (in consultation 
with the Chief Executive) agrees that the Authority has suitable and available technological 
means in place to allow the public to hear (and preferably see) proceedings of the relevant 
meeting by remote means.

30.6.3 If during a meeting, the Chair is made aware that the meeting is not open to the public 
through remote means, due to any technological or other failure of provision, then the 
Chair shall adjourn the meeting once for up to 10 minutes to restore the meeting as being 
open to the public.

 

Page 20



30.6.4 If the meeting cannot be restored as open to the public, then the meeting shall restart and 
the remaining business will be considered. 

30.7 The Public and Confidential or Exempt Items

30.7.1 Meetings are not open to the public, when confidential, or “exempt” issues (as defined in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) are under consideration.

30.7.2 Where the public is in attendance by remote means and before confidential or exempt 
items are to be discussed, the Democratic Services Officer or meeting facilitator will ensure 
that there are no members of the public in remote attendance or remotely accessing the 
meeting are able to hear or see the proceedings once the exclusion has been agreed by the 
meeting.  

30.7.3 Each Member and officer in remote attendance is deemed to be declaring that there are no 
other persons present with or near them who can either hear or see the consideration of 
such items in the meeting and/or recording the meeting. 

30.7.4 Any Member or officer in remote attendance who failed to disclose that there were in fact 
persons present who were not entitled would be in breach of the Members’ or Officers’ 
Code of Conduct. 

30.8 Meetings where the Public may speak

30.8.1 Members of the public wishing to speak at a meeting are required to notify the relevant 
officer of their intent to take part as set down in the Terms of Reference or relevant 
Standing Order. Notification to the officer should be prior to the date set out in the relevant 
Standing Order.

30.8.2 Where the Terms of Reference of any Subcommittee, Panel or Forum permit the members 
of the public a right to speak then this shall be only be discharged by way of written 
representations being read out at the relevant meeting. 

30.8.3 A Chair of the meeting may determine in advance of any meeting, the alternative methods a 
member of the public may use to address the meeting provided always that the Authority 
has the suitable and available technological means in place to facilitate this.  

30.8.4 The written method and alternative methods are as follows:

Written Representations

30.8.5 The member of the public should prepare no more than 500 words equivalent to 3 minutes 
of speaking time. Where the public are required to share speaking time (for example 
collectively as objectors in a PAROW meeting), then they will need to share the 500 word 
limit.

30.8.6 An officer will read out the written representation at the relevant time as requested by the 
Chair.

Voice or Video Recording (pre-recording) 

30.8.7 The member of the public may prepare may prepare a recording (voice or video) in the 
format requested by the Authority. The recording will be played by the officers to the 
members in attendance at the relevant time.

Page 21



30.8.8 The recording must not exceed the time limit for representations as set down in the 
relevant term of reference of a meeting or Standing Order. Where the public are required 
to share speaking time (for example collectively as objectors in a PAROW meeting), then 
they will need to share recording time.

Participation at the meeting using Voice or Video 

30.8.9 Members of the public speaking at a meeting by remote means must when they are speaking 
be able to be heard (and ideally be seen) by the Members at the meeting by remote means. 

30.8.10 The Democratic Services Officer shall mute the member of the public once they have 
spoken, and remove them from the remote meeting on the instruction of the Chair, in 
order to maintain the good administration of the meeting or to retain order. 

30.8.11 At the point during the meeting they are required to address the members, if the member 
of the public is no longer in attendance (or are unable to address the Members) the Chair 
may, as he or she deems appropriate: 

30.8.11.1 adjourn the meeting for a short period of no more than 10 minutes to permit the 
conditions for remote attendance contained in Standing Order 30.8.9 above to be re-
established; 

30.8.11.2 suspend consideration of the item of business in relation to the member of public’s 
attendance by remote means until such time as a following item of business on the 
agenda has been transacted and the conditions for the member of the public’s 
attendance by remote means have been re-established or, on confirmation that this 
cannot be done, before the end of the meeting, whichever is the earliest; 

30.8.11.3 continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting in the absence of the 
member of the public in attendance by remote means; or

30.8.11.4 request that an officer read to the Members the content of any written representations 
from the member of the public where provided under Standing Order 30.10. 

30.9 Where multiple representations are received (either in writing or voice/video recording) and 
no agreement has been made to share time or words then then the first written 
representation or recording received by the Authority will be presented to the meeting.

30.10 A member of the public considering speaking using Standing Order 30.8.9 or prerecording in 
30.8.7 may wish to send to the relevant officer in writing the content of their speech 
(subject to the word limitation in Standing Order 30.8.5 in case of technical difficulties.

30.11 The Chair of a relevant meeting may determine at any time that the speaking time or word 
limit may be decreased in the interests of the better conduct of the meeting.

30.11 Declaration of Interests

30.11.1  Members must declare any interests at least 2 working days prior to the relevant meeting 
by email to Democratic Services.

30.11.2 The Democratic Services officers will read out any declared interests at the start of the 
meeting if required to do so by the Chair.

30.11.3 If during meeting, a Member discovers they have an interest, they will indicate to the Chair 
and declare their interest on request.

Page 22



30.11.4 Any Member participating in a meeting who declares interest in any item of business that 
would normally require them to leave the room, must also leave the remote meeting. 

30.11.5 Their departure will be confirmed by the Democratic Services Officer of meeting facilitator, 
who will invite the relevant Member by link, email or telephone, to re-join the meeting at 
the appropriate time. 

 
30.12 Quorum and Attendance

30.12.1  Members must be in attendance to be considered part of the quorum of a meeting.

30.12.2 The quorum of a meeting shall be: 
30.12.2.1 1/3rd of the Members; or
30.12.2.1 1/2th  of the Members of PAROW;

in both cases to include at least one local government appointed member and 
one Welsh Government appointed member. 

30.12.3 A Member cannot be considered to be part of a meeting if they are no longer in attendance

30.12.4 The Chair will normally confirm at the start of any meeting that they can hear (and 
preferably see) and hear all participating Members. Any Member in attendance by remote 
means should also confirm at the outset and at any reconvening of the meeting if they 
cannot hear or see the proceedings.  

30.12.5The attendance of those Members at the meeting will be recorded by the Democratic 
Services Officer. 

30.12.6  In the event of a failure in attendance of the Members by remote means, the Chair should 
immediately determine if the meeting is still quorate:  

30.12.6.1   if it is, then the business of the meeting will continue; or 
30.12.6.2 if there is no quorum, then the meeting shall adjourn for a period specified by the 

Chair, expected to be no more than ten minutes, to allow the connection to be re-
established.  

 
30.12.8 Should attendance by a Member fail by remote means, ordinarily the Chair will continue 

the meeting as a failure is ordinarily only for a short period. Where failure affects more 
than one Member then the Chair may call a short adjournment of up to ten minutes to 
determine whether the connection can quickly be re-established, either by video 
technology or telephone in the alternative. If the remote means is not restored within that 
time, the meeting should continue to deal with the business, providing the meeting remains 
quorate. 

 
30.12.9 In the event of failure in attendance by remote means, the remote Member(s) will be 

deemed to have left the meeting at the point of failure and have rejoined the meeting once 
attendance has been re-established.

30.13 Member speeches and requests to speak

30.13.1 Members may only speak when permitted to do so by the Chair. 

Page 23



30.13.2 Members shall notify the Chair of their request to speak using the adopted technological 
means to indicate to the Chair of their wish. In the system Lifesize this is the 
electronic ‘raise hand’ function. 

30.13.3 The Chair will follow the rules set out in the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 
or existing Standing Orders when determining who may speak, as well as the order and 
priority of speakers and the content and length of speeches in the normal way.  

30.14 Voting

30.14.1 The method of voting will be by means of an officer calling out the name of each member 
present with: members stating ‘for’, ‘against’, or ‘abstain’ to indicate their vote when their 
name is called;  

 
30.14.2 In the alternative where all Members are visible by remote means and at the Chair’s 

discretion, the method of voting will be by one of the following methods: 

30.14.2.1 by the general assent of the meeting where all members are visible on screen at the same 
time and all members indicate their agreement by raising their hand either by using the 
adopted technological means or by visibly on screen.

30.14.2.2 a vote by electronic means using the adopted technological means to indicate to the Chair 
of their preference.

30.14.3 The result of the vote will be clearly announced either by the Chair or the Democratic 
Services Officer prior to moving onto the next agenda item 

30.14.4 Details of how Members individually voted will not be kept and minuted. 

30.14.5 If attendance by remote means is lost by a Member during a meeting, the Chair will ask prior 
to the vote whether any member requires that the information is repeated again to enable 
the Member who was disconnected to vote on the matter under discussion with full 
knowledge of all matters already considered during that item. No new matters are to be 
raised at this stage. 

30.15 General Conduct

The Chair may at any time during the meeting in the interests of the better conduct of the meeting:

30.15.1 Pause (adjourn) the meeting by taking down the stream (live feed) from public viewing and 
then resume it when needed.

30.15.2 Switch on each active participant’s microphone when they are invited to speak and switch 
them off afterwards.

30.15.3 Mute someone speaking at any time.

30.15.4 Mute everyone speaking except themselves at any time.

30.15.5 Allocate different levels of access to people logging in (based on upon whether they are a 
member, an officer or a member of the public who has registered to speak or simply 
observing the meeting.

Page 24



30.15.6 Switch some active participants and the observers off, so they are paused and have neither 
‘live’ visual or audio feed whilst the committee deliberates in private or an officer present 
gives the committee advice. The live stream can then be resumed when needed.

30.15.7 Removing anyone from the meeting by ejecting them from attendance by remote means.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Interim Appointments to Committees 

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 26 May 2020

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details 01874 620400 / Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek interim appointments to committees following the 
reduction of the number of members on the Authority from 
1 April 2020 and defer some decisions to the Annual General 
Meeting

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Committee membership list showing 
appointments that need to be made

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendations a) To note the changes in membership of the 
Authority from 1 April 2020 as given in Table 1 of 
the report;

b) To note the effect on committee membership as 
at 1 April 2020 outlined in Enclosure 1;

c) To make interim appointments to committees, 
working groups and individual roles at detailed in 
Table 2 of the report.

d) To defer the Authority’s AGM until a time to be 
agreed by the Chair of the Authority and with 
consideration of any continuing guidance on 
COVID-19

Page 27

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.1 Introduction or Background

a) Appointments

Legislation is now approved (Statutory Instrument to amend Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 2 
to the National Park Authorities (Wales) Order 1995) and the Authority has reduced 
its numbers from 24 to 18 from 1 April 2020 in line with the recommendation made to 
the then Minister in 2016.

The reductions will be implemented as follows following confirmation from the affected 
authorities:

Table 1: Changes in Membership from 1 April 2020

Authority Member(s) retained from 1 
April 2020

Members stepping down on 
31 March 2020

Powys Cllr P Pritchard Cllr E Durrant
Cllr M Jones Cllr K Laurie-Parry
Cllr G Ratcliffe Cllr I McIntosh*
Cllr E Roderick
Cllr S McNicholas
TBC*

*Cllr McIntosh has advised the Chair that he will be standing down from 1 April 2020.  
A decision on a replacement is currently being considered by Powys and will be 
advised.

Carmarthenshire Cllr A James Cllr K Madge
Monmouthshire Cllr A Webb Cllr M Feakins
Welsh Government Mrs S Holden Mr E Evans (completed term)

Mr C Coppock Mr I Rowat (completed term)
Ms D Perkin (did not request 
a second term)

Julian Stedman
James Marsden

Reappointed for second and 
final term to 31 March 2024

Elizabeth (Liz) Davis
Aled Edwards

Appointed for 4 years to 31 
March 2024

NB. No changes to representation from Blaenau Gwent, Torfaen, Merthyr Tydfil or 
Rhondda Cynon Taf

1.2 Proposals

The committee list at Enclosure 1 shows the gaps in appointments from 1 April.  
While most decisions can reasonably be left until the Annual General Meeting (currently 

Page 28



scheduled for 26 June 2020 but with a recommendation in this report that it be 
postponed) others will need to be made now to ensure that key decisions/workflow are 
not affected. The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 
allow National Park Authorities to delay their AGMs until a date of the Chair’s 
choosing, or if five members request that it be held.  All existing positions will continue 
until the AGM.

Interim appointments will be made by verbal nominations and a show of hands pending 
the change in election procedures agreed for the AGM.

In summary the following proposals are recommended to members:

Table 2:  Recommended Actions for Membership

Appointment Recommendation Further Options / 
Notes

Deputy Chair of NPA Not to appoint an interim 
Deputy Chair 

Option to use other Chairs 
as needed and defer 
election to AGM

PAROW Reduce number of members 
from 21 to 18 and all 
members sit

Option to review this once 
the committee has been 
operating for a few 
meetings

Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Replace 3 LA members
Replace 1 WG member

The next meeting of the 
committee is 24 July and if 
the AGM has not been 
held by then we risk not 
being quorate for this 
meeting.

Standards Committee Replace 1 WG member Standards Committee 
could be called urgently at 
any time to consider 
dispensations to speak

Appointments Committee Interim appointments will 
apply (comprised of the 6 
Chairs and Deputies)

Sustainable Development 
Committee

Replace 2 LA members
Replace 1 WG member

There is a meeting 
scheduled for 24 June for 
which members will be 
needed. Committee to 
appoint an interim Chair  
and Deputy at its next 
meeting

Meithrin Mynydd Defer to AGM
Governance and Member 
Development Working 

Defer to AGM

Page 29



Appointment Recommendation Further Options / 
Notes

Group 
Affordable Housing 
Working Group

Appoint 1 Powys CC 
Member and 1 
Monmouthshire CC 
Member

Policy Working Group Appoint 1 LA member
Appoint any other 
interested members

Officers have 
recommended replacing 
one LA member who has 
left but also opening up to 
any other members wishing 
to join.  This will greatly 
help current work

Waterfalls Task and Finish 
Group

Defer to AGM

Member Champion roles Shadow Champions step up 
where appropriate, 
otherwise defer to AGM

4 posts are affected

National Parks UK If Chair cannot attend then 
Chair of PAROW or ASC 
to deputise

No longer meets as 
decision making body so 
not critical

National Parks Wales If no interim appointment of 
Deputy Chair made then 
Chair of PAROW or ASC 
to attend

Regional Strategic Planning 
Group (SE)

Defer to AGM

Regional Technical 
Statement Member Forum

Defer to AGM

Powys Public Service Board 
Scrutiny Committee

Defer to AGM Need to replace two 
substitutes at the AGM

Biodiversity Information 
Service

Defer to AGM

1.3 Implications

Decisions made on committee membership made will ensure the smooth running of the 
decision making process.  It may have the added benefit of helping members consider 
appointments to be made at the AGM, both in terms of committee membership and 
individual roles/representation.

Page 30



1.4 Risk

Should decisions not be made then committees may not be quorate, with decisions 
having to be deferred.  This could lead to a reputational risk as well as operational and 
potentially financial implications

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to consider making interim appointments in order to effect the 
continuation of decision making.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To note the changes in membership of the Authority from 1 April 2020 
as given in Table 1 of the report;

b) To note the effect on committee membership as at 1 April 2020 outlined 
in Enclosure 1;

c) To make interim appointments to committees, working groups and 
individual roles at detailed in Table 2 of the report;

d) To defer the Authority’s AGM until a time to be agreed by the Chair of 
the Authority and with consideration of any continuing guidance on 
COVID-19

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP – 2019-20
Key:

Highlighted green:  Members leaving the Authority 
Highlighted blue:  Recommended actions

THE AUTHORITY AND ITS COMMITTEES

Chair of Authority Cllr G Ratcliffe
Deputy Chair of Authority Mr E Evans  Other Chairs to cover until 

AGM 

Planning, Access & Rights of Way Committee (21 members)

Local Authority Appointed Members Welsh Government Appointed 
Members

Cllr P Pritchard Mr J Marsden
Cllr M Jones Mr I Rowat
Cllr K Laurie-Parry Ms D Perkin
Cllr G Ratcliffe Mr J Stedman (Chair)
Cllr I McIntosh  Mr E Evans
Cllr E Durrant Mr C Coppock
Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair) Mr G Ham
Cllr S McNicholas Mrs S Holden
Cllr M Feakins   Canon A Edwards
Cllr A James Ms L Davis
Cllr J Hill
Cllr S Evans
Cllr M Colbran PAROW to comprise all 18 members 
Cllr G Thomas   12 6

Local Authority Appointed Members Welsh Government Appointed 
Members

Audit and Scrutiny Committee (6 LA appointed and 3 WG appointed members)

Cllr A Webb (Chair) Mr I Rowat (Deputy Chair)
Cllr K Madge Mr J Marsden
Cllr I McIntosh Mrs S Holden 
Cllr G Thomas Replace 1 WG member
Cllr K Laurie-Parry

Cllr A James (Interim Deputy Chair appointed at 
last ASC meeting)
Replace 3 LA members
Standards Committee
Cllr A Webb Ms D Perkin
Cllr A James Replace 1 WG member

Appointments Committee
Page 33



Chairs and Deputies of NPA, PAROW and Audit 
and Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr G Ratcliffe, Mr E Evans, Mr J Stedman, 
Cllr E Roderick, Cllr A Webb, Mr I Rowat
Defer to AGM

Local Access Forum Selection Panel

Chair and Deputy Chair of Planning, Access and 
Rights of Way Committee, Member Champions 
for Landscape and Biodiversity, and Resilient 
Communities

Mr J Stedman, Cllr E Roderick, Mr J 
Marsden, Mr C Coppock

Sustainable Development Fund Committee

Cllr M Colbran Ms D Perkin (Chair)
Cllr I McIntosh Mr C Coppock
Cllr M Jones
Cllr K Laurie-Parry (Deputy Chair) Appoint an interim WG member
Appoint 2 interim LA members
Advisory Committees

Policy Forum All members of the National Park 
Authority 

Policy Forum Chair Mr J Marsden
Policy Forum Deputy Chair Cllr G Thomas

Meithrin Mynydd Advisory Group (tied to champion role and Carms membership)

Cllr A James Mr E Evans 
Cllr E Roderick Mr J Marsden (Landscape and Biodiversity 

Champion)
Leave until AGM

Working Groups

Governance and Member Development Working Group ( 7 members – 4 LA/2WG 
appointed)

Cllr G Ratcliffe Mr Chris Coppock 
Cllr J Hill Mrs Sue Holden 
Cllr E Roderick Mr E Evans
Cllr K Laurie-Parry

Leave until AGM

Affordable Housing Working Group – 2 Powys, 1 Monmouthshire, 1 
Carmarthenshire, 2 Welsh Government appointed
   Cllr M Jones Mr J Stedman

Cllr K Laurie-Parry  Appoint Powys member Mr C Coppock
Cllr M Feakins  Appoint Monmouthshire member
Cllr A James

Policy Working Group Add any interested members

Page 34



Cllr A James Mrs S Holden
Cllr K Laurie-Parry  Replace at AGM Mr J Marsden
Cllr G Thomas Mr J Stedman

Waterfalls  Task and Finish Group (6 members)
Cllr G Thomas Mr C Coppock
Cllr E Roderick Mr E Evans   Replace at AGM
Cllr S McNicholas Mr J Marsden

Member Champions Member Champions (Shadow 
members in brackets)

Equality and Diversity Cllr E Durrant (Ms D Perkin)
Welsh Language Cllr E Roderick (Cllr S McNicholas)
Landscape and Biodiversity Mr J Marsden (Mrs S Holden)
Heritage Mr J Stedman (Cllr J Hill)
Resilient Communities Mr C Coppock (Cllr K Laurie-Parry)
Sustainable Economic Development Cllr I McIntosh (Mr G Ham)
Volunteers Mr I Rowat (Cllr G Ratcliffe)
Replace at AGM
Representation on External Bodies

National Parks UK Cllr G Ratcliffe (Chair of the Authority), Mr 
E Evans (Deputy Chair to substitute)

National Parks Wales Cllr G Ratcliffe and Mr E Evans (Chair and 
Deputy Chair of the Authority)

Welsh Local Government Association 
(Council) – also three Park representative 
on the Co-ordinating Committee) – LA 
member

Cllr G Ratcliffe (Chair)

Member Sponsor for Research Prospectus Mr J Marsden

Regional Strategic Planning Groups 
South East Cllr M Feakins  Replace at AGM
South West Cllr G Thomas

Regional Technical Statement Member 
Forum

Cllr M Feakins  Replace at AGM

Alliance of Welsh National Parks Cllr G Ratcliffe (Chair of the Authority)

Brecknock Access Group Cllr E Roderick

Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership 
Board 

Cllr S Evans

Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal Steering 
Group

Mr J Stedman

Powys Public Service Board Scrutiny 
Committee

Cllr A Webb
Mr I Rowat (1st reserve)
Cllr M Feakins (2nd reserve)

Page 35



Appointment of Directors

Biodiversity Information Service (1 
member)

Ms D Perkin  Replace at AGM

Page 36



Draft Corporate Plan 2020/21

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 23 May 2020

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details paul.funnnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval for the Corporate Plan 2020/21

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable – assessments are applied at project 
and programme level

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Corporate Plan 2020/21 Draft

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) That Members approve the draft corporate plan 
for 2020/21

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Corporate Plan sets out the Authority’s priorities and activities for the year ahead; at the time of 
writing, the majority of our work is linked to Welsh Government (WG) aspirations for managing the 
COVID-19 pandemic and ensuing public health and economic challenges. The Plan seeks to show how 
the Authority will plan for the development and delivery of the longer-term aspirations of the National 
Park Management Plan.

1.2 Constraints

The plan is late, delayed by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the requirements for 
the Authority’s management team to move into crisis management mode.  It is the result of a 
collective effort to make sense of the current circumstances and an attempt to predict the 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9

mailto:paul.funnnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk


potential consequences and demands on the National Park and the Park Authority for the 
remainder of this year.

Welsh Government officials and Audit Wales have been appraised of the situation and are 
supportive of the focus on COVID-19 recovery planning and essential service delivery.

It is acknowledged that with the change programme on hold the aspirations for a significant shift 
in the Authority’s strategic focus and ways of working have not been fully met in this plan. 
Similarly, the articulation of all of the statutory requirements the Authority must meet has not 
been compiled as a supporting document due to time constraints imposed by servicing the 
Authority’s emergency response and remote working measures.

1.3 Implications

The remainder of the year remains subject to entirely unprecedented uncertainty since the 
designation of the Park in 1957.  Consequently, the only predictable thing is that the 
deliverables set out in the plan will be subject to ongoing review.

1.4 Risk

If the recommendation is not approved the Authority will be non-compliant with the 
requirement under the Local Government Measure to have a published Corporate Plan.

1.5 Conclusion

The Corporate Plan is key document for the Authority.  This iteration represents a transition 
between previous plans linked to the Local Government Measure and a Corporate Plan more 
closely aligned to the National Park Management Plan which expresses longer term objectives 
alongside annual actions. Members are asked to approve this draft whilst recognizing that some 
final tweaks are still required, including an articulation of resourcing once the Covid-19 
recovery work has become clearer.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That Members approve the draft corporate plan for 2020/21

Page 38



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 1 of 32 
 

 

Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority 

Corporate Plan 

2020/21(COVID-19) 
Version: Draft 0.317 

Author: P Funnell et al. 

 

 

 

  

Page 39



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 2 of 32 
 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Brecon Beacons National Park ................................................................................................................ 4 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) ................................................................................. 4 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan .......................................................................... 5 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 .............................................................................. 6 
Well-being Goals ................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Organising our Work: Priority Work Areas ............................................................................................. 6 

The Structure of this Plan ....................................................................................................................... 8 
Planning Assumptions ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

COVID-19 Recovery ............................................................................................................................... 10 

Spatial projects...................................................................................................................................... 10 
Black Mountains Land Use Partnership............................................................................................................ 10 

Waterfall Country ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

Place Plans ........................................................................................................................................................ 11 

Spatial projects on hold pending review for capacity post COVID-19: ............................................................ 11 

Thematic projects ................................................................................................................................. 12 
Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) ............................................................................................................... 12 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) ...................................................................................................... 12 

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP) ........................................................................................................ 12 

Sustainable Rural Economy .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) .............................................................................................................. 14 

Policy and Strategy Projects .................................................................................................................. 14 
National Park Management Plan ((2021-2025) (NPMP)) ................................................................................. 14 

Local Development Plan 2 ((2018-2033) (LDP2)) ............................................................................................. 15 

Statutory and Core services projects .................................................................................................... 16 
Change Programme .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

Digital Delivery ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality ............................................................................................................. 17 

Appendix 1 – Projects’ objectives, actions and indicators .................................................................... 18 
Spatial Projects ................................................................................................................................................. 18 

Thematic Projects ............................................................................................................................................. 19 

Policy and Strategy Projects ............................................................................................................................. 25 

Statutory and Core Services ............................................................................................................................. 28 

Appendix 2 – The Five Ways of Working .............................................................................................. 32 

 

  

Page 40



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 3 of 32 
 

Introduction 

This Corporate Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA, the Authority) has 

been finalised and published later than normal since it was in final preparation when the extent and 

seriousness of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic started to become clear. As a result of the 

pandemic, its consequences for public funding and the role of protected landscapes in national 

recovery, the plans set out in this document are likely to be subject to considerable revision over the 

course of the financial year 2020/21. 

The Corporate Plan sets out the Authority’s priorities and activities for the year ahead; at the time of 

writing, the majority of our work is linked to Welsh Government (WG) aspirations for managing the 

COVID-19 pandemic and ensuing public health and economic challenges. The Plan seeks to show how 

the Authority will plan for the development and delivery of the longer-term aspirations of the National 

Park Management Plan within the context of Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021 (Welsh Government 

2016), programme for government, Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government's Priorities for Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks (Welsh Government 2018); the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

The Well-being of Future Generations Act places a duty1 on the Authority to set out its Well-being 

objectives and to2 demonstrate how delivery of these contributes to the Welsh Government’s Well-

being Goals3.   

The Authority is committed to continually improving its delivery and services. Our work has a direct 

impact on the people who live in, work in and enjoy the protected landscape that is the National Park 

and we want to be open and transparent about our priorities and how we are performing. 

  

 
1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/9/enacted 
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/7/enacted 
3 In May of this year the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales laid her first five-year report before the Senedd. This report 

assesses the improvements public bodies should make in relation to their well-being objectives and identifies areas for action for all public 
bodies subject to the act.  
FGCW (2020) The Future Generations Report Future Generations Commissioner for Wales https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-

ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf 

Page 41

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-08/taking-wales-forward.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld13167/gen-ld13167-e.pdf


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 4 of 32 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

The Brecon Beacons National Park was designated in 1957. It is one of fifteen National Parks in the 

UK and one of three in Wales. The Park covers 1,347 square kilometres (520 square miles) and lies 

between rural Mid Wales and the industrial South Wales Valleys. It is a diverse landscape, where 

sweeping uplands contrast with green valleys, dramatic waterfalls, ancient woodland, archaeological 

sites, caves, forests, reservoirs and vibrant communities.  

 

The Park is recognised by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as a 

Category V [5] protected landscape which means that it is: 

“A protected area where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced an area of 

distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value: and where 

safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its 

associated nature conservation and other values.” www.iucn.org 

The IUCN has produced many ‘best practice’ guidelines for protected areas which are used during the 

development of the National Park’s strategic plans. 

Further information about the Park can be found on the Authority’s website: www.beacons-

npa.gov.uk, the destination website: www.breconbeacons.org/ and in the National Park Management 

Plan (2015-2020). 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) 

The Authority was established by the Environment Act 1995 which sets out the Park’s two purposes: 

1. ‘to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 

National Parks’ 

Page 42

http://www.iucn.org/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/
file:///C:/Users/sgray/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/HT2P2123/www.breconbeacons.org/


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 5 of 32 
 

2. ‘to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities 

by the public’4 

In pursuit of the two statutory purposes, the Authority has a duty to: 

‘seek to foster the economic and social well-being of local communities within the 

National Park by working closely with the agencies and local authorities responsible 

for these matters’5 

The 1995 Act makes explicit that the Authority is not to incur significant expenditure in pursuance of 

our duty, rather this should be delivered through collaboration with other public bodies whose 

functions include the promotion of economic or social development within the area of the National 

Park.6 

The Authority contributes to many of the Welsh Government’s wider goals for the economy; health; 

education; sustainability and social inclusion as set out in ‘Taking Wales forward 2016-2021’. Direction 

for Wales’s protected landscapes was given in the written statement ‘Valued and Resilient: The Welsh 

Government’s Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks’ published in July 2018. 

In addition, the Authority is committed to the aspirations for better public services as set out in policy 

publications including ‘One Wales: One Planet’ and the ‘Living Wales Programme’.  

 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan7 sets the vision and provides the framework 

for decision-making and priority development actions within the Authority.  

The Management Plan is a framework for everyone who shares responsibility for managing the area 

– public bodies, third sector and private landowners alike. The Management Plan is a collaborative 

document, produced through extensive consultation with a range of stakeholders. The breadth of 

contributions is reflected in the complexity and scope of the Plan.  

The Management Plan is currently under review and a new plan for 2021-25 will be delivered during 

the life of this Corporate Plan, consequently a priority within this year's work programme is 

delivering a new plan. During this process we will agree new Well-being goals for the Park in 

consultation with stakeholders, residents and visitors. 

The Management Plan underwent assessment in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations (now 2017) and was prepared through the process of Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

(Wales) regulations 2004. Where necessary individual plans, projects and programme development 

are screened for the necessity to undertake HRA or SEA as appropriate.  

 

 

  

 
4 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/61/enacted 

 
5 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted 
6 Environment Act (1995) (62)11A(1)  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted 
7http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/ 

Page 43

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/61/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62/enacted
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 6 of 32 
 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place a ‘sustainable development 

principle’ which Public bodies are required to enact when making decisions: 

The 5 ways of working - The sustainable development principle 

Long term Prevention Integration Collaboration Involvement 

 

The five ways of working are described in more detail here http://futuregenerations.wales/about-

us/future-generations-act/. The work of the Authority is planned and delivered in accordance with the 

five ways of working as set out throughout this document and specifically in Appendix 2.    

 

Well-being Goals 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) focuses on improving the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by introducing seven Well-Being Goals (see fig 2 

below).  Together they provide a shared vision for public bodies to work towards.8 

 

Figure 2, the 7 Well Being Goals: 

The Authority was an early adopter of the Act and ensures that the contribution to the 7 goals is a 

key consideration for all its planning and delivery activity.   

 

Organising our Work: Priority Work Areas 

 

As part of the preliminary work to deliver the new Management Plan we have undertaken a review of 

future priorities considering the climate and nature emergencies, taking as our starting point the 

Management Plan themes which were also corporate goals for the Management Plan period.  

 
8 The 7 Well Being Goals as defined by table 1 of section four of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015   

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/4/enacted  

Page 44

http://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
http://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/4/enacted


BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 7 of 32 
 

These are: 

Management Plan Themes/Corporate Goals 

Theme 1: Managing Park Landscapes to Maximise Conservation and Public Benefits 

Theme 2: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity 

Theme 3: Provide Opportunities for Outdoor Access and Recreation 

Theme 4: Raising Awareness and Understanding of the Park 

Theme 5: Building and Maintaining Sustainable Communities, Towns and Villages 

Theme 6: Sustainable Economic Development 

 

These themes have now been grouped into three priority areas with accompanying outcomes:  

LAND USE & NATURE RECOVERY 

To re-establish a connected network of species-rich and resilient landscapes across the Brecon Beacons 

INSPIRING PEOPLE & PLACES 

To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy and understand the heritage, places and special qualities of 

the Brecon Beacons 

COMMUNITIES & RURAL ENTERPRISE 

To help people living and working in the Brecon Beacons benefit from sustainable livelihoods and green 

infrastructure  

 

For each of these priorities three focus areas have been agreed within which we will work with 

partners towards achieving the outcomes stated above. These are: 

 

Figure 3, priorities and focus areas 

These are related to the delivery of the National Park’s Purposes and Duty as set out in this schematic: 

Page 45



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 8 of 32 
 

  

Figure 4, priorities related to statutory purposes and duty 

 

This is currently an internal approach that will be discussed, evaluated and refined with partners, 

stakeholders and the wider public as part of the review and development of the next Management 

Plan over the course of the year. Consequently, this Corporate Plan may be subject to changes in 

emphasis, priority and activity. 

 

The Structure of this Plan 

 

Our plan will be adaptive and respond to the changing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The work programmes and projects that we deliver will typically have a strong contribution within a 

specific focus area but have aspects that contribute across the themes and focus areas. Therefore, 

projects are arranged by type as follows: 

 

• COVID-19 Recovery – Work required to ensure the Park can play its part in restoring 

national well-being after the pandemic  

• Spatial – Programmes and projects situated at specific sites or areas around the Park 

• Thematic – Programmes and projects that are defined by a theme or concept 

• Strategic – Projects to renew our main strategic plans 

• Statutory & Core Services – Improving the organisation’s services and ensuring we meet 

our statutory and regulatory requirements 

These interrelationships are expressed visually in this schematic: 

Page 46



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 9 of 32 
 

 

 

Figure 5, Corporate Plan structure 

 

 

Planning Assumptions 

 

In view of the major impact of COVID-19 on the Authority’s work, this plan has been prepared on 

the assumption that normal operational work patterns will be resumed at the end of September 2020. 

This is purely a planning assumption and it is highly likely that outputs will be different from what is 

contained in this plan. The implementation of work will be adapted to take account of these changes 

as they unfold but it will not be possible to continually update this plan. Outcomes and outputs will be 

reported at the end of the year and the impact of actual time scales for COVID-19 recovery will be 

built into the reporting at that stage.  

 

It is also likely that additional, unpredicted work will be necessary on top of what is currently planned 

in order to manage the Authority’s obligations to the public and achieve as beneficial a set of outcomes 

from the crisis as possible. If this happens, this work will be reported at year end, along with a summary 

of what work has not been possible under these circumstances. 

 

Particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 restrictions include  

• Work involving partners, suppliers, contractors and consultants which may have gone out of 

business or have furloughed staff 

• Work involving consultation and co-working with local communities 

• Work involving visitors and businesses 

• Work that cannot be implemented due to social distancing requirements imposed by ourselves 

or Government 

• Visitor communications work 

• Work necessitating access to closed areas of the National Park 

  

Page 47



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 10 of 32 
 

COVID-19 Recovery  

Most of the Park’s Public Rights of Way (PRoW) remain open to the public. At the time of writing, 

the National Park Authority is actively reviewing the list of sites that were locked down under the 

Health Protection (Corona Virus 19) (Wales) Regulations 2020. This is to identify those sites where 

it will be acceptable to ease the lockdown sequentially wherever possible, in line with Welsh 

Government recommendations, guidance and timetable, whilst maintaining effective health 

protection for the public and staff. This will be underpinned by risk assessments and supported with 

up to date key messaging, co-ordinating as much as possible with other key stakeholders.  

We will review the management and working practices of our visitor centres, offices and depots, 

aiming to resume operations, similarly based on appropriate risk assessments. Additionally, we are 

actively reviewing our site-based countryside management work, for example Rights of Way 

maintenance, habitat management, surveying and monitoring, in order to safeguard the integrity of 

these areas of work. 

Outcome: 

Sites are used responsibly by the public, with manageable pressure on staff, the public and public 

resources. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

Spatial projects 

 

The COVID-19 pandemic and the attendant lockdown response means that work is curtailed and 

constrained during the current financial year. 

 

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership 

As this Plan is written, this Sustainable Management Scheme (SMS) project, which is led by the 

Partnership Board rather than the BBNPA, is in its final months of completion, pending consent from 

Rural Payments Wales to extend the project until the end of August 2020. Final works to complete 

include bracken management, remedial works on the peatland restoration, continuing the ranger work 

and completing the Payment for Ecosystem Services (PES) Sponsorship Portfolio reports. However, 

education and visitor management projects are on hold. The Partnership Board maintains regular 

liaison with the Welsh Parliament SMS team and is actively exploring setting up its own company 

structure to ensure that the Partnership continues beyond the SMS. 

 

Waterfall Country 

Work on the ground is clearly not possible during the COVID-19 crisis. However, of more 

importance is that communication with local people has been disrupted. Face-to-face consultations 

remain unachievable but community newsletters and social media communications are continuing. 

Equally desk research into opportunities and costings will move forward.  

Page 48



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 11 of 32 
 

The aim is to submit an Expression of Interest to Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) by the end of the 

Financial Year, based on a well-established long-term plan for visitors, residents and the 

environment. If possible, we should be close to agreeing a Development Phase application by that 

point. This will need full buy-in from partners. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Place Plans 

Place Plans are a mechanism introduced by Welsh Government to help communities to engage 

creatively with the planning process and to enable planners to support place-making initiatives with 

local people. Previously referred to as Village or Town Plans by the Authority, a Place Plan is a place-

based community derived action plan linked to the Local Development Plan. Once adopted by the 

Authority a community’s Place Plan is used in the determination of planning applications within the 

place to which the plan refers. 

The role of Place Plans is being reviewed as part of the development of LDP2. Place plans have already 

been produced within Hay-on-Wye and Crickhowell supported by the Authority and other key 

organisations. 

Plans are in preparation in the following communities: 

• Brecon 

• Talgarth 

• Llanspyddid 

• Llangattock 

• Llangynidr 

• Llanelly 

Outcomes:  

• The National Park becomes more resilient for current and future generations living in and 

around the area.  

• Planning system engages with communities and planning outcomes are linked to community-

defined needs. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Spatial projects on hold pending review for capacity post COVID-19: 

Central Beacons 

Usk Catchment 

Llangors Lake 

 

 

  

Page 49



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 12 of 32 
 

Thematic projects 

 

Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) 

The works scheduled prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown implementation were planned, 

budgeted for and commissioned. The lockdown means that delivery scheduled for completion during 

2020-21 will now continue into 2021-22. 

Outcomes:  

• Increased knowledge of the state of the Park's ecosystems 

• Support mechanism in place for identifying key opportunities for conserving, enhancing and 

restoring ecological networks 

• An ability to measure the impact of NRAP delivery on the facets of ecological resilience 

• Maintaining partnership impetus 

• A better understood and more resilient ecological network embracing a diversity of habitats 

at a variety of scales 

• Suite of local projects in place delivering nature recovery enhancements 

• Increased engagement of non-specialists with wildlife recording, resulting in enhanced 

knowledge and records 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) 

The principal focus for Rights of Way (RoW) and access management will be on controlling access to 

the Park’s hotspots in line with the COVID-19 (Wales) Regulations. This will be achieved in accordance 

with WG recommendations, guidance and timetable, and will be delivered sequentially. Where 

possible outside this essential work, RoW and access delivery will be geared to the annual ROWIP 

Delivery Plan. Additionally, the Authority will deliver the year’s capital projects financed by the WG. 

Outcomes: 

• High quality public rights of way and access network  

• Responsible, affordable, logical and fair improvements to access to the countryside for all 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP) 

The environment of the National Park is testament to millennia of lived lives shaping the wold we now 

see around us.  The landscape itself is an historic asset and cultural resource that requires appropriate 

management.  The task is massive and one that the Authority cannot hope to achieve acting in isolation. 

This year we are proposing to identify and work with key partners within the heritage sector to define 

a co-ordinated action plan for the future management of the Park’s historic landscape.  The output of 

Page 50



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 13 of 32 
 

this work will be twofold, the creation of an Historic Environment Partnership (HEP) and the Historic 

Environment Action Plan. (HEAP) 

The creation of the partnership and the development of the HEAP in draft, are priorities for the 

Heritage team this year.   We recognise however that the collaborative nature of this project may be 

significantly impacted by the restrictions in movement and working practice brought about as a result 

of the COVID-19 crisis. 

Outcomes 

• Improved working relations with key stakeholders within the heritage sector through the 

constitution of the Historic Environment Partnership (HEP) 

• Increased resources and capacity available for the management of the historic environment 

within the National Park through the collaborative action of the HEP 

• Improved understanding and delivery of the conservation and enhancement of the historic 

environment through the definition of shared objectives and actions by the HEP 

• To have demonstrated the interconnectedness of the historic, natural, and anthropogenic 

environments and to have articulated future action in terms of multiple benefits. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

 

Sustainable Rural Economy 

Objectives 

• To determine future position and action planning for NPA involvement in the rural economy 

• To deliver focused interventions in the local economy to protect and enhance the National 

Park’s special qualities and enable people to understand and enjoy them  

• To maintain and develop partnership working on the development of a sustainable rural 

economy 

• To work with the business community to raise their awareness of the National Park’s special 

qualities and to gain their support for conservation interventions 

• To implement projects that will deliver sustainable outcomes for people, places and 

landscapes, involving partners, businesses and communities as appropriate 

• To harness the power of the rural economy to improve the environmental performance of 

key economic sectors  

Outcomes 

• A clear sense of direction for the development of Authority work in the rural economy with 

the support and cooperation of partners 

• Successful projects, delivering sustainable outcomes with high levels of external funding  

• An enhanced appreciation of the Authority and its work from the business community 

• Enhanced visitor experiences 

• Enhanced environmental performance of rural economy 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Page 51



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 14 of 32 
 

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) 

The aim of the SDF is to develop and test ways of achieving a more sustainable way of living in a 

countryside of great natural beauty and diversity in which the local characteristics of culture, wildlife, 

landscape, land use and community are conserved and enhanced. The objectives of the Fund are:  

1. To explore innovative ways of contributing as far as practicable to the Welsh Government’s 

vision of a sustainable Wales and of breaking down barriers to sustainability  

2. To integrate sustainable development with the special qualities of the National Park and 

demonstrate the contribution of a strong sense of place and local identity to well-being and 

sustainable living 

3. To build capacity in local communities and to develop and support community-based 

projects promoting sustainable development objectives 

4. To generate greater awareness and understanding of sustainability amongst residents and 

visitors and facilitate positive behaviour change 

SDF Projects are assessed against, and make a significant contribution to, the Well-being Goals, as 

set out in the Welsh Government’s Well-being of Future Generations Act, whose goals inform the 

Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan, which puts well-being at the heart of managing the 

landscape.  

Outcome:  

Increased sustainability for living in, working in and visiting the National Park, while conserving and 

enhancing its local culture, wildlife, landscape and communities. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

 

Policy and Strategy Projects 

 

National Park Management Plan ((2021-2025) (NPMP)) 

The NPMP is a plan for the whole of the Park, not just the NPA. It should be prepared in 

collaboration with partners. The NPA is developing an engagement strategy for the preparation and 

delivery of the NPMP and the Local Development Plan 2 (LDP2).  

The Engagement Strategy and NPMP are being prepared in the context of restrictions to the types 

of engagement that are possible in light of COVID-19. Lockdown and social-distancing measures 

limit opportunities for workshops and face-to-face working. Organisations focusing on delivering 

core services to survive the pandemic (including furloughing staff) further restrict opportunities to 

engage with stakeholders.  

As a result, the NPA is developing new ways of working in order to deliver the NPMP, building on 

the partnership working recently undertaken preparing plans with an impact on the Park, such as the 

NRAP, the ROWIP and the LDP2.  

 

Page 52



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 15 of 32 
 

Outcome:  

Improved working relationships and shared commitment to working collaboratively on a 5-year 

programme that embraces the challenges and opportunities identified within a 20-year planning 

horizon. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Local Development Plan 2 ((2018-2033) (LDP2)) 

The Authority as a Local Planning Authority has a requirement placed upon it by the Planning Act to 

produce a Local Development Plan for the area and to review that plan every four years.   

The Authority is currently in the process of developing its second LDP (LDP2) which will cover the 

period 2018-2033.  The process of writing a Local Development Plan is anticipated to last three and 

a half years, therefore LDP2 development spans across corporate plan cycles.  This year the focus 

will be on the production of the Deposit LDP and submission of the LDP2 and its associated 

documents to the WG for independent examination. 

At time of writing both the timetable and content of LDP2 are being challenged by the Coronavirus 

crisis.  At present officers are working to a four-month delay to take account of potential for 

consultation deficit.  The detailed timetable set out at appendix 1 will be reviewed at each reporting 

cycle to highlight any further COVID-19 related delays. 

Outcomes: 

• A clear understanding of the detailed socio-economic and environmental challenges facing 

the National Park through the development of a detailed evidence base in support of the 

Deposit LDP 

• Stakeholders have an understanding of the scale and location of development land necessary 

to meet future needs as understood by the Authority 

• Defined a suite of strategic and detailed policies to guide development in the National Park 

and published these for public scrutiny. 

• A detailed understanding of stakeholder views of the proposed LDP2 through Deposit LDP2 

public consultation. 

• Submission of all development plan documents for examination 

 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

  

Page 53



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 16 of 32 
 

Statutory and Core services projects 

 

Change Programme 

In 2019 the Authority embarked on a programme to re-focus its efforts in order to deliver stronger 

outcomes and which have more impact while at the same time taking account of the challenges the 

National Park is facing. 

A component of that work comprised organisational change and the Authority was consulting with 

staff on a set of proposals to restructure the Authority when the COVID-19 Lockdown regime came 

into force.  The decision was taken to suspend the Change Programme and at the time of writing it is 

not yet clear how and when the Programme can be resumed. This element of the Corporate Plan will 

clearly require ongoing review and revision as the roadmap to exiting lockdown becomes clearer. 

Outcomes:  

The original outcomes the Change Programme is seeking to deliver are: 

• To focus future priorities under the three work programmes and nine focal areas referenced 

above. 

• Align the National Park Management Plan to these priorities 

• Focus in partnerships and projects which deliver integrated outcomes 

• And to develop more flexible project-based ways of working 

In supporting these outcomes, the associated restructuring which was being consulted upon is seeking 

to create: 

• Clear lines of accountability and decision making 

• More flexible capacity and increased collective working 

• More integrated and interdisciplinary working through project teams, 

• More streamlined and efficient management arrangements 

• Proportionately more resources ‘on the ground’. 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

  

Page 54



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 17 of 32 
 

Digital Delivery 

The COVID-19 pandemic has placed unprecedented demands on the Authority’s IT resources with a 

rush to implement remote working for staff and decision-making for Members. Inevitably this work 

has had to be carried out in a highly reactive mode without the usual considerations for forward 

planning and change management. Fortunately, work was already underway to deliver a Welsh 

Government-funded programme of updates to IT infrastructure and services which has allowed a rapid 

deployment of new resources through accelerating existing plans. A review of the IT Strategy in order 

to assist with the implementation of the change programme has been put on hold and will need to be 

picked up later in the year. 

The rapid scaling-up of working from home has further highlighted the inadequacy of broadband 

provision in many rural areas. This is not something the Authority can directly address, but it 

recognises its role as an advocate, and as an information exchange for community-led broadband 

schemes which may be eligible for some additional support through the SDF. 

Outcome:  

Improved efficiency and effectiveness of the Authority’s services and functions 

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality 

Wales’ National Parks strive through delivery of their purposes to connect people with their natural 

and cultural heritage and through proactive engagement promote social inclusion and reduce the 

negative impact of poverty on people’s ability to access and benefit from these protected landscapes.  

The three National Parks in Wales aim to be exemplars for social inclusion and to promote the 

principles and practices of equality and have co-produced ‘Landscapes for Everyone’ a position 

statement for social inclusion and child poverty. This position statement and related actions identify 

how the Welsh National Parks will deliver their core purposes and duty whilst meeting the 

requirements of the WG’s ‘Valued and Resilient: the Welsh Government’s priorities for designated 

landscapes’. 

 

Outcome:  

A diverse cross section of society gains health and well-being benefits from the National Park  

For specific actions and indicators see appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 18 of 32 
 

Appendix 1 – Projects’ objectives, actions and indicators 

 

This appendix sets out the detailed activity for the projects outlined above in the year ahead and shows 

how we will measure and judge our delivery towards the expected outcomes against each objective. 

 

COVID-19 Recovery 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Actions Indicators 

COVID-19 

lockdown review 

and release 

To minimise the risk of COVID-19 

transmission between members of 

the public and staff as the lockdown 

on access to countryside hotspots 

is released. 

 

Sites review 

 

RAG sequential 

release 

Offices, depots 

and centres 

review 

RAG sequential 

return to 

operations with 

social distancing 

Countryside 

management 

review 

Return to 

operations with 

social distancing 

 

Spatial Projects 

 

Waterfall Country 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Actions Indicators 

Waterfall 

Country 

To generate an 

integrated solution 

to the issues of the 

area to benefit 

wildlife, heritage, 

visitors and local 

people 

Develop, agree & 

submit HLF 

Expression of 

Interest  

Submit HLF Expression of Interest 

by March 2021 

Implement short 

term relief 

measures whilst 

working on long 

term solutions 

Implement Comin y Rhos & Traffic 

Management Order projects by 

March 2021 if WG permissions 

and COVID-19 Restrictions on 

community consultations allow. 

Finalise Communication Plan and 

Public Transport Report 

Commission Lower 

Pontneddfechan design plan   

Ensure arrangements for visitor 

management are in place for 2021 

season by March 2021 

Page 56



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 19 of 32 
 

Maintain 

Community 

Engagement 

programme 

Organise/support 3 community-

based events by March 2021. 

Continue to communicate with 

local people by e-newsletters (6 

over year) and social media. 

Investigate e-focus group 

discussion opportunities 

Undertake 12 

months visitor 

survey project 

Commence Visitor Survey by Dec 

2020 

Support Community 

Council to deliver 

Waterfalls Futures 

project for 

community 

regeneration 

Support delivery of at least Phase 

2 of Waterfalls Futures project by 

March 2021  

 

Place Plans 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action Indicator 

Place Plans    

Facilitate the co-

production of Place Plans 

with individual 

communities to maximise 

their involvement in 

decisions that affect them  

Brecon – Finalise & adopt 

community derived action 

plan and supplementary 

planning guidance. Encourage 

community implementation 

of the Action Plan 

Adopt as SPG by 

March 2021  

Support the development of 

place plans in the spatial 

areas across the Park 

including Llangattock, 

Talgarth, and Llanspyddid   

Focussed 

discussions with 

each of the 

communities by 

March 2021 

Review the efficacy of plans 

adopted up until April 2022 

in bringing about tangible 

benefits to the communities 

of their production 

Review 

completed and 

presented to Policy 

Forum  

 

 

 

Thematic Projects 

Nature Recovery Action Plan 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action 

Indicator during 

2020-21 and 2021-

22 

Nature 

Recovery 

Action Plan 

Improve our evidence, 

understanding and 

monitoring of ecological 

Commission and 

complete State of 

Nature Report 

Project completion 

Page 57



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 20 of 32 
 

resilience within the 

National Park 

Develop and submit a 

full grant proposal for 

the Vital Signs 

Monitoring Programme 

Full grant proposal 

submitted 

Commission and 

complete ecological 

networks mapping of the 

National Park 

Project completion 

Work with partners at all 

levels to unify local action 

for nature recovery and 

ensure integration with 

relevant natural resources 

plans and strategies 

Recruit and develop the 

work programme for 

the LNP Implementation 

Officer 

Successful recruitment 

Increase the resilience of 

our natural environment by 

protecting existing semi-

natural habitats, restoring 

degraded habitats and 

creating new areas of habitat 

Refine and agree the 

primary ecosystems and 

areas for focused 

project development 

and funding 

Process underway 

(reliant on ecological 

network mapping, 

State of Nature 

reporting and 

professional 

knowledge) 

Identify and deliver action 

for key species and habitats 

as part of a wider, 

integrated nature recovery 

programme 

Secure funding and 

develop a 

comprehensive invasive 

non-native species 

(INNS) control 

programme for the 

whole of the BBNP 

Funding secured 

Engage with a diversity of 

audiences about nature 

recovery 

Deliver the first season 

of biological recording 

and training events with 

the Biological 

Information Service (BIS) 

Events programme 

developed and 

delivered 

 

 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action Indicator 

COVID-19 

access 

restrictions 

Review and sequentially 

release the lockdown on 

sites and routes in line 

with WP 

recommendations and 

timetable 

Recovery Action Plan 

Number of sites and 

routes that remain 

on the Authority’s 

published list 

ROWIP 

A high quality PRoW and 

access network that 

allows people to enjoy 

healthy and active lifestyles 

with minimal 

environmental impact 

Publish and implement the 

2020-2021 ROWIP Delivery 

Plan 

Plan published and 

implemented  

The proportion of 

the PRoW and 

access network that 

is accessible and 

open 

Page 58



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 21 of 32 
 

ROWIP 
Implement the Rights of 

Way Improvement Plan 

Secure capital funding for 

and deliver the 2020-2021 

access and RoW capital 

projects 

Funding secured, 

projects underway 

and delivered 

Upland 

paths and 

erosion 

strategies 

Implement the upland path 

and erosion plans 

Deliver the upland path [and 

peat restoration] projects 

Projects delivered 

and underway 

ROWIP 

Maintain high standards of 

public access and public 

rights of way 

Assist WG’s Access Reform 

Advisory Group (ARAG) to 

finalise recommendation to 

WG 

ARAG outputs 

 

Visitor Experience 

Project/ 

Programme  
Objective  Actions  Indicators  

Deliver recovery of 

visitor experiences 

Provide visitor 

experiences 

Re-open sites and re-

adjust/develop new 

ways of working 

Visitors able to enjoy 

and benefit from the 

NP 

Complete existing 

projects (Wales Way) 
Visitor data 

Destination website 
Develop walking 

section 

Deliver Phase 2 and 

work with Work with 

Brecon Beacons 

Tourism (BBT) in 

ongoing partnership 

Phase 2 delivered 

User data collected 

Work with BBT on 

recovery 
Support recovery 

Deliver destination 

website and social 

media 

Website data, social 

media data. Data from 

BBT and Visit Wales 

(VW) monitors 

  

National Park Visitor 

Centre improvements 

Improve the visitor 

experience and adapt 

for social distancing 

Develop plans Work completed 

Work with H&S 

advisors 
Visitor numbers 

  

Outcome: 

Support for WG aspirations for learning and for the recovery of learning, especially within the groups 

most disadvantaged by the COVID-19 pandemic   

Programme  Objective  Actions  Indicators  

Fairplay (funded) 

Support WG and 

schools with learning 

recovery 

As per WG policy 
Engagements linked to 

policy 

Page 59



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 22 of 32 
 

UK National Parks 

Learning and 

Outreach recovery 

plan 

Support learning 

recovery 

As per UK policy Support and 

engagement as per 

policy and UK-wide 

data 

Support to GCSE/A 

‘level learners 

  

 

Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP) 

Programme   Objective  Actions  Indicator  

Heritage 

Environment 

Action Plan  

To foster a sense of 

collective responsibility with 

key stakeholders for the 

management of the historic 

environment in the National 

Park over a five-year period 

(2020-2025) 

  

Undertake stakeholder 

analysis to identify 

potential membership of 

future partnership 

Within 4-6 

months 

Constitution of 

HEP with at least 

90% of super 

stakeholders 

agreeing to be 

named members 

within the terms 

of reference. 12-

month Meeting 

program agreed 

and signed off by 

HEP 

 

Constitute a Historic 

Environment Partnership 

(HEP) with terms of 

reference which include 

commitment of resources 

to the development, 

implementation and 

monitoring of the HEAP  

Define meeting program 

for HEAP development 

phase of partnership 

Define a strategy for the 

management of the Historic 

Environment of the National 

Park for the next five years, 

that is actionable by all those 

with a stake in the National 

Park  

Within 2 months of 

constitution of HEP, 

define vision and 

objectives for the 

management of the 

Historic Environment 

 

Agreement of 

vision and 

objectives of the 

HEAP by HEP 

within timeframe 

 

Within 3 months of 

identification of vision and 

objectives identify key 

actions to meet objectives 

and articulate as a 

coherent action plan 

Definition of 

actions to be 

undertaken by 

members of HEP 

in pursuance of 

agreed vision and 

objectives by 

February 2021 

 

Within one month of 

drafting action plan by 

HEP publish for wider 

consultation 

Agreement to 

publish draft 

HEAP for 

consultation by 

NPA April 2021 

Page 60



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 23 of 32 
 

Through the drafting of the 

HEAP investigate and 

articulate the potential for 

actions within the HEAP to 

provide benefits to other 

work areas within the 

National Park  

Formulate system for 

assessing proposed HEP 

actions against potential 

for delivery of multiple 

benefits across key work 

areas (to occur 

concurrently with vision 

and objectives 

development) 

  

At least 75% of 

actions within 

draft HEAP to be 

able to provide 

tangible benefits 

across work 

programmes    Prioritise actions 

emerging within the HEAP 

which provide tangible 

benefits to other priority 

work areas 

Objective assessment of the 

success of the HEAP in 

bringing about 

improvements in the historic 

environment and other key 

work areas 

Within 3 months of 

identification of vision and 

objectives of HEAP to 

form a subgroup within 

the HEP with focus on the 

development of a 

monitoring framework for 

the HEAP 

 

Agreement by 

NPA to consult 

on proposed 

monitoring 

framework 

alongside 

consultation 

HEAP (By April 

2021) 
Undertaking monitoring 

and review is beyond the 

timeframe of this plan, it 

is indicated for 2021/22 

 

 

Sustainable Rural Economy 

 

Project/ 

Programme  
Objective Actions Indicator 

‘Sustainable 

Rural 

Economies’ 

Position 

Statement 

To articulate NPA 

position on the rural 

economy  

Draft and agree NPA 

Position Statement 

Agreement of 

position statement 

by March 2021 

Integrate NP 

Special 

Qualities into 

the Visitor 

Economy 

With external funding, to 

develop new ways for 

visitors to bring income 

into the area whilst 

safeguarding and 

valorising NP special 

qualities 

Atlantic Culturescape 

(100% Interreg funding) 

Achieve project 

indicators including 

heritage protection 

Atlantic Geoparks (100% 

Interreg funding) 

Achieve project 

indicators including 

visitor management 

and close by Nov 

2020 

Day2Stay – Dark Skies 

(90% VW funded) 

Achieve project 

indicators and close 

by March 2021 

Page 61



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 24 of 32 
 

Local Food Project (100% 

RDP funded) 

Launch project by 

Dec 2020. Re-

negotiate and 

achieve project 

indicators 

Work with partners to 

promote green 

certification/codes for 

businesses  

Develop and 

deliver new 

project/ 

workstream once 

existing projects 

close and seek 

funding 

Good Business 

Programme 

To develop work 

programme and funding 

to encourage businesses 

to become greener 

Work with Business 

Wales, WRAP etc to 

implement and promote 

training 

Develop, new 

project/ 

workstream once 

existing projects 

close and seek 

funding 

Ambassadors (20% RDP 

funded) 

Deliver 50 125 

business- days of 

training 

To train businesses to 

promote NP messages on 

conservation and visitor 

experience 

Business Training re NP 

objectives 

Deliver 50 

business-days of 

training 

Sustainable Destination 

Partnership 

24 meetings per 

year 

Partnership 

Working 

To ensure efficient and 

effective working to 

achieve joint objectives 

between BBNPA and 

other stakeholders 

Influence other 

stakeholder’s projects 

Engage with 42 

external projects 

Agree and deliver 

Geopark & Climate 

Change programme 

Agree programme 

and seek funding 

Geopark 

To integrate visitor 

experience, economic 

development and 

environmental protection 

into the west of the 

National Park 

Complete Interreg 

programme and promote 

outputs 

Achieve project 

indicators by Nov 

2020 

Work with 3 local 

communities on inspiring 

people/climate change  

Work with 3 local 

communities   

Complete and Launch 

Geopark Hwb 

Completed by 

March 2021, launch 

planned 

Achieve EGN re-

validation (due summer 

2020 but delayed) once 

post Corvid19 process is 

determined 

Achieve Prepare 

for re-validation by 

March 2021 

Wales Way project – 

Llangors Toilets, Digital 

Wall, A470 welcome 

points (90% VW/WG 

funded) 

Complete and close 

project by Sept 

2020 March 2021 

Improve Visitor 

Experience  

To work with partners to 

enable visitors to have a 

joined up and 

coordinated experience 

Wales Way project – 

Llangors Toilets, Digital 

Wall, A470 welcome 

Achieve project 

indicators 

Page 62



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 25 of 32 
 

points (90% VW/WG 

funded) 

 

 

Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) 

 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Actions Indicators 

SDF  

Maximise the benefit of 

pilot and innovative 

projects funded through 

SDF in-line with the new 

priority areas. 

Support community environmental 

emergency and decarbonisation 

projects with development advice, 

funding and sharing of best 

practice 

Leverage 

generated – 

ratio  

Support projects conserving the 

historic environment  

Other Priority Projects: 

Community Green Energy, 

Woodland and Seed Project, Peat 

Restoration, Local Food and 

Nature Recovery 

 

Policy and Strategy Projects 

National Park Management Plan 

 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Actions Indicators 

Review existing 

NPMP and 

produce a new 

NPMP 2021-2025 

Fulfil one of the Park’s statutory 

requirements by delivering an up 

to date NPMP to guide the 

delivery of the National Park 

purposes and Section 62(1) duty, 

assisted by the NPAs 

statutory planning function 

 

The new plan achieves an 

appropriate synthesis of the 

requirements and expectations of 

all stakeholders 

Determine and 

prioritise issues 

Assessed and 

evidenced issues 

documented 

Identify 

stakeholders 

Stakeholder DB 

organised 

Plan engagement 

Engagement plan 

tailored to issues 

and stakeholders 

Engage on issues 

with 

stakeholders 

Significant 

contribution and 

commitment 

gained 

Summarise and 

distil component 

plans 

Summaries in 

place 

Renew vision Vision agreed  

Draft policy Policies in place 

Finish position 

statements 

Position 

statements agreed 

Page 63



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 26 of 32 
 

Agree 

programmes for 

action with 

partners 

Programmes set 

out 

Draft plan 
Draft agreed for 

consultation 

Consult on draft 

plan 

Targets reached 

or exceeded for 

feedback 

Adopt (prepare 

easy read 

version if 

necessary) 

Plan adopted (easy 

read version of 

Plan prepared if 

necessary) 

 

 

Local Development Plan 2 (LDP2) (2018-2033)  

 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action Indicator 

Delivery 

Agreement 

Account for the 

impacts of COVID-19 

on the LDP timetable 

and ensure LDP2 is 

not subject to 

consultation deficit  

Review timetable with 

Welsh Government and 

seek extension to that 

approved 

Agreement by Minister 

of additional 4 months 

within LDP timetable 

(Q1) 

Evidence 

Gathering 

for Deposit 

LDP 

To ensure that all 

policy making responds 

to key issues facing the 

National Park 

Review all Topic papers 

against new and emerging 

evidence   

 

 

Review all issues papers 

against new and emerging 

policy relating to COVID-

19 recovery 

 

New Issues emerging 

through NPMP Delphi 

process with land use 

planning implications to 

have associated Topic 

papers 

 

All identified issues to 

have corresponding 

Topic Paper  

 

Each topic paper to 

receive sign off from 

Policy Working Group 

 

Ongoing 

 

  

Spatial 

Strategy 

Review 

To ensure that the 

strategy of LDP2 is 

founded on an 

UpToDate 

understanding of the 

key issues facing the 

Park 

Review Spatial Strategy 

against emerging evidence. 

 

Draft amended strategy if 

necessary 

Achieve agreement 

from NPA to undertake 

informal consultation on 

any proposed changes 

to spatial strategy ahead 

of Deposit 

Consultation. 

Q1-2 

Drafting 

Deposit LDP 

To define policy and 

strategy to guide 

development for the 

Draft strategic policy for all 

topic areas 

Draft all necessary policy 

NPA Endorsement to 

consult on Deposit 

LDP2 in accordance 

Page 64



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 27 of 32 
 

NP area for the period 

2018-2033 that would 

pass soundness tests 

Define land allocations as 

necessary in accordance 

with findings of detailed site 

assessment. 

with revised timetable 

Q2 

 

Appointment of 

Program Officer  

 

Consultation 

on Focused 

Changes 

To demonstrate the 

value of the Deposit 

Consultation by 

providing the NP 

opportunity to 

respond to 

consultation 

comments. 

Assess all comments 

received on the Deposit 

LDP and make changes as is 

considered necessary 

according with the 

evidence 

NPA Endorsement to 

consult on Focussed 

Changes in accordance 

with revised timetable 

Q4 

Submission 

of LDP to 

WG for 

Examination 

To produce sufficient 

documents to justify 

the position of LDP2 

at examination. 

Review and update all 

evidence for submission 

NPA Endorsement to 

submit LDP2 

documents to Welsh 

Government for 

examination in accord 

with revised timetable 

Q4 

Integrated 

SA 

To ensure that the 

action of the LDP does 

not have a significant 

impact on defined SA 

social economic and 

environmental 

objectives  

Update Scoping Report in 

light of emerging evidence 

and undertake any 

necessary consultation. 

 

Assess emerging LDP2 

against revised SA 

framework. 

NPA Endorsement of 

Environmental Report 

for consultation Q4 

Habitats 

Regulation 

Assessment 

To ensure that the 

protected elements of 

the NP landscapes are 

protected through the 

action of the LDP 

Undertake Appropriate 

Assessment of all elements 

of LDP 

NPA Endorsement of 

Habitats Regulation 

Assessment for 

consultation Q4 

 

  

Page 65



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 28 of 32 
 

Statutory and Core Services 

Change programme 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action Indicator 

Change 

programme 

To progress the 

Authority’s Change 

Programme appropriately 

in the context of COVID-

19 

Take Stock of the 

programme in the context 

of the Recovery Plan, once 

it is in place and produce a 

revised programme and 

timetable 

Revised change 

programme 

produced 

Volunteers   

Make volunteering 

opportunities intrinsic in 

the co-production of 

National Park projects 

Deliver the Volunteer 

Policy action plan. Potential 

priority projects: 

Woodland and Seed 

project, Peat restoration 

no. of volunteer 

hours  

number of 

training courses 

New volunteer 

management 

system in place 

and active  

Training and 

Apprenticeship 

programmes 

Programmes align with 

strategy and are properly 

resourced 

Develop rural skills 

programmes in conjunction 

with programme and 

project leads 

Indicators as 

per project  

Seek funding for new 

training opportunities 

Partners and 

funding streams 

identified – 

grant 

applications 

submitted  

Reduced size of 

Authority 

Implement the legislation 

and review impact on 

governance 

Changes to the Scheme of 

Delegation to support this Completion by 

31/03/2021 Additional member 

development as needed 

Future Funding 

Seek an integrated and 

longer-term approach to 

funding opportunities for 

protected landscapes 

Work across National 

Parks Wales on options and 

approaches 

Completion by 

31/03/2021 

COVID-19 

recovery 

Manage the impacts of 

COVID-19 on the 

organisation 

Establish plans and 

processes for: 

Completion by 

31/03/2021 

• Wellbeing of Staff and 

Members 

• Deployment of 

resources 

• Ways of working 

• Delivery of objectives 

• Future 

accommodation needs 

• Effects on lifestyle and 

culture 

 

 

Page 66



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 29 of 32 
 

Digital Delivery 

Project/ 

Programme 
Objective Action Indicator 

IT Strategy 

Update the IT Strategy in 

support of the change 

programme and new ways 

of working 

Consult with staff, 

members and 

stakeholders 

 

Deliver strategy 

Strategy adopted 

Implement 

WG-funded IT 

programme 

Deliver new tools and 

technologies to support 

delivery 

Drone deployment 

Remote cloud-based 

working 

Smart Park network and 

sensors trial 

Planning system 

improvements 

 

Solutions in place 

and getting results, 

assessed by user 

survey 

 

Corporate 

performance 

management  

Implement a new CPM 

system 

Establish project brief, 

team, and plan then 

deliver 

New system in 

place 

 

Feedback from 

staff and Members 

Authority 

website 

Overhaul the design, 

structure and content of 

the Authority’s website 

Establish project brief, 

team, and plan, then 

deliver 

Revised site in 

place 

 

Analytics on target 

 

 

  

Page 67



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 30 of 32 
 

Social Inclusion and Strategic Equality 

Project/ 

Programme  
Objective  Action  Indicator  

Community 

Development   

Promote positive 

action to provide 

an accessible 

National Park and 

continue to work 

to remove 

barriers identified 

for access and 

enjoyment of to 

the Brecon 

Beacons National 

Park. 

Support local 

communities and groups 

in the co-production of 

project development, 

community resilience 

and funding 

opportunities.   

Determined 

by specific project indicators  

Engage and develop 

community interest and 

action for new National 

Park projects  

No. of groups/communities 

engaged with National Park 

projects 

Utilise the Community 

Newsletter  for the 

development of National 

Park and  Community 

projects  

 2 x 

Community Newsletters   

Small Steps 

Improve mental 

health and reduce 

dependence on 

health services for 

participants 

through active 

engagement in 

activities in the 

National Park.  

Collaboration with 

Powys Teaching Health 

Board. Support 

participants, complete 

and review the 2-year 

project 

Delivery of Actions 

Number of Participants  

Measurable changes in 

Health and well-being  

Schools 

Inclusion 

Activity   

Support schools 

with high % free 

school meals to 

experience 

BBNPA education 

programme  

Deliver Fair Play Project  
No. of schools and pupils 

supported 

Miles Without 

Stiles 

Reduce barriers 

and improve 

accessibility in the 

National Park  

Work with local users, 

Town Councils and land 

owners around Brecon, 

Talgarth and 

Crickhowell to identify 

suitable routes where 

stiles and other barriers 

can be replaced with 

new self-closing gates 

Number of communities 

engaged 

Number of accessible routes 

available.  

Upland Path 

Programme 

Deliver National 

Park Upland path 

repairs and 

monitoring 

Widening volunteering 

opportunities in 

conjunction with Gwent 

Drug and Alcohol 

Services  

No. of volunteers 

Diversity and 

Awareness 

Training  

Create and 

maintain a diverse 

community of staff 

and volunteers 

who are able to 

Continue mandatory 

training including deaf 

awareness training, 

disability training, 

dementia awareness 

No of training sessions  

Page 68



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 31 of 32 
 

reach their full 

potential. 

training and social 

inclusion training. 

Ensure equality, 

diversity and 

inclusion are 

embedded in the 

organisation 

Continue our 

commitment to being a 

dementia friendly 

workplace 
No of participants 

Work with Brecon Mind 

to raise awareness of 

Mental Health in the 

workplace.   

Revisit the Authorities 

Bullying and Harassment 

Policy Introduce a Sexual 

Harassment Policy 
Updated Authority Policies 

Providing further access 

to support services 

Develop an Authority 

Behaviour Statement 

 

  

Page 69



BBNPA Corporate Plan 2020/21 – Draft 19/05/21 Page 32 of 32 
 

 

Appendix 2 – The Five Ways of Working 

How the Authority’s strategic planning and delivery address the five ways of working set out in the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act: 

Long Term - The Management Plan identifies a medium to long-term vision for the Park up to 2030 

and beyond, while also setting the context for key work areas within the Authority’s Corporate Plan. 

It is reviewed every five years. The Local Development Plan identifies land use planning policies over 

a medium term of fifteen years and is reviewed every four years. Both of these plans have been 

developed through consultation with a wide variety of stakeholders and identify policies and actions 

to enable focused and consistent decision-making. They are evidence-based plans that aim to anticipate 

future trends and have been developed in the context of the Park’s statutory purposes and duty and 

the IUCN guidelines for protected landscapes. They set objectives with a view to achieving a healthier, 

happier, prosperous and resilient Wales.  

Prevention - The Management Plan and Local Development Plan identify short and medium-term 

actions and policies to meet the shared vision for the Park. All actions and plans taken forward by the 

Authority (and partners) should be done within the context of this vision which in part aims to be 

resilient, responsive, open to change (particularly climate change) and proactive in mitigating and 

adapting to the effects of undesirable action regarding, amongst other things, biodiversity, climate 

change and tourism. The Park also provides an environment that can play an important role in 

preventing long-term medical conditions through a wide range of activities conducive to good physical 

and mental health. 

Integration – This document demonstrates how the Authority’s objectives impact on the well-being 

goals. Other Authority objectives are identified in the Management Plan (2015-2020) and will continue 

to be pursued in a manner complementary with the well-being goals. The Authority is an invited 

partner on several Public Service Boards and contributes to a broad range of well-being objectives 

both through our own work and with partners.  

Collaboration – The Management Plan is the plan for the Park not the Authority and consequently 

its delivery involves a wide range of partners and stakeholders including the Welsh Government, the 

other two Welsh National Parks and the 5 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the wider UK family 

of National Parks, Natural Resources Wales, Local Authorities and their Public Service Boards, Town 

and Community Councils, landowners, community groups, special interest bodies, etc. The Authority 

has co-developed and co-delivered important work through the Local Nature Partnership, Black 

Mountains Land Use Partnership, Meithrin Mynydd, Waterfall Country, Sustainable Tourism 

Partnership and other collaborations. 

Involvement -The Management Plan and the Local Development Plan are subject to regular 

consultation and review involving local communities, groups and agencies. In addition, the Authority 

carries out numerous consultations and engagements every year and has signed up to the Welsh 

Government’s principles for public engagement. 

 

Page 70



Annual Governance Statement 2019-20

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 26 May 2020

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

07976 812832

Purpose of Report To seek member’s views on the content of the Annual 
Governance Statement and approve it for publication

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1:  Draft Annual Governance Statement 
2019-20

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation To approve the Annual Governance Statement for 
2019-20 for publication with the Annual Statement of 
Accounts

1.1 Introduction or Background

All local authorities, including National Park Authorities, are required to produce an 
Annual Governance Statement each year which demonstrates responsibility for 
developing and shaping governance in order to achieve the highest possible standards in 
a measured and proportionate way.

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework, published by CIPFA in 
association with SOLACE in 2007 set the standard for this and it was revised in 2015 
and 2017 to ensure it remained fit for purpose.

The headings used in the AGS Review of Effectiveness reflect the seven principles of 
good governance set out in the above framework.

Page 71

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


The Authority has worked with the Wales Audit Office over a number of years to reach 
a consensus on a format for the AGS, with partial success.  Our own document has met 
with approval from Wales Audit and suggestions made last year have been incorporated 
in the 2019/20 report before members.

It is a retrospective report in that it seeks to give assurances about the previous financial 
year, and therefore depends on both internal and external assurances.  These mainly 
come from internal and external audit.

In the 2019/20 AGS the conclusions of internal audit (TIAA) have been reflected, but 
Wales Audit Office have advised that they will not be publishing their Annual 
Improvement Report for the Authority until later in the year and therefore, apart from 
the Annual Audit Letter on the accounts presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
on 31 January 2020, it has not been possible to reference external audit assurance in 
this statement.

The AGS needs Authority approval and has to be published at the same time as the 
annual accounts, i.e. by 31 July 2020.

1.2 Proposals

The AGS is not an assessment of performance (we are required to provide this in other 
formats) nor of compliance with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, but a review 
of the governance framework and processes we have in place.

The review of effectiveness provides this analysis under each of the CIPFA headings.

The Authority has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of its governance 
framework including the system of internal control, which is designed to manage risk to 
a reasonable level rather than eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives.  It therefore provides reasonable but not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  
The Authority’s risk process is designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of its objectives, and to evaluate the likelihood of those risks occurring and 
the potential impact, through regular review of mitigating actions.  The notion of robust 
organisational resilience is seen as the primary indicator of the Authority’s ability to 
respond positively should damaging events occur.  The Authority has recently had to 
test this in its response to the COVID-19 emergency, and a report on this is given at 
the top of the document.  In next year’s AGS the Authority will be a position to report 
on how resilient it proves to be.

The AGS provides a rolling cycle of assurance in that it:

 Reports on progress against audit recommendations from the year prior to the 
reporting year (2018/19 in this case)

Page 72



 Carries out a review of effectiveness of the year just finished – 2019/20
 Identifies audit recommendations for 2019/20
 Gives the opportunity for a governance action plan for the next year based on the 

review of effectiveness (this is limited to high level governance issues)
 Reports on progress with the previous year’s governance action plan

1.3 Implications

Members of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee have given clear guidance to officers not 
to spend disproportionate amounts of time on this document and therefore there has 
been a fairly light touch approach this year, with examples updated and successes and 
assurances recorded.  Normally the AGS would be taken to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee but as the meeting scheduled for 1 May was cancelled, the next meeting on 
24 July will not allow sufficient time for translation and publication, therefore the AGS is 
presented to the Authority only this year.

However, in line with best practice, the Governance and Member Development 
Working Group reviewed the AGS on 24 April 2020 and made some helpful suggestions 
for clarity and expansion, which have been incorporated in the attached version.

1.4 Risk

The Authority is required to produce this to the same timescale as the Annual Accounts 
and is audited on it by the Wales Audit Office.  Not to do this this would be seen as a 
failure to comply and would result in reputational damage.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to review the AGS and approve it for publication.

RECOMMENDATION:  To approve the Annual Governance Statement for 
2019-20 for publication with the Annual Statement of Accounts

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           1

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

DRAFT Annual Governance Statement 
2019-20

Page 75



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           2

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Governance and the Purpose of the Governance Framework

3. What is the Framework?

4. Action against Audit Recommendations 2018/19

5. Review of Effectiveness

6. Governance Action Plan 2020/21

7. Significant Governance Issues 2019/20

8. Opinion

Annexes

1. Action against audit recommendations 2019/20

2. Update of Issues identified in the Authority’s self-evaluation in 2018/19

NB.  COVID-19

At the time of writing the National Park Authority has been operating in lockdown situation for six 
weeks.  In the last few weeks of the financial year 2019/20, to which this report refers, the Authority 
put in place the following to mitigate the risk of the virus both to its staff and members but also the 
residents of the Park, and also to ensure continuation of core business as much as possible:

 All staff who are able are working remotely after the office closed on 20 March 2020, and 
provided with laptops, mobile phones as needed

 Health and wellbeing advice and support provided to staff collectively and individually as 
needed

 Reception operating remotely providing a source of information to the public
 Crisis Management Team virtual meetings held at least once a week to review operational 

matters and staff welfare
 Worked with Welsh Government to effect closures of car parks and rights of way/CROW 

access land to discourage travel to the area and groups of people congregating, and 
subsequently working with the police to enforce this

 Investment in IT to ensure that video conferencing platforms were available to staff and 
members for team meetings, external meetings and member/officer meetings

Page 76



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           3

 Senior officers across the three Welsh National Parks fed into the The Local Authorities 
(Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 to enable the Authority to meet 
remotely

 Proposed changes to Scheme of Delegation drawn up to enable the Chief Executive to 
expedite decision making

 Arrangements to induct two new members virtually to expedite their participation and 
decision making

 Change Programme put on hold for two months to enable all staff to focus on operating 
under challenging circumstances

 Actively working with the Welsh Government and partners to plan for future recovery of 
services and access to the countryside

 As part of the review of the Local Development Plan and National Park Management Plan, to 
revisit emerging policy in light of the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.   Introduction 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority prides itself on high standards of governance, 
behaviour and compliance and has evolved a progressive culture of partnership working, between 
members and officers and also with stakeholder organisations and individuals. As a result of this it 
considers itself a low risk organisation with a high level of confidence.

We continue to webcast all the Authority and main committee meetings and the viewing figures are 
still being maintained.  Almost all our decision making is taken in the public domain, and we publish 
all our current and archived committee agendas online, including audit reports, performance 
management reports and complaints.  A register of each member’s committee appointments and 
responsibilities is set out on the member pages of the website.

The National Park Authority is also subject to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 which places a duty on the Authority to set wellbeing objectives that directly contribution to 
achieving the seven wellbeing goals as set out in the Act:

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

The Authority must also meet its duties in accordance with a ‘statutory sustainability principle’ which 
means that the Authority must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present 
are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

In discharging this overall responsibility the Authority must put in place proper arrangements for the 
governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk and adequate and effective financial management.

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework

The governance framework comprises all the systems and processes, culture and values by which 
the Authority is directed and controlled, and how it is accountable to and engages with its multiple 

Page 77



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           4

communities.  It enables the monitoring of achievement of strategic objectives and whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services and outcomes.

The Authority has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of its governance framework 
including the system of internal control, which is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives.  It therefore provides 
reasonable but not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The Authority’s risk process is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of its objectives, and to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks occurring and the potential impact, through regular review of mitigating actions.  The 
notion of robust organisational resilience is seen as the primary indicator of the Authority’s ability to 
respond positively should damaging events occur.

The review of governance is informed by the members and officers who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, Internal Audit’s annual report, and 
also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (“the Authority”) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently, and effectively. It is a 
Welsh improvement authority under section1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and 
as such has a general duty under section 2 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised.

The Authority has a Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent with the principles of 
the CIPFA/ SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ as amended in 
2016. The Code of Governance sets out how we aim to provide public services and our 
accountability to our stakeholders and the wider community.  It outlines the systems and processes, 
cultures and values by which decisions are made and functions undertaken to deliver the purposes 
and duty of the National Park Authority. The Code was reviewed in February 2016 to reflect the 
requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.

The CIPFA guidance recommends that the review of effectiveness of the system of internal control 
that local authorities are required to undertake in accordance with the Accounting and Audit 
Regulations should be reported in an Annual Governance Statement, which is published 
simultaneously with the Statement of Accounts. The Authority has used the CIPFA framework and 
2016 guidance notes to prepare the Annual Governance Statement for 2019-20

3. What is the Framework?

The Authority bases its governance on a Governance Framework comprising the seven CIPFA 
principles of good governance:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law.

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and 
environmental benefits

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes

Page 78

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD233&ID=233&RPID=1589750
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD233&ID=233&RPID=1589750


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           5

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
the individuals within it

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management.

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability

The Authority develops and implements the strategic planning for the protected landscape through 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan and the Brecon Beacons Local 
Development Plan.  The Authority’s contribution to the delivery of the objectives in these plans is 
set out in its Corporate Plan alongside the priority actions for governance and other organisational 
arrangements.

3.1 Governance Structure

The governance structures provide a framework for the Authority to make decisions and to ensure 
that it complies with legislation and good practice.  It also provides the mechanism for monitoring 
the internal control system, comprising the scheme of delegation, a risk management strategy and 
arrangements for internal audit.  The purpose of the internal control system is to support the 
Authority in meeting its objectives and managing risks.  The Audit and Scrutiny Committee has a key 
role to place in monitoring these systems.

The Authority reviewed its governance structures in 2018/19 and approved the following model:

It did this to focus more effectively on delivery of objectives based on four key work areas:

Page 79



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           6

 Landscape and Biodiversity
 Heritage
 Resilient Communities
 Sustainable Economic Development

and to facilitate the involvement of all members in the development of policy through a new Policy 
Forum.  The model encourages the key work area managers to work closely with their respective 
Member Champions to deliver objectives and inform the work of the Policy Forum.

The Authority’s Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation gives details of the remit and 
composition of all committees and working groups.  The roles of each committee are summarised 
here.

Agendas and minutes of all committees are published on the Authority’s website.  Attendance 
records of members are given individually on the member pages and also published each year in 
summary.

The Authority comprises 24 members in 2019/20, appointed as follows:

Powys County Council 8 members
Monmouthshire County Council 2 members
Carmarthenshire County Council 2 members
Blaenau Gwent CBC 1 member
Torfaen CBC 1 member
Merthyr Tydfil CBC 1 member
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC 1 member
Appointed by Welsh Government 8 members

The Authority has worked with the Welsh Government to reduce the number of members to a 
more manageable but democratically equitable 18, and the legislation necessary to effect this was 
implemented from 1 April 2020.  The proportion of representation from appointing bodies will not 
change. Governance changes effected in 2018 were made with this proposed reduction in mind, and 
reflect the reduction of full time equivalent staff over the last few years.  

Over the last year the Authority worked with Chief Officers to refocus the Authority’s priorities in 
order to maximise its resources for achieving its purposes and duty, and implement a revised staff 
structure which will deliver this.  The Senior Leadership collaborated on a prioritisation exercise 
resulting in three focus areas and nine workstreams, which was agreed by the Authority in October 
2019.  This, and iterations of possible staff structures developed by the Chief Officers were 
consulted on in Autumn 2019 and was further consulted upon in March 2020, but this has been 
paused due to the COVID-19 lockdown.  

Standards

The Authority has a Code of Conduct for members and procedures for declaring and publishing a 
Register of Interests.  It also has a Code of Conduct for staff.  The following policies and procedures 
are in place to maintain high standards of conduct for staff and Members and to ensure 
accountability to the public:

 Complaints procedure
 Whistle blowing policy
 Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy
 Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation

Page 80

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13101&path=13085
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13101&path=13085
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13101&path=13085
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           7

Risk Management

Procedures for managing risk are in place, with a Risk Management Policy and Strategy informed by 
internal audits.  Risk control is devolved to management groups with the Corporate Governance 
Team reviewing the Risk Register and associated controls on a quarterly basis, reporting high level 
risks to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  

Internal Audit

The review of effectiveness of the system of internal control and governance arrangements is 
informed by the work of the internal auditors, undertaken by TIAA, and provided in accordance 
with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the UK.  

External Audit

Wales Audit Office act as the Authority’s external auditor and report on the Authority’s financial 
management and performance as well as issuing an Annual Report.  

Monitoring Officer

The Authority employs a part time Monitoring Officer who attends meetings of the Authority, 
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee and Audit and Scrutiny Committee as well as 
convening meetings of the Standards Committee as needed, and providing member induction and 
development sessions.

Financial Management

The Authority’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2010).  The 
Finance Manager is the officer responsible for the administration of financial affairs and is the 
nominated Section 151 Officer as required by the Local Government Act 1972.

4. Action against Audit Recommendations 2018 -19
An assessment of actions taken against audit recommendations in 2018-19 are set out in Annex 1.

An assessment of actions taken against the Authority’s self-evaluation are set out in Annex 2.

5.  Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework

The Authority has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the senior 
managers within the Authority, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review 
agencies and inspectorates. The review is based on the seven principles from the Code of Corporate 
Governance.

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law

Page 81



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           8

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

A developed and maintained suite of 
protocols which give members guidance on 
the ethical framework and the behaviours 
expected by the Authority
Regulatory Documents and Protocols

Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 
amended several times during the year to reflect 
changes in the governance structure and to effect 
more efficient decision making

Procedures for planning site visits amended to 
address quorum (9 April 2019)
Sign off limits for officers amended to increase 
efficiency (25 June 2019)

Complaints process in place but also a 
process for compliments

Reported quarterly to the Corporate Governance 
Team and the Audit and Scrutiny Committee. As at 
31 January 2020, 26 complaints had been received in 
2018/19, 4 upheld, 16 not upheld, 3 partially upheld, 
1 withdrawn and 1 ongoing.  Slight increase in total 
number of complaints on previous year (23 received) 
but no trend identified.  Compliments received are 
also reported to Audit and Scrutiny Committee and 
totalled 40 as of January 2020.

Code of Corporate Governance in place Reviewed and approved by the Authority on 9 April 
2019

Members and Officers Code of Conduct 
in place and a Member Officer Protocol.  

No changes effected in 2019-20 but a review of the 
protocol scheduled for 2020.
One member on member complaint resolved by the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales.
Two complaints against members dealt with under 
the Local Resolution Policy.  As result of these, our 
procedures have been reviewed and amended which 
gives a much clearer and efficient process for dealing 
with complaints against members, with informal 
conflict resolution management prioritised to 
mitigate unnecessary acceleration of the formal 
complaints process.

Officers Code of Conduct reviewed and amended 
(25 June 2019)

Organisational values are introduced and 
subsequently embedded in member and 
officer induction and continuing 
development

These messages continue to be reinforced through 
refresher training on code of conduct issues.  
Additional training has been delivered to one 
member on the recommendation of the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales, with a refresher for all members 
held on 10 March 2020.

Members’ Registers of Interest, 
declarations of interest and Gifts and 
Hospitality received are all published online.  
Officers Register of Interests held by HR.

Members asked to review their interests annually and 
make any changes 

Financial Regulations, Whistleblowing 
and Anti-Fraud and Corruption policies 
approved and complied with

No issues have been highlighted in 2019-20.  All 
these policies are due for review and update in 2020.

External Audit The Annual Improvement Report for 2019/20 from 

Page 82

http://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6535&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6557&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6535&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6535&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD229&ID=229&RPID=2148708&sch=doc&cat=13087&path=13087&LLL=-1&LLL=-1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6557&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           9

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Wales Audit Office has not been received to date, 
but their Annual Audit Letter for 2018/19 (presented 
to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 
2020) advised satisfaction that the Authority has 
appropriate arrangements in place to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources

Internal Audit The Authority’s internal auditors, TIAA, have 
confirmed in their annual report that they are 
satisfied that, for the areas reviewed during the year, 
the Authority has reasonable and effective risk 
management, control and governance processes in 
place. 

Business Continuity Following last year’s internal audit review the 
Business Continuity Group has been reconvened and 
has updated key documents.  Further to a follow up 
audit individual teams are documenting their specific 
and local continuity arrangements, with reference 
currently to Covid19

Information Governance Privacy Impact Assessments are required for all new 
proposals involving personal information.  The 
Information Asset Register is updated regularly.  
Freedom of Information and Environmental 
Information Regulations requests are reviewed at 
every Corporate Governance Team and Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting. Members receive 
training on information governance

General Data Protection Regulations General Data Protection Regulations – training 
continues to be delivered to all members and 
relevant staff.  No notifiable breaches in 2019/20 

Service Level Agreements in place for 
legal advice on governance, planning and 
human resources and use of established 
frameworks to secure value for money

Continue to review all service level agreements to 
ensure best practice and value for money. 
Framework agreement put in place early 2020 for 
procurement of Welsh Language translation and 
services.

Monitoring Officer and Section 151 
Officer in place at each committee meeting 
to ensure compliance with law and give 
advice to Members

Complies with CIPFA’s statement on the role of the 
Chief Financial Officer

Monitoring compliance Audit and Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for 
monitoring compliance and working with internal and 
external audit.  

B. Ensuring Openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
We webcast all our Authority and 
committee meetings

Viewing figures have been maintained since we 
started webcasting in 2012 and we are now one year 

Page 83

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s39656/Enc.%201%20for%20Internal%20Audit%20update.pdf


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           10

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
into a second 5-year contract. We continue to work 
with Public-i to test updates and share good practice 
with other users.  We are currently looking at their 
solution for remote attendance in the context of the 
new legislation

Publication scheme on website facilitates 
access to all publicly available information

Publication Scheme

All current and archived agendas and 
minutes of public meetings available on the 
website and are published in accordance 
with standing orders (four clear working 
days). Background information provided via 
hyperlinks as well as appending essential 
information to reports

Online agendas and minutes

Formal and informal consultation methods 
used to engage with the public eg. via 
website, social media and communication 
with town and community councils. The 
Authority goes beyond statutory 
consultation and consults for 8 weeks rather 
than 6, in recognition of the number of 
town and community councils in the Park. 
Public can access all planning applications via 
our website with decisions posted for 6 
months then available on request. 
Neighbour notifications are sent by letter 
not just site notices.

All consultation responses are considered by officers 
and members and policies amended where 
appropriate for recommendation to the Authority.

The Authority has continued to focus on how it 
engages the public with the review of its Local 
Development Plan and gives details of the process 
and timescale on its website.

The Authority has a good record of 
consultation with stakeholders

The Authority began to review its Local 
Development Plan in 2018/19 and has continued to 
consult with communities and stakeholders on how 
they engage with the review. 
 
Building on the place plans developed for Hay on 
Wye and Crickhowell, a draft place plan for Brecon 
has been approved for consultation (11 February 
2020) and discussions are ongoing with a number of 
other communities.  

The Authority convened an agricultural stakeholders 
group to discuss emerging issues around the future of 
farming in the context of the planning system.  This 
was well received and led to commitment to 
continue working together.

Communications A Communications Strategy is in development but 
was delayed due to a change in staffing. The 
Authority’s digital platforms continue to grow and 
provide useful communications channels. 

The Authority engages fully on aspects of its 
work eg.

 Planning – statutory consultee list for all 

Year long development of the Local Nature 
Partnership and interviews with individuals to 
develop objectives and priorities for the Nature 
Recovery Action Plan (approved 9 April 2019)

Page 84

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/local-development-plan-review/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/local-development-plan-review/
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6535&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           11

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
planning applications with responses 
included in reports to committee;

 Full consultation process for review of 
the Local Development Plan and National 
Park Management Plan;

 Consultation on supplementary planning 
guidance

 With tourism providers through the 
Destination Partnership

 Waterfall Country Car Parking Strategy
 Natural Resources Wales
 Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water 
 Local Access Forum

Black Mountain Land Use Partnership continues with 
all relevant private and public landowners in 
accordance with agreed objectives.  Being a cross-
border massif, the positive achievements here are 
drawing useful attention both from Welsh 
Government and DEFRA.

The Authority provides the Secretariat for the Local 
Access Forum, which was actively engaged during the 
drafting of the revised Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan, which the LAF approved prior to its adoption 
by the National Park Authority.

Supporting the steering group for DCWW’s Brecon 
Beacons Mega Catchment project.

Contributing to initial delivery of 
Wellbeing Plans under Well-being of 
Future Generations Act – for Powys, 
Monmouthshire and Carmarthenshire

Officers continue to contribute to Wellbeing 
Delivery Groups of all three authorities.  The lead 
officer left the Authority in December 2019 and input 
will be covered by other officers pending any staffing 
changes under the Change Programme

Partnership working – we liaise and 
collaborate with all major landowners in the 
Park

An 18 month scrutiny report on partnerships was 
concluded with recommendations at the Authority 
meeting on 9 April 2019.  Many of the 
recommendations have been built into the Change 
Programme (refocusing direction and resources to 
fewer priorities), and specific recommendations on 
volunteers addressed separately (see section E 
below) 

Place Plans Supporting Brecon Place Plan (consultation phase 
with a view to final adoption of community derived 
action plan and supplementary Planning Guidance).  
Work to extend place planning continues with 
villages such as Llanspyddid in the context of officer 
capacity and the appetite of local communities

Working with Landowners and 
occupiers to develop integrated sustainable 
land management solutions. 

Holding exploratory discussions with the Meithrin 
Mynydd Advisory Group - graziers associations, 
NRW, WG, DCWW, Fire and Rescue Services, 
Animal and Plant Health Agency, unions and Celtic 
Energy – to develop an area-specific environmental 
land management proposal.

Continuing to support and deliver actions for the 
Black Mountains Land Use Partnership.  Continuing 
to support the Welsh Peatlands Project; continuing 
to deliver the service level agreement for the 
Honourable Artillery Company’s Pencelli Estate. 

Page 85

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6535&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           12

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

Key Work Areas and Policy Forum The four Key Work Areas defined in 2017/18 have 
been redefined into three focus areas:  land use and 
nature recovery, inspiring people and places, and 
communities and rural enterprise. Through the Policy 
Forum members and officers have worked to develop 
themes beneath these which will be delivered by 
project-based initiatives from 1 April 2020.

The Authority publishes a Corporate Plan 
each year setting out its priorities and 
desired outcomes for the year ahead, and 
showing how it will deliver the longer term 
aspirations of the National Park 
Management Plan within the context of the 
‘Taking Wales Forward’ programme for 
government, the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act 2015 and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016

The Corporate Plan was produced in 2019/20 based 
on the four key work areas; the emerging plan for 
2020/21 builds on the work carried out last
year that led to the agreement of the three new 
focus areas and nine work programmes for the 
Authority.

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act Following the Wales Audit Office audit of how the 
Authority was achieving the goals and ways of 
working under the Act the Authority has continued 
to implement suggestions outlined in the report by:

 Better aligning the review of the Local 
Development Plan (LDP) and National Park 
Management Plan (NPMP)

 Developing leaner more effective structures to 
focus on a smaller number of priorities

 Improving the quality of evidence and data
 Focusing on key partnerships which will help us 

achieve our objectives

Project Working The Authority delivers many of its objectives now 
through bespoke projects which will be more clearly 
defined and implemented in 2020/21 with staff and 
financial resources allocated accordingly.  A project 
evaluation methodology has been established for the 
prioritisation and assessment of existing and 
proposed projects.  This methodology gauges the 
contribution to the seven wellbeing goals and the ten 
actions in ‘Valued and Resilient’

National Park Management Plan – the 
Authority has in place a plan to cover 2015-
20

The Authority has aligned the timetable with the 
review of the Local Development Plan.  This has 
enabled a shared approach to the Sustainability 
Appraisal and maximises officer capacity.  

Local Development Plan – the Authority 
has a published LDP in place which sets out 

The Authority commenced its review of the LDP in 
2018/19 and used the new governance structures to 

Page 86



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           13

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
planning policy across the Park maximise input from members and officers through 

the Policy Forum.  A review of the governance 
structures in 2019 concluded that a Policy Working 
Group should be established to focus exclusively on 
the LDP and NPMP.  This was approved by the 
Authority on 10 December 2019 (item 8). The 
Authority has used Planning Policy Wales and the 
Development Plans Manual as its regulatory 
framework for the review

Nature Recovery Action Plan Prepared in line with Wellbeing of Future Generation 
goals and is a response to s6 duty of the Environment 
Act to enhance the resilience of ecosystems

A Health and Wellbeing Position 
Statement is in place

This is a three Welsh Park statement.  The 
Landscapes for Everyone Social Inclusion Position 
Statement has been delayed due to COVID-19 but is 
likely to be adopted by all three authorities in 2020-
21.

Supporting community and environmental 
organisations to deliver their  local 
resilience  aspirations through the 
Sustainable Development Fund, providing 
officer support and funding

The Authority has continued to work substantially 
with local groups and organisations to build 
sustainable proposals addressing their issues and 
aspirations.  The 2018/19 Annual Report is published 
on the website.

Performance monitoring Achievement of planned corporate objective 
outcomes are logged on the Ffynnon database and 
reported to each Audit and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis.  Officers have worked with members 
during the year to provide relevant information in the 
most helpful format which has led to the 
development of an integrated assurance framework.

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

Budget Strategy The Authority has continued to face uncertainty in a 
one-year budget cycle and short-term capital grant 
funding to be spent by 31 March 2021.  This, while 
welcome, has created difficulties in establishing a 
well-structured and strategically-focused capital 
project programme. Wales Audit Office 
acknowledged this in their Annual Audit Letter 
presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 31 
January 2020.

The Change Programme when finalised and 
implemented is intended to help to ensure that the 
organisation is able to prioritise, fund and deliver a 
programme of interrelated projects.  A balanced 
budget has been approved for 2020/21 (on 11 

Page 87

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/sustainability-2/substainable-development-fund/sustainable-development-fund-annual-report/
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           14

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
February 2020) but members were advised again of 
funding uncertainty for 2021/22 and beyond.  

A strong core of specialist and support staff is needed 
to ensure the organisation has the resilience and 
advocacy to manage a large and challenging project 
portfolio.   Robust and effective project management 
processes are being put in place and will be a key 
consideration for the new senior management team.  
Stronger linkages between real-time project delivery 
and financial reporting are being developed.  

The Authority operates officer management of 
budgets allowing easy access to live financial reports. 
Officers are required to effectively and actively 
manage their budgets.  Officers are accountable via 
the Corporate Governance Team and Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee via monthly/quarterly monitoring 
reports, including details on specific projects.

The Authority has focussed on developing a range of 
new funding streams, including sustainable energy 
generation, filming fees, charges for officer time/skills 
and the inclusion of support costs within grant-
funded project applications.

Performance Management and 
Objective Setting

All staff have performance reviews (PMRs) either 
biannually or quarterly.  They report against the 
delivery of objectives and associated outcomes, enter 
data on the performance management system each 
quarter, which is then reported at each Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee for members to scrutinise and 
challenge where necessary.

Objective setting is derived from the National Park 
Management Plan based on management and staff 
capacity, identifying risk at the planning stage and 
putting risk controls in place.

The Authority will look to the Annual Improvement 
Report for 2019-20 from the Wales Audit Office, 
when received, to confirm that the Authority has 
complied with its statutory improvement planning 
duties. 

Culture of continuous review of process 
and focus on continuing improvement which 
enables the Authority to respond to 
external and internal opportunities and 
challenges

A review of the new decision making structures 
approved in June 2018 was carried out in 2019 and an 
interim report made to the Authority on 29 October 
2019.  The Policy Forum has been welcomed by 
members but the Authority has since established a 
Policy Working Group as well to allow greater focus 
on the detail of the emerging LDP and NPMP in 
order to meet statutory deadlines and facilitate the 

Page 88

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7701/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Oct-2019%2011.30%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=10
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7701/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Oct-2019%2011.30%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=10


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           15

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
use of expert panels of stakeholders.

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Member Development – A Member 
Development Framework provides induction 
and continuing development for all members

An annual member development programme is 
produced based on training needs identified by 
members in their annual Personal Development 
Reviews and also corporate/legislative need.  This is 
published on the website and communicated to all 
members. Both the PDR and Exit interview 
processes were reviewed and updated in 2020.

At the Authority meeting on 11 February 2020 the 
Authority was awarded the WLGA Advanced 
Charter for Member Support and Development for 
the third time, one of only two local authorities in 
Wales to hold this.  The WLGA Spokesperson made 
very positive comments about the member support 
in place and the willingness of the Authority to be 
proactive and embrace cultural change.

The Authority  supports learning for its staff 
by:

 funding professional qualifications 
and allows time to pursue these

 Managers training courses
 Career grades
 Opportunity for planning technicians 

to progress to chartered planners
 Wide range of training including 

procurement, business case training

The Authority has supported the National Parks UK 
online learning programme (ELMS) in 2019 and all 
staff are receiving training in this. It is hoped to 
extend this to members in 2020-21.

The Chief Executive attended the Academi Wales 
Winter School for Public Sector Senior Leaders.

The Authority supports its leadership by:
 Members working with officers to 

acquire skills to facilitate succession 
planning for senior members

The Personal Development Reviews help to identify 
members who wish to take on senior roles and they 
are supported to achieve this.  For 2020/21 further 
sessions will be held on chairing skills and creating a 
strong team.

Structural changes have been developed and agreed 
in principle by the Authority during the year to 
provide more effective leadership.  A final model was 
due to be implemented from April 2020 but this has 
been postponed due to COVID-19.

Supporting pre-existing and new volunteers 
and volunteer groups to contribute to 
National Park Management Plan delivery

The Partnerships Scrutiny resulted in a number of 
recommendations relating to volunteers, including 
the appointment of a Member Champion for 
Volunteers and the approval of a Volunteer Policy on 

Page 89

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7734&Ver=4
https://breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/469287/start_time/696000
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           16

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
10 December 2019. The Senior Delivery Team in 
November 2019 agreed a series of operational 
actions to support Volunteering, and introduced 
Guidance and Procedures for Staff Working with 
Volunteers.

F.  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Risk Management is carried out in line 
with good practice and building on previous 
recommendations from Internal Audit

An integrated assurance framework for risk and 
performance has been introduced and subsequently 
refined in 2019/20. This has also been used as a 
model for the reporting of progress against the 
Powys Wellbeing Plan (Public Service Board)

Hierarchical risk management is embedded 
throughout the organisation

Responsibility for risk has been reviewed 
and is now devolved to managers and their 
teams and each directorate reviews risk on 
a quarterly basis.  

The Management Teams review their risk registers at 
least monthly and high level risks are reported to 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee quarterly

A requirement to analyse and mitigate risk has been 
built into the Authority’s partnership and project 
management processes

Managing performance

Reports on performance taken quarterly 
to Audit and Scrutiny Committee, generated 
from the Ffynnon database

All staff have regular Performance 
Management Reviews (PMRs) which 
include a review of objectives, budget etc

Members and officers have worked together to 
improve performance reporting and implemented an 
integrated board assurance framework for 2019/20.

The new arrangements are working well as far as the 
process and mechanisms are concerned, however 
members are keen to see improvements in the 
content of report and officers are working on this.

The Authority will look to the Annual Improvement 
Report for 2019-20 from the Wales Audit Office, 
once received, to confirm that the Authority has 
complied with its statutory improvement reporting 
duties and its statutory improvement planning duties

All financial decisions are taken in the 
public domain (except those deemed to be 
exempt under the Local Government Act 
1972)

All internal financial processes meet CIPFA 
requirements

Statement of Accounts prepared in line with 
requirements

Through webcasting its meetings the Authority 
demonstrates its good financial governance and 
decision making.

The Annual Audit Letter for 2018/19 (presented to 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2020) 
advised satisfaction that the Authority has 
appropriate arrangements in place to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

The Statement of Accounts for 2018/19  was 

Page 90

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           17

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
presented to the Authority on 30 July 2019. 

Pay Policy Statement The Authority adopted a pay policy statement for 
2018/19 on 29 October 2019.

External Audit arrangements are in 
place

Wales Audit Office presented its Audit Plan for 
2019/20 to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 3 
May 2019

Wales Audit Office attend meetings of Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee to present reports

Internal Audit arrangements are in 
place

The Authority appointed TIAA at the start of 
2018/19 and they presented an Audit Strategy and 
Plan to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 3 May 
2019.

A summary of audits carried out in 2019/20 are given 
at Section 7 of this report.

Robust internal controls are in place An annual internal audit plan is presented each year 
to Audit and Scrutiny Committee and all internal and 
external audit reports are included on public agendas

In a report to be presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee on 24 July 2020 TIAA is satisfied that, for 
the areas reviewed during the year, Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority has reasonable and effective 
risk management, control and governance processes 
in place. 

Annual Governance Statement Prepared annually and reviewed by the Governance 
and Member Development Working Group and 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee before approval by 
the Authority.   Due to COVID-19 and the need to 
cancel some meetings, this will go straight to the 
Authority for approval this year, on 22 May 2020, 
although members of the Governance and Member 
Development Working Group reviewed the content 
and made changes at its meeting on 24 April 2020. 

An Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy is 
in place in line with CIPFA Guidance 2014

All staff have been required to sign to confirm they 
have read the officers’ Code of Conduct which 
encompasses conflicts of interest, corruption, bribery 
and use of Authority resources.  This sets out 
minimum expected levels of behaviour as an 
employee

Managing data

A Data Protection Policy is in place and a 
designated Data Protection Officer

Modern.gov electronic committee system is 
used to produce agendas and minutes which 
give online access to the public

The Authority processes requests under the Data 
Protection Act in line with legislation

The Data Protection Officer has a documented 
compliance plan for the Authority and training and 
awareness is an ongoing priority

Page 91

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7726&Ver=4
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7701&Ver=4
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6541&Ver=4
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6541&Ver=4
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6541&Ver=4
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6541&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           18

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

Internal information management protocols 
in place

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
All public Authority and committee 
meetings are webcast, with almost all 
decisions taken in the public domain (except 
those deemed exempt under the Local 
Government Act 1972)

Webcast meetings

A second five year contract was negotiated in 
2018/19.

All agendas, reports and minutes (including an 
archive) are easily accessible on the Authority’s 
website using the electronic committee management 
system, Modern.gov.  The public can also sign up for 
alerts to meetings and search for items of interest.

Informed decision making The Governance and Member Development Working 
Group continues to review agenda formats and used 
the review of new structures to draw up an action list 
of quickly achievable outcomes which are being 
monitored.  Agendas are now more focused with 
more succinct reports and increased use of 
hyperlinks to facilitate access for members to key 
information without overburdening the agenda.

Internal and External Audit The Authority continues to work closely and 
productively with Wales Audit Office and TIAA.

All audit reports are presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee 

The Authority has in place Service Level 
Agreements to provide services for other 
bodies and also to procure services for itself

SLAs continue with Cardiff and Carmarthenshire 
Councils for payroll and HR advice.  Conversely the 
Authority was awarded the tender to deliver an 
annual member induction course for National Park 
members across the UK, for a period of three years, 
for which it receives an annual fee.  

Page 92

http://breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           19

6. Governance Action Plan for 2020-21 (Self Evaluation)

Issue Outcome Lead 
Officer

Completion 
Date

1. Reduced size of 
Authority

a) To implement 
the legislation 
and review 
impact on 
governance

b) To make any 
changes to the 
Scheme of 
Delegation to 
support this

c) Provide 
additional 
member 
development as 
needed

Effective decision 
making with 
appropriate 
participation from 
all members and 
appropriate 
delegation to 
officers

No adverse effect 
on delivery of 
objectives

Democratic 
Services 
Manager

31 March 2021

2. Future Funding As part of National 
Parks Wales to seek 
an integrated and 
longer term 
approach to funding 
opportunities for 
protected 
landscapes

More financial 
certainty to 
achieve objectives

CEO and 
Management 
Team

31 March 2021

3. Implementation 
and review of 
Change 
Programme

a) Implement staff 
changes

b) Refocus 
Corporate Plan

c) Changes to 
Scheme of 
Delegation

d) Officer and 
member training

Delivery of 
integrated 
outcomes across 
focus areas

CEO and 
Management 
Team

31 March 2021

Page 93



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           20

4. COVID-19 Review impact of 
COVID-19 on 
a) Wellbeing of 

Staff and 
Members

b) Resources
c) Ways of working
d) Delivery of 

objectives
e) Accommodation 

needs
f) Lifestyle and 

culture

A more resilient 
organisation

CEO and 
Management 
Team

31 March 2021

7. Significant Governance Issues 2019/20
No significant governance issues were highlighted by external or internal audit in 2019/20.  Reports 
received from the Wales Audit Office are referenced in the Review of Effectiveness above, but the 
Annual Improvement Report for 2019-20 has not yet been received. A summary of internal audit 
assurances is given below:

Identified by Internal Audit Reports 2019/20
All actions agreed and will be reviewed by the Corporate Governance Team in 2020/21 

In its follow up report (presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2020 the internal 
auditors reported that the Authority has made very good progress with the completion of 
recommendations with 82% being implemented and 4 recommendations being implemented. 

Audit Area Level of 
Assurance

Urgent Important Routine Total

Human Resources Reasonable 0 1 5 6
Business Continuity Limited 0 7 3 10
Cyber Security Reasonable 0 2 0 2
Key financial controls Reasonable 0 2 4 6
Health and Safety Reasonable 0 1 2 3
Follow up No assessment Recommendations implemented: 18 (out of 22 – 

82%)
Recommendations in process: 4

Control weaknesses: In their Annual Report TIAA referred to one area (Business Continuity) 
where it was assessed that the effectiveness of some of the internal control arrangements provided 
‘limited' assurance.  Recommendations were made to further strengthen the control environment in 
these areas and TIAA confirmed that the management responses indicated that the 
recommendations had been accepted.

8. Opinion

Page 94

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7739&Ver=4


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           21

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the matters referred to in Part 6 above 
to further enhance our governance arrangements.  We are satisfied that these steps will address the 
need for any improvements identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe                                              Ms Elaine Standen
Chair, BBNPA                                                Section 151 Officer

Date:      Date:  

Page 95



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           22

Annex 1: Action against audit recommendations 2019/2020

Governance /Audit 
report

Proposed improvements How we have addressed 
these

In its Annual Report 2018/19 Wales Audit Office concluded that the Authority had:

 complied with its responsibilities relating to financial reporting and use of resources
 appropriate arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources
 complied with its statutory improvement planning duties
 failed to comply with the publication date of its assessment of published 

performance assessment (The officer responsible for producing the Corporate Plan 
was on secondment to the planning directorate covering maternity leave.  The plan 
was produced under some pressure with officer capacity being severely stretched. 
The plan was published to time in 2018/19.)

 Performance assessment did not include sufficient data or information to provide a 
comparison with the previous year’s performance (improvements to process and 
reporting have been implemented in 2018/19)

While it  did not have any formal recommendations Wales Audit Office  proposed the 
following improvements:

March 2019 Update March 2020

Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 
2015 (WFG Act) 
examinations

Whilst the examination work did not 
make any recommendations, our 
report did set out areas for 
improvement. These include:

 reducing the number of steps, LDP
performance indicators and other
indicators in plans, workplans and
aims and improving the integration
between them;
 improving long-term workforce
planning and evaluation of long-term
impact;
 demonstrating the overall impact 

of its prevention work;
 more effective integration of work 

with partners;
 more systematic approach to
 partnership working to ensure 

intended outcomes are delivered;
 improving the way the public and 

partners are involved in designing 
new services and improving existing 
ones;

• improving the quality and availability 
of data behind collaborations

 Number of indicators in 
Local Development Plan 
reduced

 Better alignment between 
LDP and National Park 
Management Plan and 
aligned to the Change 
Programme/three work 
programmes and nine focus 
areas

 Sharing of data for both 
plans, investing in data 
gathering and obtaining 
agreement from Natural 
Resources Wales to share 
data

 Producing position 
statements for the Authority 
and a draft State of the Park 
Report

 Launch of Nature Recovery 
Action Plan to guide the 
work of the Local Nature 
Partnership

 Improving public 
consultation and adopting 
the Welsh Government’s 
Principles of Public 

Page 96

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           23

Engagement (Authority 
approval delayed by COVID-
19)

 Identifying partners for 
project based work

Identified by Internal Audit Reports 2018/19
All actions agreed and have been reviewed by the Corporate Governance Team during 2019/20 

In its follow up report (presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2019) the 
internal auditors reported that the Authority has made very good progress with the completion of 
recommendations with 71% being implemented and 7% outstanding. Three (21%) recommendations 
were not implemented as they were deemed to be no longer applicable and are therefore closed.

Audit Area Level of 
Assurance

Urgent Important Routine Total

Governance (Performance 
Management)

Reasonable 0 2 0 2

Risk Management (overview) Substantial 0 0 1 1
GDRP Reasonable 0 1 0 1
Key financial controls Reasonable 0 5 2 7
Governance (Strategic 
Control and Corporate 
Governance)

Reasonable 0 2 3 5

Project Management Reasonable 0 4 2 6

Page 97



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           24

Annex 2 : Update of Issues identified in the Authority’s self-evaluation in 2018/19

Issue Outcome Lead 
Officer

Update 2020

1. New 
governance 
structures

Review these 
through the 
Governance and 
Member 
Development 
Working Group

Assurance that the 
structure is 
working well with 
members and 
officers working in 
partnership to 
deliver Authority 
objectives

Julia 
Gruffydd 
(Democratic 
Services 
Manager) 

Review completed and 
reported to the NPA on 
29 October 2019. 
Action plan now being 
implemented and 
monitored by working 
group

2. Member 
capacity and 
organisation
al memory

Ensure that the 
reduction in the 
number of 
members does 
not present a 
risk to 
delivering 
purposes and 
duty

A cohesive 
Authority able to 
fulfil its statutory 
role

Julia 
Gruffydd  
(Democratic 
Services 
Manager)

Reduction to take effect 
from 1 April 2020.  
Member development 
being arranged to 
consolidate chairing skills 
and create a strong 
team. Departing 
members will be 
required to do an exit 
interview and arrange 
handovers of key work 
on which they have led.

3. Partnerships Undertake a 
comprehensive 
review of 
partnerships 
and  projects in 
light of the 
partnership 
scrutiny report  
and Wales 
Audit Office 
report

Using the findings 
of the reports to 
improve and build 
on our partnership 
working to 
progress purposes 
and duty

Steve Gray 
(Delivery 
Director)

Not completed due to 
resignation of officer but 
senior managers 
developing project plans 
to include the role of 
partners, supported by a 
communications strategy

4. Data 
Protection 
and Cyber 
Security

Continue to 
review 
arrangements 
and plans for 
compliance

Mitigate the risks 
from potential lack 
of compliance

Paul Funnell 
(Systems and 
Performance 
Manager)

Data protection and 
privacy compliance 
action plan in place
Cyber security 
arrangements under 
continual review to apply 
best practice regarding 
emerging threats

Page 98



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2019/20                                                                                           25

5. Future 
funding

Keep under 
review the 
uncertainty of 
Brexit in terms 
of future 
sources of 
funding 
(including effect 
on core budget)

Continue to engage 
with Welsh 
Government and 
other potential 
funding providers

Julian Atkins 
(CEO)

Standstill budget 
confirmed for 2020/21. 
Three CEOs continue to 
urge Welsh Government 
to apply longer budget 
cycles.  Additional capital 
funding has been given 
late in the financial year 
2019/20 for spend by 31 
March 2020.

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Recruitment Policy

Name of 
Committee

 NPA

Date 26th May 2020

Report Author Liz Lewis

Job title HR Officer

Contact Details 01874 620426

Purpose of Report To agree a new Recruitment Policy for the Authority

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1

Recruitment Policy

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a)To approve policy

1.1 Introduction or Background

Further to recent internal audit work it was recommended that the Authority has a 
recruitment policy. The policy provides clarity on roles and responsibilities and sets out 
our duty under the Equality Act and Welsh Language requirements.

1.2 Proposals

The policy presented in Enclosure 1 has been considered by the Corporate Governance 
Team and the Authority’s Staff Management Forum has also provided input to the 
document.  Members are asked to approve the new policy.

Page 101

Agenda Item 11



1.3 Implications

A policy is required to ensure the Authority complies with best practice and ensures 
equality in recruitment. Having a policy in place will also assist decision-making in 
relation to the Change Programme when it recommences.

1.4 Risk

There is a risk of claims against the Authority for failure to follow a fair and transparent 
process.

1.5 Conclusion

Approval of the new policy will address the internal audit recommendations

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To approve the policy in line with internal audit recommendations

Page 102



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

1 

 

 3 
  

 
 
 
Author P EliElizabeth Lewis HR Officer 

Revision History NexNext revision due:  January 2022 

 

 
Revision 

date 

Previous 

revision date 

Summary of Changes Changes 

marked 
    

    

    

  
Approvals  This document requires the following approvals: 

 

Title Date of Meeting Version 

National Park Authority  Version 1 

Corporate Management Team  Version 1 

Staff Consultation N?A Version 1 

Staff Management Forum  Version 1 

 

 
Distribution This document is made available on the RK: drive.  It was notified to all staff 

on ******* 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

2 

 

 3 
 
 

 
 
This section covers: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What is the policy? 
 

 
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority recruitment policy is based on the principles 

of equality, objectivity and fairness and all candidates treated consistently and aims to attract 

the best people for the role available. 

 

 

 
 

Principles of the Policy 
 

The Authority is committed to complying with and on current legislation and practice in it 

process and procedures.  

 

 We are an equal opportunity employer. 

 We encourage flexible working which take into account personal circumstances 

where possible within the needs of the operational requirements. 

 Our managers are trained in the recruitment and selection process. 

 The process is fair and objective in selecting the best candidate for the role. 

 We shall monitor and review the effectiveness of our recruitment and selection 

policy and procedures and in particular relation to Equality Legislation. 

 We provide feedback to candidates upon request. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 What is the Policy? 

 Principles of the Policy 
 Roles and Responsibilities 

 The Recruitment Processes 
 

 

Page 104



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

3 

 

 3 
 

Roles and Responsibilities 
 

HR  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Line Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All other persons 

involved in the 

recruitment 

process 

  Provide advice, support and guidance. 

 Prepare and provide information for candidates. 

 Ensure equality, objectivity and consistency by 

assisting the Line Manager 

 Will participate in Interview, selection and decision 

to appoint, but the final decision is the Line mangers. 

 Process all relevant documentation within the set 

timescales. 

 Ensure candidates with special needs are 

accommodated for. 

 Organise relevant corporate training and 

development activities relating to recruitment. 

 

 

 

 

 Responsible for obtaining the necessary 

authorisation before progressing any recruitment 

process. 

 Discuss the appointment request with HR  

 Provide the necessary documentation. 

 Provide information regarding the interview, 

questions. 

 Shortlist candidates in a fair, objective and consistent 

manner. 

 Provide feedback to candidates upon request. 

 Meet agreed timescales. 

 

 

 adhere to the recruitment policy and procedure 

 Shortlist candidates in a fair, objective and consistent 

manner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

4 

 

 3 
 
The Recruitment Processes 
 

Consideration on 

whether to recruit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New Posts  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fixed Terms Posts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Existing Posts 

 

 

Welsh Language 

Standards 

  

 Is the role still required? 

 Can the work be reorganised or accommodated 

in other ways? 

 Are the hours still appropriate 

 Are there any changes in responsibility? 

 Is the post Welsh Essential? Is there a Welsh 

Speaker in the team? 

 Could the post be done as a job share? 

 Are there staff at Risk within the organisation? 

 

 

All new posts, additional to those approved by the NPA if 

they are new to the establishment.   

The new post will require Job Evaluation which will be 

carried out by the Job Evaluation Team. 

It is important to establish the following before initiating a 

recruitment process. 

 

 

Fixed term posts may be additional to the establishment, 

but not required on a permanent basis .e.g. 

 

 Project Based/Externally Funded. 

 Maternity/Parental leave  

 Long Term Sickness Absence 

 Secondment applied for internally. 

 

The Line Manager will need Director Approval. 

 

 

Where aAll existing posts which are already on the 

establishment established and the Line Manager is seeking 

to replace will need Director Approval for replacing. 

 

The Authority is required to adhere to consider the 

requirements of the Welsh Language Standards when 

recruiting for a vacancy advertising a vacancy.  Each post 

must be carefully examined to objectively assess the 

linguistic requirements for the role as the Authority 

needs to have sufficient and appropriate Welsh-speaking 

employees who are sufficiently who are competent in the 

Page 106



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

5 

 

 3 
Welsh language, in both writing and speech according to 

each role.  

 

 

 

 

Redeployment 

 Where possible the Authority will take reasonable steps 

to find suitable employment for employees who are in 

the redeployment pool. 

 

Upon receipt of the request to advertise, HR will inform 

the Line Manager if there are employees whom are in the 

redeployment pool and should be given first 

consideration before being advertised. 

 

 

 

HR Process 

  

The Line Manager will be required to complete a HR1 

form (Appendix) which will set out the requirements for 

the role and which will need to be signed off by the 

relevant aAuthority. 

 

Any roles which are temporary (project funding, 

maternity cover) need to be signed off by sSenior 

management. 

 

The Line line manager will also need to provide the 

necessary information for the advert and relevant Job job 

Description description and persons 

Specificationspecification. 

 

It is required that each manager assess their service area 

with regards to its ability to provide services according to 

the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards and 

to ensure that the Welsh language is not treated less 

favourably than English. 

The Line Manager will also be required to complete the Welsh 

Language Skills Assessment Framework 

 

 

Job Description 

and persons 

Specification 

  

It is important to consider if any changes that are 

necessary.  If a post is new to the establishment it will 

require Job Evaluationsevaluation. If a change is not 

significant then existing job evaluation can be amended. 

 

Welsh Language  The Authority is required to adhere to the Welsh 

Page 107



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

6 

 

 3 
Standards Language Standards when recruiting for a vacancy.  Each 

post must be carefully examined to objectively assess the 

linguistic requirements for the role.   

 

The Welsh Language Measure (2011) which places duties 

upon Local Authorities to meet language standards as set 

out by the Welsh Government and monitored by the 

Welsh Language Commissioner. 

 

The Welsh Language Standards state: 

 

Any official notice that we publish or display must be 

published or displayed in Welsh, and you must not treat 

any Welsh language version of a notice less favourably 

than an English language version.  

 

When we publish or display an official notice that 

contains Welsh language text as well as English language 

text, the Welsh language text must be positioned so that 

it is likely to be read first.  

 

We must ensure that - (a) the text of each page of our 

website is available in Welsh, (b) every Welsh language 

page on our website is fully functional, and (c) the Welsh 

language is not treated less favourably than the English 

language on our website. 

 

As a result: 

 
 Any advertisement placed in English language 

newspapers (or similar material) distributed 

mainly or wholly in Wales will need to be 

bilingual. In Welsh language publications 

advertisements will be Welsh only with a brief 

summary in English. 

 

 Whenever we post publications on our websites, 

the Welsh and English versions will be posted at 

the same time, except where they are produced 

by another organisation and not available 

bilingually. 

 

 Recruitment notices placed in English language 

journals (and other publications) with a UK-wide 

distribution may be in English, unless the post is 

one where the ability to speak Welsh is essential, 

Page 108



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

7 

 

 3 
in which case the notice may be fully bilingual, or 

in Welsh with a brief explanation in English.  Any 

official notices, public notices or staff recruitment 

notices placed elsewhere in Wales will be 

bilingual. 

 Information packs and application forms will be 

provided in Welsh and English for all vacancies. 

 

Historically the recruitment process, as a result of 

previous Welsh Language Schemes, required managers to 

consider whether a post which was vacant required a 

Welsh speaking officer to fulfil the role. The manager 

would need to identify the requirements within the team 

and state on the job description whether Welsh language 

skills were ‘Essential’ or ‘Desirable’ for the post. 

 

Each manager will assess their service area with regards 

to its ability to provide services according to the 

requirements of the Welsh Language Standards and to 

ensure that users of the Welsh language are not treated 

less favourably than English language users. 

 

 

Welsh Language Competency Level Information  

based on ALTE (Association of Language Testers in 

Europe) levels.  See Appendix 2 

 

From the 1st of April 2018 20 all recruitment forms and 

job descriptions will neither have ‘Essential’ nor 

‘Desirable’ but will have the table in Appendix 2 to be 

completed before recruitment:. 

 

This policy removes the requirement for a manager to 

identify whether Welsh language skills are either 

‘Essential’ or ‘Desirable’ for a post. By defining the 

competancycompetency level it reduces anxiety about 

linguistic skills for potential recruits by being clearer 

about the skills required to undertake the role. 

 

The corporate induction for new employees who score 

themselves as level 2 or below (according to table in 

appendix 2) will include a requirement to undertake the 

Work Welsh Welcome (Croeso Cymraeg Gwaith) on-line 

training. Further training is available to progress if and 

when required. This therefore, ensures that this policy 

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.63 cm +
Indent at:  1.27 cm

Page 109



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

8 

 

 3 
will not discriminate against any individuals or groups on 

the basis of language or any other characteristic. 

   

 

The  

Application Form 

 The Authority uses a standard Application Form and 

Equal Opportunities Monitoring Form for all posts; 

guidance notes on its completion are issued to all 

potential candidates.   HR have responsibility for 

forwarding to interested persons a copy of the 

Authority’s Application Pack; this includes:   

 

 Information on Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority and vacancy details. 

 Job Description and Person Specification 

 Application Form and Equal Opportunities 

Monitoring Form 

 

CV’s will only be accepted as supporting Documentation 

and not to be accepted if completed instead of 

completing an application form. 

 

On receipt of both the Application and Equal 

Opportunities forms, the documents are separated, with 

the Equal Opportunities form being used for monitoring 

purposes only.  Application forms, with personal details 

removed, are photocopied and passed to the short-listing 

panel.  At this stage each application form is identified 

only by a candidate number. 

 

Shortlisting   

Initial Sifting/Shortlisting 

 

A minimum of two people are required to carry out the 

short-listing and interview process.   

 

When shortlisting, use the criteria identified in the 

person specification as a checklist to assess an applicant’s 

suitability.  Please use the initial sifting/shortlisting form 

(provided by HR with the application forms). 

 

An initial sift can be done very quickly by determining 

which applications meet the essential criteria as 

determined in the person specification.  Assuming that 

the person specification has been clear about what is 

required, this can be a quick and fair way of sifting 

applications 

Page 110



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

9 

 

 3 
 

The process needs to be fair and objective. Short-listing 

decisions should be justifiable and evidence recorded as 

to why particular applications are short-listed, and others 

not if ever questioned by a rejected candidate.  

 

 

 

 

Disabled 

Applicants 

 The Equality Act 2010 provides disabled people with 

protection from discrimination in a number of areas 

including employment.  This means that we must make 

reasonable adjustments to facilitate the employment of 

disabled people. 

 

In line with this and our Equality Policy, all disabled 

applicants who meet the essential requirements of the 

job as set out in the person specification under ‘essential 

criteria’ are to be guaranteed an interview. 

 

Information on disabilities is not made available to the 

short-listing panel, therefore HR will inform the lead 

manager, after initial short-listing, if any applications need 

to be considered in this way. 

 

The Authority is registered and committed to be a 

Disability Confident Employer. 

 

 

 

The Interview  HR will invite the selected candidates to interview and 

coordinate the process for the day.  

 

The Line manager will need to notify HR if there are any 

workplace tests required and the Questions to be used. 

 

All question will need to be relevant to the requirements 

of the person’s specification. 

 

The Interview Assessment form provided by HR will be 

used to assess candidate during interview.  

 

 The information contained on the form need to be 

evidence and justified again if feedback is required from 

an unsuccessful candidate. 

 

Line Manager will: 

Page 111



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

10 

 

 3 
 prepare and structure the interview together 

i.e. what information do you need to gather 

from the candidates and identify the key ‘open’ 

questions , allocate responsibilities for 

different elements of the interview e.g. 

beginning, middle and end of interview; 

 make sure you have appropriate information 

to answer any questions from the candidates 

(e.g. salary, relocation, preferred start dates) 

 Notify and brief the person who will show 

candidates round the office etc. 

 

HR will: 

 

 put together a timetable; 

 inform candidates; 

 Inform reception of the names of candidates. 

 Organise the room(s) 

 

Remember - the interview is a two way process: an 

opportunity for the applicant to make their case, but also 

an opportunity for the Authority to promote itself as a 

place where people want to work. 

 

The interview can be conducted in either Welsh or 

English or in both languages as appropriate. Depending on 

the competancy level in Welsh (please see appendix 2) 

required the interview should include a means of testing 

the competancy of candidates in Welsh. Welsh speakers 

within the organisation are available to assist with this. 

 

 

Confirmation  

of Employment 

 Once satisfied with the decision made. HR will inform the 

successful candidate. 

 

 

Satisfactory clearance of the above has been received HR 

will arrange for the appropriate documentation to be 

issued. 

 

 Letter of appointment  

 Statement of Particulars (Employment Contract) 

 Local Government Pension Scheme information 

 Appointee Questionnaire 

 

The manager will be forwarded the references on receipt 

Page 112



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

11 

 

 3 
in order to make a decision as to whether or not they 

are satisfactory.  If there is any doubt, the referee could 

be contacted by telephone for further clarification.   

 

 

Prior to making a verbal offer, you will need to contact 

HR to discuss the process for appointing the applicant, 

including salary issues and a start date. 

 

A verbal offer can then be made, however, it must be 

made clear that the offer is subject to receipt of 

satisfactory references, medical clearance and DBS 

clearance (where relevant). 

 

 

 

 

 

References 

 It is a requirement that both references have been 

obtained and deemed satisfactory and clearance has been 

gained from both the medical practitioner and DBS 

(where relevant) prior to the applicant commencing 

employment. 

 

 

 

 

Immigration – 

Right to Work in 

the UK 

  

The Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 1996 makes 

it a criminal offence for an employer to employ those 

who do not have the permission to live or work in the 

UK. 

It requires all UK employers to make basic document 

checks on every person they intend to employ.  Applicant 

will be required to produce the required documents at 

interview and copies taken for HR for checking and 

destroy in accordance with GDPR. 

 

If the successful applicant has a time limit on stay in the 

UK, yearly document checks will be required. 

 

 

 

Safeguarding 

 The Authority has a duty to ensure the suitability of all 

those it employs in whatever capacity.  Enhanced 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check will be made 

on applicants appointed to work with children and 

vulnerable adults. 

 

Page 113



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

12 

 

 3 
For those posts which involve working with children and 

vulnerable adults, the Authority need to exercise 

particular vigilance and apply vigorous selection criteria.  

References, must be checked as previous employment 

history. 

 

 

 

Recruitment of  

Ex Offenders 

 The Authority is keen not to discriminate against people 

who have criminal convictions.  Applicants will be asked 

to disclose their criminal convictions and the Authority 

will carry out DBS checks if the individual is working with 

children or vulnerable adults. 

 

 

 

Occupational 

Health Assessment  

 All new starters will be required to complete an 

Occupational health Assessment Questionnaire and will 

receive a follow up appointment if required.  These 

provide valuable information in order to assist   in 

considering Reasonable adjustment in line the Equality 

Act. 

 

The Line Manger is responsible for any requirements and 

reasonable adjustments in the workplace based on the 

recommendations made by Occupational Health. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unsuccessful Applicants 

   Once the successful candidate has accepted the offer of 

employment, the manager will notify the unsuccessful 

candidates by telephone if possible.  All unsuccessful 

internal applicants must be offered the opportunity for 

feedback as this will give the employee the chance to 

learn and develop from the recruitment process and it 

will also demonstrate that the Authority manages people 

with respect and integrity.  The ‘Lead Interviewer’ must 

give any feedback requested by either an internal or 

external candidate in a constructive and objective 

manner.   

 

 

Interview Expenses   Applicants will not be reimbursed for any interview 

expenses unless the interview/assessment centre requires 

an overnight stay because it is held over two days. 

 

Formatted Table

Page 114



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

13 

 

 3 
 

Induction   All employees to the Authority will receive an induction. 

 

HR will complete and an induction on the first day which 

includes housekeeping and familiarisation with policies 

and procedures. 

 

Line managers are responsible for department induction. 

 

 

Probationary 

Period 

  All new entrants to the Authority will be required to 

serve a 6 month probationary period to give them the 

opportunity for the individuals and Authority to establish 

their suitability for the job.  During this time there will be 

a review at 3 months and then at 5 months to confirm 

their suitability at six months. 

 It is important Line manager take reasonable steps to 

ensure the individual is appraised during this time and 

advise and training given if necessary.  

 

  Probationary Policy    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

14 

 

 3 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

How do I Avoid Discrimination in the Recruitment Process? 

 

As a line manager involved in the recruitment process, you should be aware of the UK anti-

discrimination legislation that prohibits unlawful discrimination on the grounds of sex, sexual 

orientation, gender reassignment, race, religion or belief, disability, marriage and civil 

partnership, pregnancy and maternity and age, the “protected characteristics” under the 

Equality Act 2010.   

 

It is also unlawful to refuse to employ someone on the grounds of membership or non-

membership of a trade union or a criminal conviction that is spent (unless they are in an 

exempt category — ask HR for more information).  

 

The Authority is liable for any discriminatory acts committed by its employees. And if you 

are found to be in breach of the Authority’s Equality Policy in the way in which you have 

conducted the recruitment process and arrived at a decision, e.g. by omitting all women 

from the shortlist, even when suitably qualified, you can also be liable to pay compensation. 

 

Types of discrimination 

 

There are two main types of discrimination — direct and indirect. These are explained 

below. 

Direct discrimination — examples: 

 

 Specifying criteria which are different and which cannot be justified, depending on 

someone’s sex, race, religion/belief, sexual orientation, and age or because they have 

disability, e.g. requiring candidates who are not born in the UK to have more 

experience than those who are born in the UK. 

 Deliberately setting out to exclude persons of a particular sex, race, religion or 

belief, sexual orientation or age or who have a disability, for example requiring 

candidates to be young, male, white and born in the UK. 

 

The Equality Act 2010 introduced two other forms of direct discrimination: 

 

 Associative discrimination 

This is direct discrimination against someone because they associate with another person 

who possesses a protected characteristic. If therefore you learn that a candidate has a 

disabled child and discriminate against them in the selection procedure because of this, this 

will be unlawful associative discrimination. 

 Perceptive discrimination 

Page 116



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

15 

 

 3 
This is direct discrimination against an individual because others think they possess a 

particular protected characteristic. It applies even if the person does not actually possess 

that characteristic. If, for example, you are interviewing a woman and think she might be 

pregnant, and decide not to consider her application further because of this, this will be 

perceptive discrimination whether she is pregnant or not. 

 

Indirect discrimination — examples: 

 

Indirect discrimination occurs when an employer imposes a condition which puts people of 

a particular sex, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation or age at a disadvantage 

compared to others. This could include: 

 

 setting criteria for selection which are to the detriment of women or persons from 

the ethnic minorities because only a small proportion of such people can apply 

compared to the proportion of men or the general population. Alternatively, setting 

criteria which will automatically exclude people with disabilities where the criteria 

cannot be justified, for example insisting on a full City and Guilds apprenticeship for a 

job which does not demand that level of skill or requiring a driving licence where the 

amount of driving in the job is so negligible that this element of work could be dealt 

with easily elsewhere; 

 using tests which cannot be linked to job success but which, perhaps because they 

demand skills in written English, may discriminate against those whose first language 

is not English or those who have learning difficulties; 

 setting a height requirement, for example imposing a minimum height restriction of 

5’9” on job applicants. Although height is not a sex-sensitive criterion in itself, it is 

likely that considerably fewer women than men will be able to comply. It is no 

defence for employers to argue that women or ethnic minorities could theoretically 

comply with the requirement if, in reality, the evidence is that they are unable to; 

 imposing a dress code which specifies that employees are not permitted to wear 

headwear other than the company cap. Such a rule may discriminate indirectly 

against Muslim women who wear the hijab or Sikh men who wear a turban, unless 

the employer can prove that the requirement is necessary, for example on health 

and safety grounds; 

 setting age limits that can’t be objectively justified, e.g. on grounds of health and 

safety in the case of young workers; 

 including selection criteria or duties that are unnecessary to the job in question, 

especially where these have the effect of discouraging those with a particular religion 

or belief etc. from applying or accepting the position. For example, it may not be 

reasonable to reject a candidate for a shelf-stacking job in a large supermarket who 

is unable to handle pork for religious reasons if it only represents a small proportion 

of their job and could easily be done by someone else. Conversely, it may be 

reasonable to reject a waiter who will not serve meat for religious reasons if the 

restaurant has a large meat menu and it is not practicable to redistribute their work. 

 

The Equality Act 2010 extends the concept of indirect discrimination to those with a 

disability. This means that a job applicant or employee could claim that a particular rule or 

Page 117



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

16 

 

 3 
requirement you have in place disadvantages people with the same disability. Unless you 

could justify this, it would be unlawful. 

 

There are three ways in which an employer may discriminate unlawfully during the process 

of recruiting staff: 

 

 in the selection arrangements made for deciding who should be offered the job, 

including advertising and interview arrangements 

 in relation to the terms and conditions of the job which are offered 

 in refusing or deliberately not offering a person employment, for example rejecting a 

particular applicant or deliberately avoiding interviewing someone where this cannot 

be justified. 

 

Any candidate who feels that they have been unlawfully discriminated against may make a 

complaint to an employment tribunal within three months of the alleged act of 

discrimination. 

Note there are some very limited circumstances in which direct and indirect discrimination 

may be justified. Contact HR for further information. 

 

Ensuring a fair recruitment process 

 

In order to ensure a fair recruitment process, you should comply with the following list. 

 

 The employee specification must be written in non-discriminatory terms. Where 

particular experience or qualifications are sought, they must be justified by the 

nature of the job. 

 All advertising should be non-discriminatory. For example, don’t use gender-specific 

language such as “she must be able to type 60wpm”. Review the range of 

publications and other media in which advertisements are placed to ensure these are 

not confined to areas which could exclude or reduce the number of applications 

from persons of a particular sex or race. 

 Carry out the shortlisting systematically and objectively. Avoid making assumptions 

about job applicants and the type of work they would be capable of performing, or 

willing to perform. For example, don’t assume that a woman will not want to carry 

out manual work, that a man will have a problem with a female boss, that an older or 

younger person won’t fit into a team where other employees are of a different age 

bracket, or that a disabled employee will need a lot of time off work for sickness 

absences. 

 Ask all job candidates invited to the interview whether they require any special 

arrangements, e.g. reserving a parking space near the front door for a disabled 

applicant who plans to drive to the interview or permitting a candidate with learning 

difficulties to bring a support person with them to the interview to assist in 

answering questions. Be careful not to discriminate against job candidates with 

particular religious beliefs, e.g. specific dietary requirements or requests for the 

interview to take place at a time that does not interfere with prayer times. 

Page 118



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

17 

 

 3 
 If selection tests are used, they should be specifically related to job and/or career 

requirements and should measure an individual’s actual or inherent ability to do or 

train for the work or career. Tests should be reviewed regularly to ensure that they 

remain relevant and free from any unjustifiable bias, either in content or in scoring 

mechanism. In particular, take care to ensure they do not discriminate against a 

disabled applicant, for example someone suffering from dyslexia, or on grounds of 

race, for example someone who does not speak fluent English. 

 Treat all job applicants fairly at the interview. This means that questions asked 

should relate to the requirements of the job rather than the personal lives or family 

commitments of candidates. 

 Where it is necessary to assess whether a particular candidate is able and willing to 

work late, work shifts or travel away from home, then that candidate should simply 

be asked whether they are able to do so. Don’t assume that the candidate, for 

example, will be unable to work late, work shifts or travel away from home because 

they have children or are married. Do not base recruitment decisions on the 

answers to such questions unless they are an essential requirement of the job which 

can be objectively justified. The interviewer’s aim should be to assess the person’s 

suitability for the job, not to judge their personal circumstances or make 

assumptions about them based on personal views or traditional roles. 

 Avoid vague personal feelings that the person “would or would not fit in” because 

such feelings are inevitably based on personal attitudes rather than facts. It is more 

constructive for the interviewer to ask questions about past working relationships 

and attitudes to team working. 

 Make sure that any pre-employment checks are applied to candidates equally. Don’t 

only ask to see proof of someone’s right to work in the UK if they are a foreign 

national. 

 Ensure that terms of employment, pay, benefits and opportunities offered to a new 

employee are fair, and that any difference in pay compared to other employees is 

justified. There may be many reasons why an employer may wish to offer a lower, or 

higher, salary to a particular employee. Differences in salary due to job performance, 

length of service or level of qualifications may be legitimate, provided there is no 

unlawful bias inherent in such differentials. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

18 

 

 3 

 

 No 

 
 

 

 4, 

Will the worker be  

worKing as a team  

member? 

Does the whole team work in 

the same place at the same 

time, and do team members 

have the same general role? 

(See Note 2) 

 

No 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3   Language Skills flowchart 

ORAL WELSH LANGUAGE SKILLS 

(Additional information is provided in 
numbered Notes at the end of this document) 

Will the duties of the post require the worker to either 
0) speak to the servke  
user, and/or (ii) will the post require an understanding 
of the cultural and social  
background of Welsh speakers who are service 
users, and the ability to relate to  

them? (see Note 1) 

 
V 

Page 120



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

19 

 

 3 

Are there enough workers in the office 

that are fluent enough in Welsh to be able 

to provide the service in / bilingually?  

For guidance on sufficient see Note 3. 

For 

guidance on types of Welsh/  

bilingual services see Note 4 

It is NOT likely that oral 
Welsh 
language skills above Level 1  

will be needed. 
However, the ability to perform some  
or all of the post's duties in English and  

Welsh may be desirable. See above  
section on "Jobs for which bilingual 

skills  
are desirable" 

 

 

Is there an alternative way of .  
providing this service orally  

without causing delay or  
inconvenience for the user? 

 

It IS likely that fluency in oral 
Welsh will be ESSENTIAL for ;his 

post ‘),-:e Note 5 for levels For on 
types of written 

services see Note 
• 

IT IS NOT likely' that oral Welsh will be essential for this, post_ however, the post holder 
may perform some or all of the in English and Welsh In-11/ be desirable for 
post the section on 'jobs for which bilingual skills are desirable' . -see also Note 5 

 

 

for levels; 

Page 121



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

20 

 

 3 

No 

 

 

WELSH LANGUAGE WRITING SKILLS 
(Additional information is provided id numbered Notes at the end of this document) 

Will the post involve written communication with individuals anti/or other bodies/  

partners in English and Welsh? (See Note 6) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Will the worker be  

working as a team  

member? 

  

 

Does the whole team work in 

the same place at the same 

time, and do team members 

have the same general role? 

(see Note 2) 

 
It IS NOT ['likely that fluency in written  

Welsh will be essential for this post.  

However, the ability to perform some  

or all of the duties in English and Welsh  

may be desirable for the post (See the  

section on "Jobs for which bilingual skills  

are desirable"  

(See also Note 5 for skills levels) 

 

 

Are there enough workers in 

the team with sufficiently fluent 

written Welsh skills to be able 

to provide the service in Welsh 

/ (For guidance on  

sufficient numbers, see Note 31 

Is there an alternative way of  

providing the Welsh language  

written service without causing  

delay or inconvenience for the 

user? (See Note 7) 

Page 122



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

21 

 

 3 
It 15 likely that fluency in  

written Welsh will be  

ESSENTIAL for this post (See  

Note 5 for levels) 

It IS NOT Irkely that fluency in oral `Welsh will be essential for tills post. However, the  

ability to perform some or all of the duties in English and Welsh may be desirable for the  

post (See the section on " lobs for which bilingual skids are desirable". (See also Note 5  

for skills levels) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 123



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

22 

 

 3 
 

 

          Welsh Language Skills assessment  

Post:…………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Level of Welsh Language skills required: ALTE (Association of Language Testers in Europe) levels 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Will the duties of the postholder require them to 

speak to service users in Welsh 

 

 

Y / N 

Line Manager comments: 

 

Will the duties of the postholder require an 

understanding of the cultural and social background of 
welsh speakers 

 

Y / N 

Line Manager comments: 

 

Will the post involve written communication to 

service users / other bodies in Welsh 

 

 

Y / N 

Line Manager comments: 

 

% of Welsh speakers in Department 

 

 

% 

HR / Line Manager comments: 

 

Will the individual be working as part of team that 

includes enough Welsh speakers to be able to provide 

a bilingual service 

 

Y / N 

Line Manager comments: 

 

 

 

P
age 124



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

23 

 

 3 
 

 

 

Appendix                                          
ALTE Framework for Ability 
Statements 

Level Listening I Speaking Reading Writing 

1 
• Able to pronounce place names and 

personal names correctly. 
■ Able to understand short text about a 
familiar topic when it is communicated in 
plain 

• Able to write personal names, place 
names, job titles and names of council 
departments.  • Able to greet customers at reception or 

on the phone. 
 language, e.g. basic signs, simple 

instructions, includes agendas. 
• Able to write a message to a colleague, 
e.g. xxxx has left a message / has called 

 • Able to open and close a conversation.     

 • Able to understand the core conversation. • Able to understand most short reports 
and 

• Able to produce a simple short message on 
2 • 

• 

Able to receive and understand simple 
messages on normal patterns, e.g. time and 
place of a meeting, request to talk with 
someone. Able to convey basic information 
and simple instructions. 

 instructions within the expertise of 
work, if there is sufficient time 
allowed. 

 paper or email for a colleague within 
the Authority or a familiar colleague 
outside the Authority 

 • Able to open and close conversations and 
meetings bilingually. 

    

3 
• 

• 

Able to understand and participate in most 
normal day-to-day conversations in the office. 
Able to offer advice to the general public on 
issues relating to the post. Referring to 
specialised or technical terms in English. 

• Able to understand most of the 
reports, documents and 
correspondence that would be 
expected to be discussed in the normal 
course of work. 

• Able to prepare informal messages 
and reports for internal use. 

 • Able to contribute to a meeting or a 
presentation on general issues relating to the 
post; referring to specialised or  
 
technical terms in English. 

    

4 
• 

• 

Able to contribute effectively in internal and 
external meetings in the context of the work 
subject. 
Able to understand differences in tone and 
dialect. 

• Able to understand formal 
correspondence and reports. 

• Able to produce business 
correspondence, short reports, e-mails 
and promotional literature with editing 
assistance. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

P
age 125



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

24 

 

 3 
 • Able to argue for and against a particular case.     
 • Able to chair meetings and answer 

questions confidently. 
    

5 
• Able to contribute fluently and confidently 

with regard to all aspects of daily work, 
including negotiating and advising on technical, 
specialised or sensitive areas. 

• Able to understand reports, documents 
and articles linked to the normal course 
of work, including complex concepts 
expressed in convoluted language. 

• Able to produce business 
correspondence, short reports, e-mails 
and promotional literature to an 
acceptable level with the aid of standard 
language tools.  • Can contribute to meetings and 

provide presentations fluently and 
confidently. 

  • Able to draw up detailed notes while 
taking a full part in the meeting. 

P
age 126



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

25 

 

 3 
Appendix 3 

 

             Human Resources 

             Recruitment Request 

 

 

 

 

No…………

. 

 

(HR Use 

only) 

 

 

Role……………………………………… 

  

No. of 

vacancies……… 

 

 

Description 

 

 

…………………………………………………………………….. 

 

Location 

 

………………………………… 

Budget Agreed 

 

 

£............................ 

 

Panel: 

 

   

 

 

Type of Contract 

 

   

Salary 

 

£.................. 

 

(Please tick boxes 

required) 

Permanent  Full Time 

 

  

 Seasonal  Part Time 

 

  

 Casual  No. of Hours 

required 

 

 

 Freelance  

 

  

  

Fixed Term 

  

Date to Finish 

 

 

 

Welsh Language skills requirement (Summary) 

 

 
 

A Welsh language skills are essential 

 
 

B Welsh language skills need to be learnt when appointed to the 

post 

 

 

C Welsh language skills are desirable;  

Page 127



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

26 

 

 3 
 

D Welsh language skills are not necessary. 

 
 

 

Advertising 

(Please tick boxes 

required) 

Date Advert required   

 Closing Date for applications   

 

 Western Mail 

 

 Abergaveny 

Chronicle 

 

 Brecon & 

Radnor 

 Other 

(please 

specify) 

 

     

 

 

Timetable 

 

 Test 

required? 

 

Y 

 

N 

 

Review job description & person spec with HR 

 

 

Insert date 

 

 

Short listing                                                            

 

Insert date 

 

 

 

Allow 7 working days between short listing 

and interviews 

  

 

 

Interview dates 

 

Insert date 

 

 

Proposed starting date 

 

Insert date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

27 

 

 3 
 

Appendix 4 

             Human Resources 

             Recruitment process checklist 

 

HR Number 

     

    

Date 

 

Initial 

 

1. 

 

Form HR 1 recruitment request received 

  

 

 

2. Recruitment spreadsheet updated   

 

 

3. Job description agreed with LM   

 

 

 Person specification agreed with LM   

 

 

 Advert agreed with LM   

 

 

4. Translation  

 

 Sent Rec’d 

 Job description 

 

Purchase Order No. 

 

  

 

 

 Person specification HR 

 

£……………………….. 

  

 

 

 Advert 

 

   

 

 

 Staff Structure Chart    

 

 

    

Date 

 

Initial 

5. Job Pack produced English   

  Welsh  

 

 

6. Vacancy advertised    

 Internal   

 

 

 Western Mail Purchase Order No. 

HR 

 

 

 

 Brecon & Radnor Purchase Order No. 

HR 

 

 

 

 Abergavenny Chronicle Purchase Order No. 

HR 

 

 

 

 Other 1 Purchase Order No.   

Position: 
 
............................................................................................
.. 

Page 129



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

28 

 

 3 
HR  

 Other 2 Purchase Order No. 

HR 

  

 Other 3 Purchase Order No. 

HR 

  

 Website 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

29 

 

 3 
 

 

Appendix    Human Resources 

                   Appointee Checklist 

HR No.  

Name:................................................. 

 

Post:................................................... 

  

Date 

 

 

Initial 

 

1. 

 

Successful candidate advised 

  

 

 

 

2. Send to appointee     

 Contract issued WELSH  

 

ENGLISH 

 

 

 

 Statement of written particulars WELSH  

 

ENGLISH 

 

 

 

 Appointment letter  WELSH  

 

ENGLISH 

 

 

 

 Equality Monitoring Form (if not received during 

recruitment) 

  

 

 

 Pension form   

 

 

 Banking details form   

 

 

 Medical information form & SAE   

 

 

 Personal Details Form 

 

   

 New Starter HMRC form 

 

   

 

 

3. References    Sent Received 

 Reference No.1: Name   

 

 

 Reference No.2: Name   

 

 

 

 

4. Forms returned     

 Signed statement of written particulars   

 

 

 Bank details form    

Page 131



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

30 

 

 3 
 

 Pension Form  

Y / 

N 

 

 

 

 Medical Form     

 

 Qualifications 

 

   

 Personal details Form 

 

   

 New Starter HMRC form 

 

   

  

I.D. No.1............................................................. 

   

  

I.D. No.2............................................................ 

   

  

I.D. No3................................................................ 

   

 

 Variation / New Starter form send to Cardiff 

Payroll 

 

   

 Advise Powys Pension 

 

   

 Update FTE Calculator 

 

   

 

5. Induction    

Date 

 

Initial 

 IT Advised for email access   

 

 

 Finance advised   

 

 

 Members & Staff advised of new starter  

 

 

 

 

 Induction pack produced   

 

 

 Book CEO Induction presentation & Tour of 

Park 

 

 

  

 Access card ordered from Reliance Hi-tec   

 

 

 Update Photo charts & Staff Structure charts 

 

   

 CRB / DBS Check completed 

 

   

Page 132



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

31 

 

 3 
 Driver’s Declaration Form completed 

 

   

 

 

6. Probation reports   Sent Received 

 3- Month report   

 

 

 6- month report   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

File Completed Date: 

Page 133



2 
             Recruitment Policy 

32 

 

 3 

P
age 134



                            

          
 

1.1 v.2 04/03/2014/02/20 
 

33 

 

 
 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Travel and Subsistence Policy

Name of 
Committee

 NPA

Date 26th May 2020

Report Author Liz Lewis

Job title HR Officer

Contact Details 01874 620426

Purpose of Report To agree revisions to the existing policy to bring it up to 
date.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1

Travel and Subsistence Policy
Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) Members are asked to approve the revised policy

1.1 Introduction or Background
Further to recent internal audit it was recommended that the Authority updates its 
existing Travel and Subsistence Policy as it has not been updated for some time. 

1.2 Proposals

To approve revisions to the existing policy (see Encl 1) to bring it up to date.

1.3 Implications

To increase the travel and subsistence allowances to bring them in line with average 
allowances as negotiated through the NJC . 

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



1.4 Risk

The revisions to the Policy will mean slightly larger subsistence claims but the Policy is 
simply being updated to reflect the allowances agreed nationally.

1.5 Conclusion

To bring the policy up to date in line with Audit requirements

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Members are asked to approve the revised policy

Page 138



                            

              Pay & allowances 
             2.1  Staff Expenses 
 

2.1 v.2 04/03/2030/01/2030/01/2021/01/20 1 

2 
Author P EliElizabeth Lewis HR Officer 

Revision History NexNext revision due:  January 2022 

 

 
Revision 

date 

Previous 

revision date 

Summary of Changes Changes 

marked 
    

    

    

  
Approvals  This document requires the following approvals: 

 

Title Date of Meeting Version 

National Park Authority  Version 1 

Corporate Management Team  Version 1 

Staff Consultation N?A Version 1 

Staff Management Forum  Version 1 

 

 
Distribution This document is made available on the K: drive.  It was notified to all staff 

on ******* 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Tab stops:  5.24 cm, Left

Page 139



                            

              Pay & allowances 
             2.1  Staff Expenses 
 

2.1 v.2 04/03/2030/01/2030/01/2021/01/20 2 

2 
 
 

This section covers: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Who does this cover? 
 

This policy covers all NJC and JNC employees (except CEO grade) of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority. 

 

 
Claiming Expenses 
 
When can I claim 
expenses? 

 You can claim if you incur necessary expenses while out 
on official business.  These might include meals, car 
parking charges, entrance fees and small items 
purchased on site such as batteries for example. 

   
When can I claim 
meal expenses? 

 If you are away from your normal place of work on 
Authority business (and are unable to travel home or 
back to your normal base) you can claim meals 
expenses.  You must however be away during the 
periods detailed below under 'Staff Expense Rates' in 
order to qualify for meal expenses. The amount you can 
claim is the lower of either the amount you actually 
spend or the allowance shown below. 
 
If you are away overnightovernight, you can also claim 
overnight allowances - a higher rate is payable for stays 
in London - see the following page for current amounts. 
 

   
What are out of 
pocket expenses? 

 These relate to incidental expenses incurred by staff who 
are staying away from home overnight, e.g. newspaper. 

   
How do I claim my 
expenses? 

 These are included on your travel claim, with mileage and 
other transport costs. (Travel and expenses forms are 
available from Office Servicesin Signpost), which must be 
authorised by your line manager.  If you have any queries 
about what you can claim for, please check the position 
with them in the first instance.   In all instances you must 
provide receipts for any expenses, together with details 
of your journey and its purpose.   

   

 Who does this cover? 

 Claiming expenses 

 Staff expense rates 

Page 140



                            

              Pay & allowances 
             2.1  Staff Expenses 
 

2.1 v.2 04/03/2030/01/2030/01/2021/01/20 3 

2 
 

 
When are the cut off 
dates for claiming 
expenses 

 As for mileage, the previous calendar month's expenses 
are claimed by the 5th of the following month and will be 
paid with salary at the end of the following month 

   
When will I receive 
reimbursement? 

 Expenses claimed for a calendar month will be paid with 
salary at the end of the following month 

 
 

 
Staff Expenses Rates   

Effective from 1st November 2007******* 
 
 

Current Subsistence Rates £ Times 
   

Breakfast 6.005.18 Over 4 hours before 11 a.m. 

Lunch 7.1210.00 Over 4 hours including 12 – 2 
p.m. 

Tea 2.805.00 Over 4 hours including 3 – 6 
p.m. 

Dinner 8.7715.00 Over 4 hours ending after 7 
p.m. 

   

   

Overnight allowance 97.95100.00 Accommodation costs only 

Overnight allowance (London) 1320.00 Accommodation costs only 

Staying with Family/Friend 25.00 Within 1.5hrs away from 
destination 

   

Out of pocket expenses   

Per night 43.98.00  

Per week 20.0016.20  

 

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Position Statement on Peatland, River and Wetland Restoration

Name of 
Committee

 NPA

Date May 26th 2020

Report Author Dr Paul Sinnadurai FCIEEM

Job title Natural Resources Manager

Contact Details Paul.sinnadurai@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report For NPA to adopt the third of three position statements on 
landscape and biodiversity

Single Integrated 
Assessment

If adopted, the position statement will have a positive impact on the 
Authority’s corporate goals, the Well-Being goals, the SD principle, a 
neutral impact on the use of the Welsh language, no impacts of itself on 
resources (though there are resource implications for implementing 
objectives and actions triggered by the statement).  Its adoption will have 
a direct bearing on Members’ decision making.

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 The position statement

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To adopt the position statement.

b) To recognise the policy and resource implications 
of objectives and actions driven by the position 
statement.

1.1 Introduction

As the third of three position statements prepared by the Landscape and Biodiversity Key 
Work Area*, this one has been discussed and amended following first reading at Policy Forum 
on March 13th 2020.

*Climate change and nature recovery; woodland restoration and expansion; and peatland, river 
and wetland restoration.

Page 143

Agenda Item 13

mailto:Paul.sinnadurai@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.2 Proposals

For the Authority to adopt the position statement and to use it to influence decision making, 
drive actions to mitigate and adapt to the consequences of global warming and to achieve 
nature recovery.

1.3 Implications

This and the other position statements align with:
o Recommendations in Valued and Resilient;
o The Natural Resources Policy focus on delivering nature-based solutions, 

increasing renewable energy, resource efficiency and taking a place-based 
approach;

o Emerging priorities in the four Area Statements affecting this National Park;
o The Park’s Nature Recovery Action Plan; and
o The Welsh Government’s letter to Chief Planning Officers (October 23rd 2019) 

instructing them that local planning authorities must be proactive in ensuring that 
biodiversity conservation and enhancement and the resilience of ecosystems are 
material planning considerations and that developments that fail to deliver this 
must be refused.

This position statement also aligns with emerging evidence and guidance to Welsh Government 
provided by the Welsh Peatlands Project.

The position statements are timely because they will guide the development of LDP policy and 
National Park Management Plan priorities.  They will also help to position the Authority in the 
event that the Welsh Government is able to launch a new post-Brexit Environmental Land 
Management Scheme following consultation on “Sustainable Farming and Our Land.”
They also align with the proposed work streams for Land Use and Nature Recovery but at the 
time of writing, the latter are in draft form.  We await a clear indication of what resources will 
be allocated to deliver on this larger, essential agenda.

1.4 Risk

The climate and nature emergencies spell out the risks very clearly and loudly.  There is no 
time to delay; we have to show leadership in our decisions, actions and in who and what we 
support going forwards.  The public at large need help and assurance; so too do land managers; 
and so too do our staff.  Within this upland, wetland and sparsely wooded landscape possessing 
a high number of strategically and culturally important river systems, there is a lot of scope and 
likely to be a lot of public support for restoring peatlands, rivers and wetlands; and this will be a 
key area for negotiation with the agricultural and land management sector.  A key will be to 
secure sufficient interest and cooperation within the sector and to retain sufficient skills and 
staff to help deliver directly and through fund raising, partnerships and volunteers.  
Transformative change is called for in the global evidence reports and this statement is a 
statement of change.

Page 144



1.5 Conclusion

For Wales and the National Park to make a meaningful contribution to nature recovery and 
mitigating the impacts of climate change, the logic of striving for more, bigger, better and more 
joined up places for nature is indisputable.  Nature recovery and the climate emergency require 
transformative changes, quantum shifts in effort by everyone, now.  Adopting this and other 
position statements nail this Authority’s colours to the mast, and will help to drive our 
ambition, attitude and determination, in this instance, for restoring peatlands, rivers and 
wetlands.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To adopt the position statement.

b) To recognise the policy and resource implications of objectives and actions 
driven by the position statement.

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

A Statement on Peatland, River and Wetland Restoration 

Dr Paul Sinnadurai FCIEEM  

Version 3 March 13th 2020 

Reviewing comments received from: 

Dr Brad Welch 

Beverley Lewis 

Chris O’Brien 

Policy Forum March 13th 2020 

 

Date approved by BBNPA: 

Date for review (set at two years from approval date): 

The issue 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s report1 (August 2019), coupled with the 

Intergovernmental Science Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services report2 (May 2019) each 

advise that we must achieve transformative change to limit annual average global temperature increases to 

within 1.5oC of 1990 levels, and to reverse the alarming decline in global biodiversity during this 

Anthropocene extinction event.  We acknowledge the IPCC priorities: first, to reduce emissions; second, 

to halt the loss of existing habitat and restore where possible; and third, afforestation and habitat creation. 

Safeguarding and restoring peatlands, rivers and wetlands are integral to this, especially in an upland, peat- 

and wetland-rich, though woodland-poor National Park.  The Welsh Government has missed its ambition 

of bringing all of Wales’ peatlands into restoration management by 2020 and is due imminently to publish a 

new Ministerial Statement on Peatlands.  In turn, the Local Nature Partnership’s Nature Recovery Action 

Plan, “A Future with Nature at its Heart,”3 includes several priorities, the peatlands and wetland focus being 

to “agree primary ecosystems and/or geographic areas for NRAP focussed project development and funding to 

support the goal of ‘bigger, better and more joined up’ nature recovery networks;” and to “Raise awareness and 

understanding of our upland habitat networks in order to foster greater connectivity between local people and the 

uplands and encourage more nature-friendly management practices.” 

The evidence 

A range of studies has illustrated the multiple benefits of peatland restoration (Appendix 1).  Among the 

many options for removing atmospheric CO2 equ or preventing further land-based CO2 equ emissions, 

peatland restoration is a proven method.  Whilst peatland restoration is also driven by the need to restore 

nature and landscape, protecting and restoring heavily eroded and drained peatland is particularly 

important for preventing further CO2 equ emissions; this type of peatland damage is more prevalent in the 

Brecon Beacons National Park than elsewhere in Wales. 

We are already active in a range of peatland restoration projects including the Welsh Peatlands Project, 

the Black Mountains Land Use Partnership, the Waun Fignen Felen bog restoration project, a range of 

upland path restoration projects benefiting blanket bog, and several projects benefiting lowland raised bogs.  

We also support applied research benefiting blanket and raised bogs (Appendix 1). 

 

 

                                                           
1 https://www.ipcc.ch/report/srccl/ 
2 https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystem-services 
3 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNPA-Nature-Recovery-A4-ENG-WEB.pdf 

Page 147

https://www.ipcc.ch/report/srccl/
https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystem-services
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNPA-Nature-Recovery-A4-ENG-WEB.pdf


 

2 
 

Our analysis 

The multiple benefits that healthy and functioning peatlands, rivers and wetlands provide, where they are 

already rich in biodiversity, include: 

CO2 sequestration 

Healthy carbon and oxygen cycles 

Natural food 

Water 

Water quality improvement 

Water infiltration into the landscape 

Flood amelioration 

Soil ecology conservation 

Rich and varied nature 

Energy 

Landscape screening 

Landscape connectivity 

Recreation; and 

Human health and well-being. 

Peatlands, rivers and wetlands are affected by a range of issues: 

Upland influences on the moderate rather than good ecological status for most of the Park’s rivers; 

Upland influences on the sub-optimal ecological condition and status of Special Areas of 

Conservation (Rivers Usk and Wye, Llangors Lake, Brecon Beacons, Usk Bat Sites) and Sites of 

Special Scientific Interest; 

The actively draining and eroding peatlands, with significant areas of bare and ‘eroded peat on 

blanket bogs; 

The historic effects of overgrazing and atmospheric pollution, favouring species like purple moor 

grass; 

The high vulnerability of blanket bogs to arson-related wildfires; 

Securing and maintaining the right levels of mixed grazing and shepherding in the uplands; 

Eliminating illegal off-road vehicle use in the uplands; 

Soil exposure and erosion leading to river pollution; 

The paucity of vegetated river corridors on main rivers; 

The increase and spread of riparian and aquatic Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS); 

The declining freshwater fisheries on the Wye, Usk and Taf catchments; 

Restoring semi-natural broadleaf and riparian woodland to improve water infiltration, trapping of soil 

sediment, and improving soil ecology and biodiversity; 

Resolving access to water for recreation by anglers and water craft users; 

Eliminating water pollution from domestic, built and agricultural sources; 

Delivering sustainable and resilient drinking water supply and waste water treatment networks in 

response to demand; 

The impacts of riparian squeeze - loss of riparian vegetation combined with lower river discharge 

levels and encroachment by agriculture and development;  

Improving water quality in the Llangors Nitrate Vulnerable Zone; and 

Raising public awareness of peatland, river and wetland conservation. 

The Park’s peatlands, rivers and wetlands are profiled (Appendix 2). 

Actions needed for effective peatlands and wetland restoration 

The predominantly moderate rather than good ecological status of the Park’s rivers means that these and 

their associated wetlands require ecological restoration.  This includes reducing and eliminating the adverse 

impacts of abstraction, soil erosion, pollution, habitat fragmentation, urbanisation and INNS.  The main 

sectors influencing these habitats include the Welsh Government, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, Natural 

Resources Wales, the National Trust Wales, the Canal and Rivers Trust, the Wye and Usk Foundation, 

private riparian and upland landowners, farmers, other land managers and the National Park Authority. 

The Park has at least five identifiable peatland and wetland delivery areas suitable for integrated land 

management programmes: 

Page 148



 

3 
 

i. Mynydd Du and Western Great Forest and Tawe headwaters; 

ii. Eastern Great Forest – Manor Penderyn – Taf - Central Beacons (and Mynydd 

Llangynidr Mynydd Llangattock); 

iii. Black Mountains; 

iv. Llangors – Wye catchment; and 

v. Usk catchment. 

We also need: 

A unified peatlands, rivers and wetlands restoration programme 

A long term, fully funded Environmental Land Management Scheme and advisory service 

A long term public awareness and involvement programme 

A definition for the Favourable Conservation Status4 of peatlands, rivers and wetlands in the 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

Setting objectives, a pathway and timetable to achieve FCS including: 

Protecting and restoring all bare, eroding and drained peatland 

Introducing sustainable integrated land management, in particular low intensity 

mixed grazing and fuel load management 

Restoring and expanding floodplain woodland 

Restoring riparian woodland 

Safeguarding existing and creating new ponds and wetland marginal zones 

Controlling and wherever possible eliminating riparian and aquatic INNS 

Eliminating pollution and soil erosion  

Recovering a more even river discharge throughout the year 

Safeguarding the historic environment 

Providing just, fair and equitable access to water for all recreation users 

Providing just and fair incentives to land managers for contributions to nature-based 

enhancements that provide public benefits 

Insisting on the polluter pays principle 

Reducing water consumption 

Increasing landscape resilience through water retention 

Achieving a better quality built environment within ecologically rich river valleys 

Maximising the contribution of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 

Permitting no new building within floodplains whilst 

Commissioning research on suitable building within floodplains. 

 

As well as actions on our land and those we carry out on behalf of other landowners on their land, we 

would welcome opportunities to advise and assist landowners to maximise opportunities to restore their 

peatlands, rivers and wetlands by: 

Implementing restoration plans for eroded and drained peatlands; 

Restoring grass-dominated blanket bogs to healthy peatlands; 

Managing lowland raised bogs, valley mires and fens for high nature value; 

Avoiding burning and eliminating arson and wildfires on blanket bog; 

Restoring riparian vegetation along river corridors; 

Restoring floodplain wetlands and wooded areas; and 

Helping landowners to develop their own restoration ideas and plans. 

  

                                                           
4 https://ieep.eu/publications/how-is-favourable-conservation-status-being-defined-across-the-eu 

Page 149

https://ieep.eu/publications/how-is-favourable-conservation-status-being-defined-across-the-eu


 

4 
 

Appendix 1 

Multiple benefits of peatland restoration 

The Welsh Peatlands Project (Sustainable Management Scheme 2017 – 2020 http://bit.do/fq4kG), for which 

the BBNPA was a co-developer and is on the steering group, is producing ten project outputs to improve 

the understanding of the distribution and extent of different peatlands, prioritise where restoration should 

happen, promote the IUCN peatland code, develop skillsets for peatland restoration and establish a 

research platform for peatland restoration.  These outputs will be influential in the Welsh Government’s 

future approaches to peatland conservation and restoration in Wales. 

As one of its project outputs, the Welsh Peatlands Project completed an assessment of the peatlands at 

Waun Rydd a Craig y Fan Du in the Central Beacons for eligibility under UK Peatland Code; Waun Rydd is 

now eligible. 

Information on other peatland restoration projects in Wales and the UK is available via the UK Peatlands 

Programme web site, including the UK Peatland Code:  https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/. 

The UK Peatlands Programme Commission of Inquiry provides a useful compendium of applied research 

and advice on peatland management:  http://bit.do/fq4kG 

The approach of delivering multiple benefits is also supported by RSPB’s mapping storyboard of places for 

nature that are fighting climate change. 

 

 

Peatland restoration work so far in the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Most peatland restoration work in the Brecon Beacons National Park has been and continues to be 

delivered directly and under contract by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 

In 2010, an MSc demonstrated the significant benefits in terms of avoided CO2 emissions and vegetation 

recovery from the bog restoration work at Waun Fignen Felen on the Western Great Forest (Mynydd Du 

SSSI), where restoration work continues:  R:\Discover\Projects\WFF\Shaun Lewis Dissertation 

Presentation Final 10.pptx. 

Over the past 10 years, the BBNPA has achieved 140 ha of peatland restoration work, mainly the 

protection of bare, eroded and gullied peatlands:  

R:\Discover\Subjects\Habitats\Peatlands\BBNPA_PeatlandRestorationProjects_Historic_200129.XLSB. 

Based on the method developed in 2009 (Estimating the costs and benefits in carbon dioxide emissions at 

Waun Fignen Felen, using helicopters to transport protection materials, Sinnadurai 2009), and assuming a 

Page 150

http://bit.do/fq4kG
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/Craig%20y%20Fan%20Ddu%20&%20Waun%20Rydd%20Peatland%20Assessment.docx
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/Craig%20y%20Fan%20Ddu%20&%20Waun%20Rydd%20Peatland%20Assessment.docx
https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/
http://bit.do/fq4kG
https://rspb.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=2b383eee459f4de18026002ae648f7b7
https://rspb.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=2b383eee459f4de18026002ae648f7b7
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Projects/WFF/Shaun%20Lewis%20Dissertation%20Presentation%20Final%2010.pptx
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Projects/WFF/Shaun%20Lewis%20Dissertation%20Presentation%20Final%2010.pptx
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/BBNPA_PeatlandRestorationProjects_Historic_200129.XLSB
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/Estimating%20the%20profits%20and%20losses%20in%20carbon%20dioxide%20emissions%20at%20Waun%20Fignen%20Felen.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/Estimating%20the%20profits%20and%20losses%20in%20carbon%20dioxide%20emissions%20at%20Waun%20Fignen%20Felen.pdf


 

5 
 

20 year restoration horizon,140 ha of peatland restoration will have achieved an estimated 2,576 tonnes 

CO2 equivalent fixed by this restored area of bog over 20 years or 128.8 tonnes per year. 

In 2015, the BBNPA commissioned a report on “Mapping and Assessing the Status of Upland Peat Bodies, 

Brecon Beacons National Park,” (Ardeshir, D. 2015).   

In 2017, using this report, the BBNPA provided the National Parks Partnership LLP with a proposal for a 

payments for ecosystem services agreement with a suitable corporate sponsor:  R:\Discover\Projects\PES 

Pilot\National Parks Partnership LLPpeatlandsPESpilotV1.pdf. 

Peatland-based research in the BBNP  

Pending a literature review and knowledge transfer exercise, and setting local research findings within a 

strategic context (e.g., the Commission of Inquiry into Peatlands, Welsh Peatlands Research Platform), the 

BBNPA has [co]-supported and [co]-sponsored, and continues to do so, numerous research projects on 

the status, distribution and carbon density of the Park’s blanket and raised bogs; which is a growing area of 

research.  Examples of completed research include: 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Aberystwyth\Shaun L_REMOTE 

SENSING OF PEATLAND DYNAMICS BETWEEN 1945 AND 2010 ON WAUN FIGNEN FELEN BOG 

SOUTH WALES (1).pdf – effectiveness of peat bog restoration on avoiding CO2 losses. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & 

theses\Bangor\TraethMawr_EmmaPharoah_MS_2018.pdf – environmental conditions and wetland 

vegetation at Traeth Mawr. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & 

theses\CantrefCatchment_JMatthews\Joanna_Matthews_THESIS_2015_Geomorphological_and_meteorol

ogical_controls_of_suspended_sediment_dynamics_in_upland_Wales (1).pdf – sources and causes of ‘red 

events’ in Cantref Reservoir. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Exeter\Rhian Ball 2019 restoration 

success at WFF based on C accumulation.pdf – success of peatland restoration at Waun Fignen Felen based 

on carbon accumulation. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & 

theses\Reading\25001025_GV3GED_Dissertation Emma Adams_190715.pdf – palaeological vegetation 

reconstruction on the Waun Ddu bog, Mynydd Du. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & 

theses\Reading\Ben_Mitchell_24001169_GV3GED.pdf – assessing the suitability of peatland restoration at 

upland and lowland sites. 

R:\Discover\Subjects\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Reading\Freya Hutchings_180501.pdf 

– palaeo-ecological assessment of herbivore activity and climate change. 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Reading\George_Biddulph_TraethMawr_180518.pdf 

– reconstruction of mid- to late-Holocene vegetation at Traeth Mawr. 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Reading\GV3GED_Dissertation_25007576 Final 

Richard Lowther.pdf – the impact of Late Quaternary vegetation change and human activities on mountain 

ecosystems. 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Reading\James Preston Dissertation Final (1).pdf – 

Late Devensian Late Glacial climate and environmental change. 

Page 151

file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/ADAS_Peat_Final/Peat%20Mapping%20Report%20Final_ADASwithMap_150708.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Habitats/Peatlands/ADAS_Peat_Final/Peat%20Mapping%20Report%20Final_ADASwithMap_150708.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Projects/PES%20Pilot/National%20Parks%20Partnership%20LLPpeatlandsPESpilotV1.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Projects/PES%20Pilot/National%20Parks%20Partnership%20LLPpeatlandsPESpilotV1.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Aberystwyth/Shaun%20L_REMOTE%20SENSING%20OF%20PEATLAND%20DYNAMICS%20BETWEEN%201945%20AND%202010%20ON%20WAUN%20FIGNEN%20FELEN%20BOG%20SOUTH%20WALES%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Aberystwyth/Shaun%20L_REMOTE%20SENSING%20OF%20PEATLAND%20DYNAMICS%20BETWEEN%201945%20AND%202010%20ON%20WAUN%20FIGNEN%20FELEN%20BOG%20SOUTH%20WALES%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Aberystwyth/Shaun%20L_REMOTE%20SENSING%20OF%20PEATLAND%20DYNAMICS%20BETWEEN%201945%20AND%202010%20ON%20WAUN%20FIGNEN%20FELEN%20BOG%20SOUTH%20WALES%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Bangor/TraethMawr_EmmaPharoah_MS_2018.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Bangor/TraethMawr_EmmaPharoah_MS_2018.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/CantrefCatchment_JMatthews/Joanna_Matthews_THESIS_2015_Geomorphological_and_meteorological_controls_of_suspended_sediment_dynamics_in_upland_Wales%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/CantrefCatchment_JMatthews/Joanna_Matthews_THESIS_2015_Geomorphological_and_meteorological_controls_of_suspended_sediment_dynamics_in_upland_Wales%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/CantrefCatchment_JMatthews/Joanna_Matthews_THESIS_2015_Geomorphological_and_meteorological_controls_of_suspended_sediment_dynamics_in_upland_Wales%20(1).pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Exeter/Rhian%20Ball%202019%20restoration%20success%20at%20WFF%20based%20on%20C%20accumulation.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Exeter/Rhian%20Ball%202019%20restoration%20success%20at%20WFF%20based%20on%20C%20accumulation.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/25001025_GV3GED_Dissertation%20Emma%20Adams_190715.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/25001025_GV3GED_Dissertation%20Emma%20Adams_190715.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/Ben_Mitchell_24001169_GV3GED.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/Ben_Mitchell_24001169_GV3GED.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/Freya%20Hutchings_180501.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/George_Biddulph_TraethMawr_180518.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/GV3GED_Dissertation_25007576%20Final%20Richard%20Lowther.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/GV3GED_Dissertation_25007576%20Final%20Richard%20Lowther.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Reading/James%20Preston%20Dissertation%20Final%20(1).pdf


 

6 
 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Swansea\C 

Milree_747717_MSc_Dissertation_carbon 2014.pdf- influence of water table and soil temperature on CO2 

emission rates. 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Swansea\Deborah Land Final Dissertation sent 

February 4 2014.pdf - historical environmental conditions at Waun Fignen Felen. 

..\..\..\Research\Completed research reports & theses\Swansea\DonnaCarless_PeatCarbonThesis_2015.pdf 

- carbon stocks and accumulation rates in raised bogs. 

Additionally, at the time of writing, the Welsh Peatlands Research Platform (Swansea University) is 

developing several post-graduate research proposals for the BBNP. 

River and wetland-based research in the BBNP 

Numerous dissertations and post-graduate theses have been published for the BBNP though few of these 

have been collected to date.  Examples include: 

Larsen, S. and Ormerod, S. J. (2010). Combined effects of habitat modification on trait composition and 

species nestedness in river invertebrates. Biological Conservation 143:2638-2646. 

Larsen, S. and Ormerod, S. J. (2014). Anthropogenic modification disrupts species co-occurrence in stream 

invertebrates. Global Change Biology 20:51-60. 

Larsen, S., Pace, G. and and Ormerod, S. (2010). Experimental Effects of Sediment Deposition on the 

Structure and Funciton of Macroinvertebrate Assemblages in Temperate Streams. 

Larsen, S., Vaughan, I. P. and Ormerod, S. J. (2009). Scale-dependent effects of fine sediments on temperate 

headwater invertebrates. Freshwater Biology 54:203-219. 

Sinnadurai, P., Jones, T.H., and Ormerod, S. J. (2016). Squeezed out:  the consequences of riparian zone 

modification for specialist invertebrates.  Biodiversity and Conservation 25:3075. 

Thomas, S. M., Griffiths, S. W. and Ormerod, S. J. (2015).  Beyond cool:  adapting upland streams for 

climate change using riparian woodlands.   Global Change Biology 22(1):310-324. 

 

  

Page 152

file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Swansea/C%20Milree_747717_MSc_Dissertation_carbon%202014.pdf
file://///eos/data-a/Discover/Subjects/Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Swansea/C%20Milree_747717_MSc_Dissertation_carbon%202014.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Swansea/Deborah%20Land%20Final%20Dissertation%20sent%20February%204%202014.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Swansea/Deborah%20Land%20Final%20Dissertation%20sent%20February%204%202014.pdf
../../../Research/Completed%20research%20reports%20&%20theses/Swansea/DonnaCarless_PeatCarbonThesis_2015.pdf


 

7 
 

Appendix 2 

A brief profile of the Park’s Peatlands, rivers and wetlands 

The Brecon Beacons National Park is a cool, wetland and predominantly upland landscape.  The Park’s 

drainage systems lie within the Severn and Western Wales River Basin Districts5, within which the Wye, 

Usk, Taf and Tawe river catchments and reservoirs exert the biggest influences on the Park’s hydrology, 

water available for abstraction and power, and historic settlement patterns.  Generally, the Park drains 

southwards, being the source of at least 25 rivers of strategic and cultural importance to Wales.  The 

Park’s climate is affected by an oceanic, west to east rain shadow, with western areas tending to be 

warmer and wetter on average than the east.  Drainage, soils and vegetation are influenced by the Park’s 

geology, which is predominantly of free-draining circum-neutral Old Red Sandstone, overlain by bands of 

base-rich Carboniferous Limestone and Twrch Sandstone further south, where hydrological processes 

produce the iconic limestone caves and the gorge landscape of Waterfall Country. 

Over millennia, the Old Red Sandstone geomorphology, glaciation and weathering have produced the 

iconic, incised, ‘flat-topped’ and rolling uplands, where high rainfall and cool temperatures have favoured 

the emergence of classic upland vegetation and formation of peat, in particular expansive peat bogs and 

raised bogs.  These are naturally rich stores of historic atmospheric carbon, natural water reservoirs and 

filters, host rare, endemic and vulnerable plants, invertebrates and bird life, provide rough grazing for 

livestock, rich experiences for visitors and, through the streams that flow from them, opportunities for 

small-scale ‘high-head’ hydroelectricity generation; which are all now recognised as public benefits. 

Over the past 5,000 years the Park’s area lost about 90% of its tree cover, on valley sides (loss of coedcae 

/ ffridd), floodplains (floodplain woodland, wet woodland and wood pasture) and river corridors (riparian 

woodland).  This continues to influence the Park’s hydrology and speed of discharge through its short, 

flashy piedmont rivers, and the rapidity with which pollutants and eroded soil reach streams and rivers.  

Whilst human history charts a settlement pattern and cultural and sustainable relationship with water in 

the Park, during the 20th century our relationship changed to an exploitative one.  This was manifest 

through a combination of clearing and draining the land to increase its productivity, water abstraction and 

the construction of reservoirs in response to South Wales’ industrial expansion driving population growth 

and the demand for clean drinking water.  Pressures since have increased further with population growth 

within the National Park, agricultural intensification, afforestation and the impacts of global warming.  Due 

to the latter, the Park’s annual average temperature has increased by between 0.3oC and 0.5oC during the 

past 40 years, summer rainfall has declined slightly whilst it has increased during spring, autumn and winter, 

with Wales experiencing a 13% increase in annual rainfall during this period. 

Biodiversity, the ecological condition and status of the Park’s peatlands, rivers and wetlands have been 

affected adversely by a combination of atmospheric and land-based pollution, acid rain deposition, drainage, 

afforestation, INNS, soil erosion, reservoir construction, land reclamation, water abstraction and increasing 

levels of water consumption, uncontrolled moorland burning and arson-related wildfires, livestock grazing 

pressure, built development, other forms of human disturbance including visitor pressure and a failure to 

recognise and nurture the relationship between thriving biodiversity and thriving peatlands, rivers and 

wetlands.  The Park’s peatlands in particular – upland blanket bogs (where underlying peat is at least 40 cm 

deep), lowland raised bogs, valley mires and fens – are mainly in an unfavourable ecological condition as a 

consequence of a range of historic pressures including overgrazing, repeated damage by fire, atmospheric 

pollution and ‘fertilisation’ by pollutants, trampling (livestock and human pressures), and erosion (livestock 

and human pressures including illegal off-road vehicle use, fire and pollution).  Most of the blanket bogs 

include significant expanses of grass-dominated vegetation, especially purple moorgrass, which is neither 

representative of healthy blanket bog nor the desired vegetation for ecology, for livestock or for resilience 

to arson and wildfires.  So areas that appear to be extensive upland rough grasslands are in fact degraded 

                                                           
5 Water Framework Directive http://bit.do/fgXkh and http://bit.do/fgXkr.  

Page 153

http://bit.do/fgXkh
http://bit.do/fgXkr


 

8 
 

blanket bog and degraded wet heath.  The BBNP is also characterised by the highest density and extent of 

heavily eroded, broken (peat haggs) and gullied deep peat, with some areas possessing signs of historic 

drainage (moorland ‘grips’).  In terms of greenhouse gas emissions, these heavily eroded and draining 

peatlands are the most urgent areas to restore.  The estimated15, 922 hectares of peatlands in the Park 

(which requires verification in the field) fall into three main geographic blocks in the west, centre and east 

of the Park.  Together, restoring these would provide a range of potential GHG benefits from 2,656 to 

486,648 tonnes CO2 eq ha-1 yr-1 saved (depending on the accuracy of peatland extent and vulnerability) an 

this needs to be verified and refined by further field work. 

This has all contributed to a reduction in the public benefits provided and a decline in nature.  This has 

rendered the Park’s landscape and its ecosystems more vulnerable to the adverse effects of global warming 

because the latter has such strong impacts on rainfall, temperatures and wetland ecosystems, which are the 

most threatened globally. 

Water supplies from the National Park serve a South Wales population of about 2.2 million people in 

south Powys, north Monmouthshire, Glamorgan, Cardiff, Swansea, Llanelli and eastern Carmarthenshire.  

The size of water supply infrastructure has not changed in 50 years but water consumption in South Wales 

has and continues to increase; and the Brecon Beacons National Park provides 50% of the drinking water 

abstracted on a daily basis by Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water; a Mega Catchment for South Wales.  This 

demand is unsustainable in the medium term.  Adverse consequences for the Park’s peatlands, rivers and 

wetlands affect the health, well-being and livelihoods of everyone living within and downstream of the 

National Park.  The landowners and land managers responsible for the Park’s peatlands, rivers and 

wetlands therefore have a nationally important role to play in peatland and wetland restoration and 

enhancement. 

Page 154


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Virtual Meetings and Urgent Decisions
	Final Standing Order 30 Remote Meetings

	8 Interim Member Appointments
	Gaps in Committee Membership 2019-20

	9 Corporate Plan 2020/21
	Corporate Plan 2020/21 Draft

	10 Annual Governance Statement 2019-20
	Enc. 1 Draft Annual Governance Statement 2019-20

	11 Recruitment Policy
	Enc. 1 for Recruitment Policy

	12 Travel and Subsistence Policy
	2.1 Staff Expenses rates Draft Jan 20201

	13 BBNPA Position Statement on Peatland River and Wetland Restoration
	A Statement on Peatland River and Wetland Restoration V3


